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EBRD commitments 2003-07* Gross annual disbursements 2003-07
Lh ar Cnooon

! Commitments signify EBRD
tinancing commitied under
signad agregments.

EBRD commitments by stage of transition in 2007

% change since 2006 1 Croatta. Czech Republic, Estoma, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania,

d dl 29 Poland, Slovak Republic, Slovenia.

- Advance B Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
i i 2 + Bulgaria. FYR Macedonia. Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic,

n Early intermediate 16 Moldova, Mongolia, Montenegre, Romania, Serbia, Tajikistan,

W Russia +23 Turkmenistan, Ukraine, Uzbekistan.
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Annual commitments 2003-07

Cumulative

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003  1991-2007

Number of projects? 353 am 276 265 222 2,596
consisting of:

- standalone projects 187 167 156 141 129 1,575

- investments under frameworks 166 134 120 124 93 1,021

EBRD commitments (€ million)? 5,583 4,936 4,277 4,133 37 36,938

Resources mobilised (€ million)? 8,617 7.845 5,846 8,835 5,456 80,506

Total project value (€ miltion)? 13,809 12,014 9,784 12,968 8,946 116,919

An operation that is not linked to a framework and involves only one client is referred to as a standalone project. Operations extended to a number of ¢clients {for example, credil lines to banks)
have a framewark, which represents the overall amount approved by the Board. Investments under frameworks represent the commitment te individual clients.

The calculation of "Resources mebilised” and “Total project value™ has been refined to exclude amounts relating to facilities whera the original commitment was made in a previous year to ensure
the finance is countad only once; “EBRD commitments™ includa incremental EBRD finance on existing operations.

Financial results 2003-07

{€ million) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Operating income 1,934 2,667 1,544 659 538
Expenses, depreciation and amortisation {251) (225) {219) (190) {198)
Operating profit before provisions 1,683 2,442 1,325 469 340
Provisions for impairment of lcan investments 201 {53} 197 (76) (7)
Net profit for the year ' 1,884 2.389 1.522 303 333
"Reserves and retained earnings 8,676 6,974 4,684 1,718 952
Provisions for impairment of [oan investments (cumulative) 124 341 323 508 465
Total reserves and provisions 8,800 7.315 5,007 2,226 1,417
2 L.
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% change since 2006
.. Central Asia ‘. +115
O Central Europe and thelBaItic states

B Western CIS and the Caucasus

B Russia

B South-eastern Europe

% change since 2006 Corporate seclor comprises agribusiness. manufactunng,
C 1 ' 28 property and oursm and Lelecommunications and new media.
.7 Corpor. f + —
0 DO ate SECIO . Intrastructure comprises municipal infrasiructure and transport.
O Infrastructuse 2 +11 Energy comanises natural resources and the power secior.

[ ] Energy 3 +53 Financial sector includes investments in micro. ;ma!l and
medium:sized enterprises via financial intermediaries.

M Financial sector * -4

EBRD commitme:nts by sector 2006-07
€ million (% char ge)

Financial institutic ns Energy ‘
Bank equity Bank lending Equity funds Non-bank financial Small business Natural resources Power and energy
{-63%) {+0.6%} {+100%) institutions finance {+1,701%) {+3%)

(-8%) (-25%)

1.078.8 10847

A\

400.0 1336 3888 4022
3215 — 3072 274.3 '
19%9.8 206.0 2125
120.2 I 1.8 '
06 Sl o 06 06 | 06 | I 0s I ‘ 06 | IR

Corporate sector Infrastructure

Agribusiness Manufacturing Property Telecommunlcations Municipal Transport

(+21%) (+18%} and tourism and new medla infrastructure (+17%}

{(+113%) (-13%) {+3%)
B41.9
T14.7
617.9
517.0 529.2
426.2 [ 426.6
3071 31nT
200.3
08 o7 06 07 06 a6 06
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Central Europe

and the Baltic states

South-eastern Europe

o € million ] B € million
Croatia 1526V Abania 451V
Czech Republic 398 ¥ Bosnia and

Estonia 3 11.0 A Herzegovina ~ 156.4 A
Hungary 387V Bugara 2030 A
Latvia ~18.1 A FYR Macedonia 262V
Lithuania R 37.5 A Montenegro 175 A
Poland ~  1605Y Romana 13364 A
Slovak Republic 743 A Serbia L 2156 ¥
Slovenia 130 A

CzeclgEanREl G

Slovak Republic
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Western CIS and the Caucasus

€ million

Armenia 778 A
Azerbaijan . 1220 ¥
Belarus 458 A
Georgia 1920 A
Moldova 356 4
Ukraine 646.8 ¥

Tl nega-




Russia Central Asia

_ € billion € million

Russia L 2.3 A HKazakhstan 531.6 A&
Kyrgyz Republic 117 ¥
Mongolia 33.6 A
Tajikistan 26.2 A
Turkmenistan 26 A
Uzbekistan 14.7 A

Number of projects

353

EBRD commitments

£€5,583
million

Resources mobilised

€8,617
million

Total project value

€13,809
million

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
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The EBRD has a great, and much appreciated, future
as a strong, efficient and successful institution.

The year 2007 is in many ways a metaphor for the EBRD
as an institution. This was a year of excellence of projects,
innovative approaches and strong results — and a year that
finished by demonstrating all too graphically why the Bank
is needed.

In keeping with the Bank’s five-year strategy for use of
resources, investment in central Europe was limited and
there was increased emphasis on south-eastern Europe,
the Caucasus, Central Asia, and on Russia where some
40 per cent of the annual business volume was invested,
particularly in the Russian regions.

The Czech Republic became the first to graduate as

a country of operations of the EBRD. That ended its
relationship as an investee country, but the Czech
Repubiic remains firmly committed to a future with the
Bank as both a donor and an investor, as Czech companies
seek to invest alongside the Bank in countries further
east. Seven cther central European countries will follow
suit over the next few years, releasing resources for the
EBRD to devote to the 21 countries where access to
capital markets remains difficult and the Bank's
experience brings much value.

In 2007, the notable added value was in investments that
reflected a shift back towards manufacturing and support
for the real economy. There were more investments in the
form of equity, where the Bank accepts proportionately
higher risks but contributes more as a shareholder.

There was growing activity through the array of
programmes for smaller businesses, especially in the
Western Balkans and the poorer countries across the
region. In partnership with the European Investment
Bank, we put new impetus into addressing the massive
infrastructure needs of the region. And new forms of
investment in environmenta! upgrades and industrial
health and safety will add to the Bank’s already strong
reputation in supporting sustainable development,

Higher volume, profits, and more projects that fostered
more transition than ever before in the history of the EBRD
belie the less measurable value of the Bank. Much of

the Bank's contribution lies in its deep knowledge of the
region where we invest, of the people and the companies,
of the policies and the legal structures, the investment
environment and the culture. My colieagues and | devote

a great deal of energy to talking to political and business
leaders about everything from banking supervision to
municipal planning.

That kind of dialogue has spurred an accelerating uptake
of investments in energy efficiency, which only a few years
ago was a virtually neglected opportunity for savings as
well as contribution to energy security and limiting climate
change. Energy efficiency investments are now thriving,
as more and more companies understand the enormous
bottom-line benefits of saving energy and protecting

the environment.
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Jean Lemierre

President
Through long ¢ nd careful discussions with counterparts The EBRD remained committed to its clients and its
in Russia, Ukriine, Romania and other countries, the Bank  countries through those difficult years and has gone on to
has helped to develop capital markets by establishing deliver exponential increases in transition impact, volume
transparent benchmarks for tending and opening longer- and profits ever since. As 2007 closed, new trouble was
term financing for the real economy. looming in the global financial system. This will no doubt

present new challenges for the region in 2008, and serve
Much of my dialogue with leaders reflects what the as an unsettling reminder of just how much the EBRD is
EBRD has learned by conducting surveys of the people needed. Once again, the expert and dedicated staff of the
of the region 1o try to understand their perceptions of Bank will have to find new ways to adapt to new needs.
how transition has heiped them or failed them. Aspirations
and frustrations of average people can help the EBRD | have no doubt they will do it. Supported by a Board
to understand the environment where we work, and help with deep understanding of the importance of the Bank,
policy-makers and entrepreneurs to plan their future. the EBRD has a great, and much appreciated, future as

Across the region, people share the wish for better health  to investing in the future of the people from central
and education, less corruption and greater prosperity. Europe to central Asia,

Transition for most countries means develeping a middle

class. it means economies well-endowd with a sound | leave the EBRD with confidence and heartfelt best
and increasingly sophisticated banking system, diversified wishes for the EBRD, its staff and its future leadership.
industries that draw on the traditional engineering and And with great affection and hopes for a region that
scientific stregth of the region, and products and is defining and achieving transition for the world.
services that serve consumers well.

For 17 years, the EBRD has helped countries to realise
those aspirations. For the past eight years, | have had
the honour of leading the Bank as it emerged from the
setbacks of the 1998 financial crisis and delivered
support and projects to a region that was devastated
by financial t. rmoii just as fledgling mzrket economies
and democracies were taking hold.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 7
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OVERVIEW

EBRD investments rose in 2007 and, in line with the Bank’s
strategy of moving operations further south and east, activities
were focused on countries at the early and intermediate stages
of transition. A new Environmental Policy is being proposed to
reflect the Bank’s increased focus on the social aspects of its
projects, particularly health and safety. Sustainable development
across all EBRD projects continues to be fundamental.
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SInce the transition process began. 1Tnis 1S bDeing driven by strong
domestic consumption as people become more prosperous on
the back of falling unemployment and poverty levels. Foreign
direct investment also reached its highest tevel since transition
began at €52 billion, compared with €34 billion in 2006. Oil and
gas prices remained high and so export growth in the resource-
rich countries remained strong.

At the same time, economies in the transition region showed
signs of overheating by way of rising inflation and external
imbalances. Inflationary pressures increased significantly
towards the end of 2007 under the influence of rising food and
energy prices, and tighter budgetary centrols have so far been
unable to ease these pressures. In addition, the global financial
turmoil that began in August 2007 may lead to higher funding
costs, credit constraints and greater risk aversion on the side
of international investors and could affect financial sectors
throughout the transition region. By the end of 2007, the
impact on the region had been limited, although some banks
were feeling the effects of tighter liquidity positions, However,
prospects for growth in 2008 have dimmed somewhat relative
to the previous year as a result of the deterioration in the
global economic environment.

Progress in economic reform in 2007 was generally steady,
albeit slower than at the beginning of the decade as some
countries show signs of reform fatigue. South-eastern Europe
made the most headway, although there was limited progress
elsewhere. A more detailed assessment of economic reform
can be found on page 22.

Coupled with steady reform was an increase in EBRD
commitments. In 2007 the Bank invested €5.6 billion in
projects in the countries in which it operates — from central
Europe to central Asia. This is the Bank’s highest level of
investment and is a €0.7 billion increase on 2006, EBRD
financing was spread across 353 projects, a significant rise
on the 301 that were signed in 2006. Over half of these were
projects in the “very small” range of €5 million or less, which
is a 32 per cent increase on 2006. This reflects the Bank's
increasing focus on countries further south and east where
transition towards a market economy is less advanced and
projects tend to be smaller.

The share of new projects rated as “Good” or “Excellent”
in terms of their potential impact on the transition process
totalled almost 90 per cent. For every euro invested by
the EBRD, a further 1.7 were raised from other sources

to co-finance the Bank's projects.

up by 68 per cent from €1 billion in 2006 to €1.7 billion in 2007.
Reflecting a higher average size of individual investment, the
equity share of the Bank's annual business volume increased
from 20 per cent in 2006 to 30 per cent in 2007. By taking
equity in a company, the EBRD can use its position on the board
of directors to encourage improvements in corporate governance
and sound business standards.

A significant contribution to the 2007 business volume was from
the Trade Facifitation Programme, which promotes foreign trade
between the countries in which the Bank operates {see page 33).
Trade finance issued in 2007 totalled €777 million, a 10 per cent
increase on the 2006 amount of €707 million.

The private sector share of annual business volume increased
to 86 per cent in 2007 from 80 per cent in 2006. EBRD financing
was spread across various sectors. Most of it was directed
towards the financial sector (38 per cent) to support institutions
within and outside the banking sector, as well as local
enterprises, including small businesses. The corporate sector
attracted 34 per cent of commitments to support projects

in agribusiness, manufacturing, property and tourism, and
telecoms and new media. The remainder of EBRD financing
went to infrastructure (17 per cent) and the energy sector

(11 per cent). Driven by active portfolio management and the
composition of the annual business volume, disbursements

of funding to reach EBRD clients totalled €4.1 billion in 2007,
an increase of 9 per cent on the 2006 level of €3.8 billion.
Dishursements took place across all the countries in which

the Bank invests,

Realised profit after provisions fell slightly to €1.1 billion in
2007 from the €1.6 billion reported in 2006. Realised equity
gains were €0.6 billion, compared with €1.3 billion in 2008,
Net profit, including unrealised equity gains, dropped to

€1.9 billion from €2.4 billion in 2006 as equity markets in
the Bank's region soften, following the trend of the United
States and western Europe.

In terms of geographical spread, most of the EBRD's financing
went to the early and intermediate transition countries. investment
in south-eastern Europe, the Caucasus, Central Asia and
countries on the western fringe of the former Soviet Union
reached €2.7 billion in 2007, which represents 49 per cent

of the Bank’s annual business volume. The Bank focused
particularly on the countries in Central Asia, doubling its
commitments there in 2007 to €0.6 billion. In the advanced
transition countries of central Europe, EBRD commitments

fell to €0.5 billion from €0.7 billion in 2006,

In 2007, the Bank invested €5.6 billion
in projects in the countries in which

it operates, from central Europe to

central Asia.
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Case study
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Veolia Voda has been very successful in
nurturing local talent and it has arcund
10,000 employees in Hungary, Poland,
the Slovak Republic, with the bulk of its
workforce (6,000) in the Czech Republic.
With the exception of two French citizens,
all these employees are {ocal. Veolia Voda
has been able to develop and groom local
expertise to become group leaders in
areas of waste-water treatment such as

sludge valorisation” As well as supporting

hetter quality water and waste-water
services, Veolia brings, of caurse,

a commitment to transparency and
good corporate governance.

The development of a sustainable
infrastructure is crucial for the successful
transformation of econemies in the EBRD
region. Improving the supply of water

and reducing the danger of pollution

and sickness by raising the quality of
waste-water treatment makes a real
difference to the quality of people’s lives.

Also key to the way Veolia works is the
conservation and protection of the quality
of water as a natural resource. Water is
conserved by addressing water leakages

and other techniques that aim to minimise

the stress on the water intake. More
effective waste-water treatment protects
groundwater and surrounding bodies

of water from pollution,

Antoine Frérot, Chief Executive Officer
of Veolia Water said: “This partnership
underlines Veolia’'s commitment to
working in close cooperation with
authorities in central and eastern Europe,
and our develepment in this region will
he further enhanced through the EBRD's
support. Qur long-standing expertise

will contribute not only to providing
communities with efficient water and
waste-water services. but also to the
protection of natural water resources
which is of major importance to

this region’

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development



Case study
Russia's automotive industry moves anead

Kaluga was not always booming. As
recently as the 1990s the town was
struggling as the region’s heavy industry
failed to adjust to the market economy.
Thousands of residents moved the

160 kilometres to Moscow, but now
they are likely to return.

One of the reasons is Kaluga's new
Volkswagen factory. The foundation
stone was laid in October 2006 and the
first cars rolled off the assembly line in
November 2007. The factory is mostly
financed by an EBRD initiative that,

with 11 other banks, raised the rouble
equivalent of €750 million, the Bank's
biggest rouble investment in the
automotive sector tg date.

it is Kaluga where Volkswagen's foray
into the Russian auto market is to begin
and where the company will produce

up to 150,000 cars a year by 2009.

“Volkswagen is a magnet,” says Deputy
Mayor Vadim Vitkov. “Once they're here,
rmany more will come.” That was the
message he repeatedly drove home
to anyone wary of the investment.

Other carmakers, such as PSA-Group,
Volvo and Renault Truck. are also
preparing operations in Kaluga. During
the first phase of production at Kaluga,
Volkswagen cars will be assembled on

site, thereby avoiding the heavy duties
on importing completed vehicles; starting
in 2009. cars will also be manufactured
at the factory.

Volkswagen was established in 1937
and has built up an international
reputation for reliability and eco-
friendliness. It now has 47 production
plants in 12 countries worldwide, and

is the largest car manufacturer in Europe.
In 2006 the company sold 5.7 million
cars worldwide, and it is working hard

to become Russia's car of choice. The
first of Volkswagen's Skoda Octavias and
VW Passats are already rolling out of the
factory. Soon, the Jetta, the Skoda Fabia
and a new model designed for future
markets will enter production.

The new factory is creating massive job
opportunities in all sectors around Kaluga,
hut the language barrier is a challenge.

“We don’t have enough people who speak

English and German,” says Vitkov. So
the city is planning to build an education
centre. Furthermore, city leaders are
concerned that the area’s gastronomy
isn’t up to European standards so the
local government is encouraging new
restaurants to open that serve European
cuising. Kaluga has also started a
residential building programme to

tackle the housing shortage.

“We have to became a bigger player in this

huge market,” remarks Dietmar Korzekwa,
Volkswagen Group's representative for
Russia. He foresees dramatic growth

in the Russian automobile market in
coming years. “The population is under-
motarised,” he observes. While Germany
has 500 cars for every 1,000 people,
Russia has only 190. In Russia today
there are 2.33 million vehicles sold
annually. By 2010. that number will

be 3 million. “"Conservatively speaking,”
says Korzekwa,

Volkswagen sees greatest growth for its
vehicles in the €7,000 to €18,000 price
range, particularly with vehicles for the
domestic market that will compete directly
with the Lada, Russia's best-known
passenger car brand, Korzekwa explains.

The Volkswagen project represents the
third EBRD investment in a greenfield car
production plant in Russia over the past
six years. The two earlier projects were
GM-AvtoVaz in Togliatti and Toyota in

St Petersburg.



Bank has bolsterzd the strong relationship between these three
organisations. TFe MoU facilitates the joint financing of projects
in Russia, eastern Europe, the southern Caucasus and Central
Asia and has led to the development of projects such as the
upgrading of Mol Jovan roads (see page 51) and a pipeline

of projects cover ng energy, transport and environmental
infrastructure. In addition, to further reinforce their cooperation
in the energy sector, the EBRD and European Commission
signed another Mol in 2007, focusing on energy security,
energy efficiency and nuclear decommissioning.

Investments in Fussia increased In 2007 to reach €2.3 billion.
This covers 83 p-ojects and amounts to 42 per cent of the
Bank's annual commitments (compared with 38 per cent in
2008). The new nvestments hring the Bank's total portfolio

in Russia to €5.7 billion.

The Bank focused on providing finance outside the major cities,
devoting more than 90 per cent of its new business to the
Russian regions a commitment underlined by the Bank's

2007 Annual Meeting being held in Kazan. To promote economic
diversity, activities were spread across the corporate sector

(33 per cent), intrastructure and energy (28 per cent), financial
institutions (19 per cent), micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises {10 per cent} and the Trade Facilitation Programme
{10 per cent}.

The share of equity investments in Russia reached 37 per cent.
Important equity investments included Transcontainer, a
subsidiary of the Russian railways, as part of the privatisation

of the rail sector, and TGK-9, a regional electrical power producer
{see page 43). The Bank also made its largest rouble loan in

the automotive sector to Volkswagen in Kaluga, together with
international bariks.

As part of the EBRD's strategy to promote energy efficiency
across all sectors, a landmark project was €150 million, long-
term energy efficiency loan to Severstal, a steet producer in the
north-west of Russia (see page 44). A further €150 million was
syndicated to private banks. It is the largest energy efficiency
project undertat en in Russia and will help the country’s leading
steelmaker to reduce its annual primary energy consumption
by 5-10 per cent.

signed 38 projects. Disbursements were high, exceeding

€330 million, and the high business volume was achieved
through a large number of investments in very small projects
(those of €5 million and less), an increase in equity investments
and a greater involvement with local enterprises.

After one year of operations, the multi-donor Western Balkans
Fund is well-established as a significant instrument for funding
projects in the Western Balkans {see page 61}. Donor funding
is an integral part of EBRD investment as it brings additional
finance, prepares the way for EBRD projects and allows clients
to benefit from expert advice. Pledges have reached more than
€20 million, of which about €4.5 million has been approved
for more than 25 projects in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
FYR Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia {including Kosovo).
Funding is focused on infrastructure development, access

to finance for small businesses, institutional reform

and cross-border cooperation.

Crucial support to the EBRD initiatives in the Western Balkans
comes from the Eurgpean Union through the European Agency
for Reconstruction (EAR). This support has been provided mainly
in the form of TC funds.

Donor-funded activities also include the Italian-sponsored
Western Balkans Local Enterprise Facility, which provides equity,
risk-sharing and financing to local enterprises. Through this
Facility the EBRD signed seven projects in 2007, bringing the
total number signed to 10. The Facility now has €865 million

for equity investments in the region, €25 million of which has
already been invested.

Significant projects in the region in 2007 included the Belgrade
Highway and Bypass project, supported by EBRD and donor
funding to improve the traffic flow in the Serbian capital, and a
€15 million loan to the Montenegrin national rail infrastructure
company to improve the safety and efficiency of the country’s
rail system.

The EBRD held its 2007
Annual Meeting In Kazan,
Russia, underlining its
commitment to developing
the Russlan regions.

Investments in rallway
infrastructure and roliing
stock were made across
the region in 2007.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 13




some of the poorest countries where it operates. As a result
of the initiative, in 2007 the Bank more than quintupled the
number of projects signed annually in the ETCs, compared
to levels achieved before the launch of the initiative in 2004,
As part of the initiative the Bank was also able to kick-start
its activities in its newest country of operations, Mangolia,
in 2007, signing six new projects. The ETCs include Armenia,
Azerbaijan, Georgia, the Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Mongolia
(since November 2006), Tajikistan and Uzbekistan.

The EBRD signed 105 projects in the ETCs in 2007. This
compares with 80 (excluding oil and gas deals) in 2006, 61

in 2005, 32 in 2004 and 18 in 2003 (before the launch of the
initiative}. The value of new signings also rose substantially in
2007: €416 million in 2007 compared to €290 million in 20086,
€250 million in 2005, €92 million in 2004 and €53 million

in 2003. In addition, the Bank has increasingly supported
import and export trade with these countries through its Trade
Facilitation Programme, achieving end-of-year commitments

in 2007 of another €93 million.

To be successful, the ETC Initiative depends on three elements:
the Bank’s readiness to take on a higher level of risk in ETC
projects while respecting sound banking principles; support
from the donor community; and dedicating more resources

to the initiative through staff at Headquarters and in the Bank's
local offices. For example, in 2007 the EBRD completed the
transformation of the Thilisi resident office into a regional hub
for activities in the Caucasus and Moldova, decentralising
activities and allowing the Bank to place more sector
specialists in the field.

Under the initiative, the EBRD makes use of a full range of
products to support local businesses. This includes a Direct
Investment Facility to fund equity investments in medium-sized
enterprises, a Direct Lending Facility and the Medium-sized Co-
financing Facility with local banks, which provides loans directly
to medium-sized enterprises. In 2007 these products accounted
for a third of all signed operations in the ETCs, of which half were
in the agribusiness sector. Substantial effort has also gone into
expanding work with financial institutions, including lending to
micro businesses.

As part of this effort, the new €24 million Tajik Agricultural
Finance Facility, the first of its kind in the EBRD region, is a
good example of how the ETC Initiative is extending the Bank's
reach by providing innovative forms of financing and showing
its readiness to take on risk. This facility aims to support the
restructuring and diversification of the Tajik agricultural sector,
including the cotton sector, by funding loans to small, family
and individual private farms, reaching borrowers who would not
normally have access to finance. There was also considerable
activity in the energy, municipal and transport sectors in 2007.

new initiative to support discussions between local enterprises
and national authorities through investment councils in the ETCs.

An increase in EBRD signings in 2007 was accompanied by
substantial donor-funded commitments, which totalled around
€24.9 million. About 51 per cent of this has been provided
through the ETC Multi-Donor Fund launched in November 2004,
which offers grant financing in support of EBRD projects. In
addition, in 2007 the first grant co-financing funded under

a Dutch contribution to the ETC Fund was signed for a Tajik
road maintenance project.

At its three Assemblies in 2007 the ETC Fund approved a

wide variety of grant-funded projects aimed at encouraging

the development of the private sector across the ETCs. These
included support for microfinance programmes, the development
of small municipal projects and the financing of environmental
initiatives. It also approved funding for energy efficiency and
renewable energy projects. By the end of 2007, the Fund had
approved funding for almost 114 grant-funded projects totalling
around €39.3 million.

The graduation of the Czech Republic from new operations was
@ notable development in 2007 that recognised the country’s
progress in achieving transition to a full market economy and
democracy. This means that, as of the end of 2007, the Bank no
longer makes investments in the Czech Republic, which becomes
the first of eight new EU members to graduate, consistent with
the strategic direction of the Bank. The Bank will continue to
monitor its portfolio of projects in the Czech Republic and work
closely with Czech enterprises investing in countries further east.
In view of the reduction in business volume in central Europe,
the EBRD has consolidated its offices in the Baltic States.
Business from the Riga and Tallinn offices has been

transferred to the hub office in Vilnius.

Elsewhere, the EBRD opened new offices. In June 2007 the
EBRD established its presence in Montenegro by opening an
office in Podgorica. Montenegro became an independent country
on 3 June 2006 and was subsequently accepted as a couritry of
operations and a shareholder of the Bank. Looking to 2008 the
EBRD plans to open two offices in Russia: in Krasnoyarsk and
Rostov-on-Don. This will help the Bank to increase its investment
outside the major cities in Russia.

To increase the resources available to clients, the EBRD often
turns to the private sector, mostly commercial banks, to support
its own financing. The opportunities for the EBRD to syndicate
leans to these banks continued to be plentiful in 2007. In the
first half of the year this was driven mainly by high liquidity in

the bank lending market. However, the second half of the year
brought a much tougher environment as market liquidity tightened
dramatically in the wake of the US sub-prime mortgage crisis.

The EBRD established its presence
in Montenegro by opening an office

in Podgorica.
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farms. The EBRD is providing €24 million
in new loans to Tajik banks, which will

be used to support agriculture with
wide-reaching training schemes and
small loans for farming basics like seeds
and fertilisers. The broad aims are to
hoost crop diversification and ecologically
friendly farming and to limit the use

of child {abour.

The cotton harvest, which supports

75 per cent of the Tajik population, that
is 7.1 million people, has fallen from

1 million tonnes a year before the break-
up of the Soviet Union to only 450,000
tonnes in 2006. The EBRD scheme will
provide alternative access to finance for
farmers previously tied to cotton, therehy

supporting the “freedom to farm” concept.

Although the economy is highly dependent
on cotton and demand for other crops is
mostly limited to local consumption, there
is, for exampie, a large new tomato paste
plant in central Tajikistan that needs at
least 33,000 tonnes of tomatoes a year.
In addition, expori opportunities for dried
chions have inspired many farmers to
grow onions as part of their crop rotation.

Many of the farmers receiving loans under
the facility will never have received a loan
before and many of them, like Sanavbar,
will be women. These will be the first
syndicated loans in Tajikistan. Murodali
Alimardon, Governor of the Naticnal

Bank of Tajikistan, said “this is a very
significant moment for Tajikistan, because
not only are these the first syndicated
loans in the country but the technical
assistance provided alongside this
finance will help our commercial banks to
provide a real alternative to Tajik farmers
and will support our government’s new
freedom to farm policy”

Agroinvestbank, TSOB and Bank Eskhata,
the three partners under the new facility,
have already worked closely with the
EBRD under the Tajik Micro and Small
Enterprise Finance Framework launched
in late 2003, and to date have dispersed
over €80 million in small loans.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development



Case study

rocusing on health and safety

Health and safety has always been a
feature of the EBRD's environmental policy,
and because of the number and severity of
accidents that still blight industry in many
of the countries where the EBRD is active,
the issue centinues to have high priority.

In mining in particular, accident and
fatality rates remain unacceptably high.

The crucial need for EBRD investment

in this area was maost recently highlighted
by the tragedy at ArcelorMittal's
Abaiskaya mine in Kazakhstan in January
2008, Thirty miners were killed when an
explosion struck the mine, which is one
of several attached to the company’s
Temirtau steel plant. It is the third

such accident at the mine complex

in four years.

In July 2007 the EBRD and ArcelorMittal
signed a €68 million loan aimed at
improving health and safety practices

in the numerous coal mines it operates
around the city of Karaganda, which
supply the company's steel plant in

18 Overview

nearhby Temirtau. The plant was among
the former Soviet Union's largest steel
mills and is now the central Asian
country’s only steel producer.

The EBRD funds are part of a

€340 million spending programme

to support the company's plans to
madernise its mines and bring them

in line with internationa! best practice

in terms of health and safety standards.
ArcelorMittal Temirtau will madernise gas
monitoring and management systems,
upgrade electrical and degassing and
ventilation equipment, and enhance

the prevention of coal face collapses.
Staff training will be another key
feature of the project.

The first phase of the EBRD investment
programme is near completion and

has resulted, among other things, in
the replacement of electrical starters.
transformers and switches in two mines
to reduce the risk of sparks triggering
methane explosicns.

Lakshmi Mittal, the founder and chief
executive of ArcelorMittal said: “The
safety of our workers is our number one
priority and there has been significant
capital expenditure, a change in operating
practices and a change in management
to improve health and safety at our
mines in Kazakhstan”

The project with ArcelorMittal was the
first in a wider EBRD initiative to support
improvements to environmental, health
and safety practices in mines in the
Bank's countries of operations. The
Bank has also developed a technical
cooperation project to work with the
mining authorities in Kazakhstan on
safety, which is being supported by
the Japanese government, and will

be undertaken in 2008.



where the Bank operates are not uncommon, particularly in
mining. Kazakhs an, Russia and Ukraine have all suffered
serious accidents, which highlights the need for increased
investment in health and safety, and the EBRD is working hard
to improve the s andards in this area across all its projects
in all sectors. For example, in May 2007 the EBRD and the
Mongolian gover iment launched a training programme for
Mongolia's minirg industry, with a particular emphasis on
worker health and safety.

The EBRD continued to focus on addressing the social impacts
of projects in 2027, This included monitoring resettiement and
labour-related issues on the Baku-Thilisi-Ceyan pipeline, which

is partly-financec by the EBRD and transports oil produced in
the Caspian region to the Mediterranean. In Azerbaijan the Bank
worked with the 5tate Qil Company (SOCAR) to improve the living
conditions of internally displaced people who had been resettled
as a result of the EBRD-funded Shah Deniz project. In Serbia the
EBRD and the EI3 are funding projects to upgrade the Belgrade
highway and Gazzla bridge. The Bank has been working with the
EIB and the city of Belgrade to help resettle a community of over
1,000 Roma curiently living under the bridge to an alternative
site with much better conditions.

The EBRD contin ued to work closely with other international
bodies, such as “he Global Environment Facility (GEF), to tackle
global environme:ntal issues, such as water pollution, climate
change and biodiversity. The EBRD and GEF co-funded an
environmental credit facility in Slovenia that aims to reduce
pollution entering! the Danube River Basin. All of the €30 million
the Bank commi ted has been disbursed to the four local
participating bar ks for on-lending to local businesses and
small municipalities that invest in pollution-reduction projects.

A number of ways of tackling climate change have heen
formulated, one of which was submitted to the GEF Secretariat
as a project proposal. The Bank is also exploring other areas
in which to develop projects, either alone or in partnership
with other GEF agencies.

The Project Preparation Committee (PPC) identified and
channelled donor funding for environmental investment
projects, such as waste-water treatment, energy efficiency and
biodiversity. Funds from the European Union led to the signing
of a €14.6 million project in Armenia to improve waste-water
treatment around Lake Sevan, an important environmental
and cultural resource. In addition, project financing workshops
to help municipalities develop viable environmental projects
were delivered in Armenia, FYR Macedonia and Ukraine. At the
Environment for Europe Ministerial Conference in October 2007
the ministers endorsed the Bank's decision to incorporate the
PPC as a unit within the EBRD to identify environmentally-
oriented projects that the Bank could potentially finance.

Another donor-funded initiative hosted by the EBRD is the
Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership (NDEP), which
fosters stronger environmental cooperation in the Northern
Dimension Area, to the north-west of Russia in particular.

It brings together the expertise and resources of the
European Union, 11 donor governments, including Russia,
and international financial institutions such as the EBRD,
the EIB, the Nordic Investment Bank and the World Bank,

in order to implement its pipeline of projects.

At the end of 2007, funds pledged and contributed to the
NDEP Fund totalled €243 miilion, of which almost €150 million
is earmarked for nuclear safety projects (see page 65).

Over €90 million of the remaining funds are committed for
environmental investments, notably in St Petersburg and
Kaliningrad, that aim to reduce the direct discharges of
untreated waste water into the Baltic Sea.

The Bank takes the issue of health
and safety very seriously. In mining,

in particular, accident and fatality

rates reriain unacceptably high.
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Promoting (l‘zlemocratic, economic, legal, environmental and
social reforlm is an integral part of the EBRD’s activities.
Through palicy dialogue at all levels the Bank focuses on
encouraging democratic practices, improving the investment
climate, fighting corruption and ensuring the positive
environmerfltal and social impacts of all its projects.
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rostering transition to open market economies within a
democratic framework is at the heart of the EBRD's mandate
and is enshrined in Article 1 of the Agreement Establishing the
Bank. Most countries where the EBRD operates continue to be
fully committed to and applying the principles of democracy,
pluralism and market economics. The results of the EBRD/World
Bank Life in Transition Survey, carried out across the Bank's
countries of operations in September 2006, supports this
{see also page 23). People in the region overwhelmingly prefer
a democratic system of governance to all others and although
there has been a high degree of political volatility in much of
the region, people's belief in democracy remains.

For some countries, particularly those in south-eastern Europe,
the objective of further integration with the European Union
continues to serve as a driving force for democratic reform.

In the past year, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro and
Serbia have signed or initialled a Stabilisation and Association
Agreement with the European Union, which will anchor further
democratic and market reform. Other agreements promoting
democratic reform are being implemented under the EU's
European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), which covers Armenia,
Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Moldova and Ukraine. All of these
countries (with the exception of Belarus) have agreed ENP
Action Plans with democratic reform components. Reform
efforts in Russia are conducted through a parallel process,

the EU-Russia Strategic Partnership, and its supporting
Partnership and Cooperation Agreement.

Mare generally, the steady development of civil society and
progress in conducting free and fair elections has strengthened
political accountability in many countries across the transition
region, including Armenia, Georgia and Ukraine.

However, the persistent lack of progress in building a multi-party
democracy in a number of countries continued 1o cause concern
in 2007. The EBRD has expressed concern about the slow pace
of democratic and economic reform in its most recent strategies
for Belarus, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. Both Belarus and
Turkmenistan continue to operate under scenario-based
strategies that identify certain benchmarks for progress in
political and economic reform. The most recent strategy for
Uzbekistan also contains political and economic benchmarks.
The latest assessments by the Bank for these three countries
note little evidence of improvement in the authorities’
commitment to the principles of Article 1.

progress in the sought-after democratic reforms. In the case

of Turkmenistan, following the death of President Niyazov in
December 2006, the new leadership embarked on measures to
reverse some of the social and economic policies of the previous
regime and has undertaken steps towards ending the country’'s
international isolation. However, it is not clear how far-reaching
the initiated reforms are. Similarly, the Bank continues to have
concerns bout the continuing lack of progress in Uzbekistan
towards reaching the political and economic benchmarks set

out in the strategy.

Consequently, the EBRD will continue to exclude any funding

of public sector projects in these countries, focusing exclusively
on financing private sector projects, provided that it can be
demonstrated that the proposed investments are not effectively
controlled by the state or state entities and that government
officials will not personally benefit financially from such
investments. The EBRD does, however, aim to maintain a
dialogue with government and non-governmental organisations
in ali three countries on ways of improving the investment
climate for private entrepreneurs, with the hope of encouraging
stronger political and economic reform. If sufficient progress

in political and economic reform is achieved, the EBRD would
review a broader range of activities in Belarus, Turkmenistan
and Uzbekistan.

Economic reform

Each country’s commitment to economic reform is crucial

for the EBRD’s ability to advance the transition process and

promote private sector development. During 2007, the Bank’s

Office of the Chief Economist (OCE) continued to monitor |
progress in all of the countries where the EBRD operates. \

The pace of economic reform varied significantly across the
region during 2007. South-eastern Europe recorded the most
progress, with two countries — Bulgaria and Romania — joining
the European Union on 1 January 2007 and Croatia progressing
in its negotiations with the European Union on the acquis
communautaire, the body of European law that all members
must adopt. As previously noted, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
Montenegro and Serbia also progressed within the EU's
Stabhilisation and Association process.

The objective of further
integration with the EU

is a significant driving force
for democratic reform.

The EBRD/World Bank
Life in Transition Survey
showed that people are
committed to democracy
going torward.
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developments and external economic factors triggered a number
of reforms in the financial sector. However, more limited reform
was recorded in countries that benefited from high oil and gas
prices. This was also the case in central eastern Europe and

the Baltic states; where transition has gone furthest. A detailed
assessment of :ach country’s progress, across a wide range

of areas, was published in the Bank’s Transition Report 2007.

This year's repo-t also includes an analysis of the EBRD/World
Bank Life in Transition Survey. The analysis explores how
transition has a‘fected living standards and measures of

life satisfaction across and within countries, identifying the
groups that have benefited or suffered most from the process.
The report looks at people’s attitudes to democracy and the
market economy’ and how these attitudes have been shaped

by individual exf eriences in the labour market. It also examines
the state of public services and the potential for greater
involvement of t1e private sector.

The Bank’s anal/sis shows that, although people are now
generally committed to democracy and the market economy,
many are dissat sfied with life and believe that economic
conditions were better before transition began than now. There
is still some opr osition to reform and, therefore, policy-makers
throughout the rzgion face a major task not only in advancing
reforms to achieve the standards of market economies but
also in convincir g people of the benefits of transition.

Underlying all of the Bank’s work is a commitment to increasing
the impact of its projects on transition. This involves assessing,
prior to Board approval, the potential impact of these projects
and their risk of failure as well as monitoring progress in
achieving each froject’s objectives against a set of concrete
benchmarks once the project is under way. Lessons learned
during monitoring are taken into account when structuring future
projects. Out of 185 projects individually rated by OCE and
signed in 2007, 165 (89 per cent) were rated by the OCE

as having “Good” or “"Excellent” transition impact potential.

The nature of the Bank’s involvement can be enhanced when
there is client cammitment to reforms. In 2007 the Bank

took an active rcle in designing incentives for private sector
companies involved in municipal projects in Russia and helped
to resolve regulatory disputes involving public utilities that have
received EBRD financing in a number of countries, including
Bulgaria, Moldova, Romania and the Slovak Republic. The Bank
also worked on iimplementing the Sustainable Energy Initiative
in Kazakhstan, where the government intends to combine
ambitious reforir s with EBRD investment to tmprove energy
efficiency and develop renewable energy projects.
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the business environment in transition ¢ountries by enhancing
their legislative framework and legal institutions, The LTP has
traditionally been funded principally by donars but in 2007
certain LTP activities were integrated into the Bank's overall
budget, ensuring sustainable financing.

Mortgage law was a significant area of activity in 2007. A report
produced in 2007, Mortgages in transition economies: the legal
framework for mortgages and mortgage securities, aims to
identify what reform is needed to achieve an efficient legal
framework for mortgages. In preparation for this publication

the EBRD conducted a survey of mortgage laws in 17 transition
countries that already have an active mortgage finance market or
that are actively developing such a market. The report advocates
a legal framework for an efficient mortgage market that benefits
both borrowers and lenders. The report is expected to play an
important role in enhancing mortgage legislation in the region.

The EBRD also embarked on a project to issue standards

for corporate governance in banks in eastern Europe, the
Caucasus and Central Asia. This initiative is being developed

in collaboration with the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (QECD). A working group comprising
representatives from the relevant countries began drafting

the standards in 2007 and the final version of the principles

is expected in mid-2008.

As part of its ongoing assessment of legal transition, the Bank
published in its 2007 Transition Report the results of a survey
measuring the effectiveness of securities markets legislation.
The survey concluded that the quality of legislation had
improved significantly in recent years but it confirmed the

need to strengthen enforcement mechanisms, particutarly

in CIS countries.

Building on the success in 2006 of training courses held for
judges in the Kyrgyz Republic, four more seminars took place

in 2007 covering various aspects of commercial law. Moreover,
junior Kyrgyz judges took part in an internship in the commercial
courts of Kazakhstan and a new commercial law library was
opened in Bishkek.

Another focus of LTP activity was the area of insolvency.

For example, the Bank provided technical support to Serbia's
Bankruptcy Supervisory Agency for the regulation of bankruptcy
admintstrators (see page 24). In Russia, the LTP has initiated
a project to assist the Ministry of Economic Development and
Trade in the regulation of insolvency administrators.

Although people are now generally

committed to democracy and the market
economy, many are dissatisfied with life
and believe that economic conditions
were better before transition began.
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Case study

A transparent pankruptcy sysiem for Serbia

Before the implementation of Serbia’s
relatively new insolvency legislation it
was not uncommon for insolvency to be
misused: a business would be run into
the ground intentionally, stripped it of its

assets and the creditors left with nothing.

Often the remaining assets of a bankrupt
business ended up slipping through
everyone's fingers because of inefficient
insolvency procedures and poorly-trained
amateurs at the administrative helm.

Now Serbia has the enormous advantage
of having a bankruptcy law that has been
in development since 2000 and that
incorporates many of the best bits of
other insolvency systems around the
world. However, making good use of that
legislation is still a work in progress.

It is clearly an important part of any
transition to a fully-fledged market
economy that good insolvency laws are
in place and are properly adhered to
and supported by sound regulations.
Any potential investor will look to the
strength and efficiency of the insolvency
and restructuring environment of a
country before taking the decision

to invest money,
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After adopting the new law in 2005, the
Serhian government created the Serbian
Bankruptcy Supervisory Agency (BSA) to
oversee the country’'s insolvency system.
In the same year the EBRD undertook a
project providing technical assistance
entitled “Insolvency Regulator Capacity-
Building in Serbia and South Eastern
Europe” The Swiss State Secretariat

for Economic Affairs (SECO) deonated just
over €300,000 to the project, although

it was not invoived in the implementation.

The project began with a two-folg
objective — to improve the skills of the
BSA and to develop EBRD Principles

of Insolvency Office Holders based

on international best practice. These
administrators are appointed from

the private sector to administer any
insolvency — he or she will collect and
take possession of the debtor's assets,
consider the claims of the creditors and
admit or reject those claims, administer
the possible disposal of the assets and
payment of creditors or recover the debts
owed to the insolvent business.

As part of this process, the EBRD helped
organise a roundtable discussion on the
supervision of insolvency administrators.

The EBRD shared its views on best ways
to improve the Serbian insolvency regime
and to implement the new law, as well as
best international practice on supervision,
licensing and training of insolvency
administrators. The roundtable was
attended by representatives from the
Supreme Court of Serbia, the High
Commercial Court, commercial courts,
the BSA, insoclvency administrators

and representatives of international
institutions involved in bankruptcy
regime improvement initiatives,

“The roundtable contributed to a better

understanding of the ways in which
our current bankruptcy system can be
enhanced and made more efficient,”
says Vesna Gadesa, Director of BSA,
and former bankruptcy administrator.

Serbia remains an excellent example
of collaboration between international
institutions such as the EBRD, the
World Bank, the United States Agency
for International Development (US AID)
and Geselischaft fir Technische
Zusammernarbeit (GTZ), each of
which is actively focusing efforts on
developing the existing insolvency
system in the country.




the skills of the telecoms regulators in Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz
Republic, Mongo ia and Montenegro, where the Bank began
implementing its first legal reform project. In addition, the
Bank's recommendations for telecoms sector reform in
Kosovo were apfroved for implementation in June 2007.

In addition to its LTP activities, the EBRD seeks to improve the
legal and regulatory environment directly affecting the Bank's
capital market operations in the countries where it invests. This
ohjective is closely connected with the Bank's own local currency
funding and lending operations in the region. In 2007 the focus
of these endeavours was on Kazakhstan, Russia and Ukraine.

In June 2007 the: Bank organised, in cooperation with the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA), a
conference in Moscow on the development ¢f the derivatives
market in Russia. Market participants, regulators and lawyers
discussed ways o advance the local regulatory regime and
practice. The Bank also observed and, where appropriate,
commented on a number of legislative initiatives, such

as addressing weaknesses in the current framework for
securitisation tre nsactions in the Russian market.

in Kazakhstan and Ukraine the EBRD worked closely with the
MNational Bank of Kazakhstan and the National Bank of Ukraine,
as well as with commercial banks, {0 create the new money
market indices “ <azPrime” and “KievPrime” in addition, the
Bank is supporti1g the development of such indices in Bulgaria
and Romania. Tre EBRD expects that these indices will become
important buildir g blocks for the development of the financial
markets in these countries by increasing market liquidity

and by paving the way for the issuance of floating rate bonds
and loans in loce i currency. Robust money market indices are
also a precondition for the development of various derivative
instruments in lccal currency.

Environmental and social reform

Since the establ.shment of the EBRD's Environmental Policy
in 2003, environmental and social issues in the countries
where the Bank operates have changed. Attention is focusing
increasingly on energy efficiency and renewable energy. As the
EBRD's activities. move further south and east, including to
some of the poo-er countries of the Bank's operations, social
issues, such as abour standards, the effect of EBRD projects
on indigenous people, resettlement and gender equality

are increasingly mpaortant and a key component of
sustainable development.

Environmental and Social Policy to reflect the social impact

of the Bank’s activities. The proposed draft policy outlines

the Bank's overall requirements and commitments and is
supported by 10 performance requirements that aim to provide
a greater degree of clarity for clients and the Bank. Guidance
notes explaining the policy and performance requirements

will be developed once the new policy is approved.

Consultation began in 2006 with expert working groups meeting
to discuss changes in requirements of international financial
institutions (IFls), labour issues, public health and the impact
of EBRD projects on indigenous people. This work continued in
2007 with the publication on the Bank's web site of an issues
paper in English and Russian. This issues paper gave an outline
of the key topics to be considered in the new policy, such as
defining project boundaries and clarifying responsibility for
disclosure and public consultation.

Key topics were also discussed at the NGO programme at the
Bank's annual meeting in Kazan (Russia) in May 2007. The
Bank was encouraged to engage with all affected groups and
to consider the impact of EBRD projects on local communities.
In addition, the Bank held meetings with indigenous people in
Murmansk, north-west Russia, Petropaviovsk and Kamchatskiy
in Russia's Far East and it is planning a third meeting in Irkutsk,
Siberia, for 2008. The EBRD also consulted on the policy
review with banks and IFls, the World Health Organization, the
Internationa!l Labour Crganization, the EBRD's Environmental
Advisory Council and the European Union. A survey was also
carried out to seek input from EBRD clients.

Following the release of a draft policy on the EBRD web site in
English and Russian, a series of public consultation workshops
will take place to discuss the new policy. Consultations are
currently planned for six locations: Bishkek, Belgrade, Budapest,
London, Moscow and Thilisi. Once the new policy has been
approved, it wilt be posted on the EBRD web site in English

and Russian later in 2008.

Gender equality is a key element of sustainable development,
and in 2007 the Bank looked at how to gain a better
understanding of where issues relating to gender equality
occurred in the Bank's countries of operations. Following the
recommendations of an independent study in 2006 that was
funded by the UK Department for International Development and
the Canadian International Development Agency, the Bank set
up an inter-departmental working group to identify investment
projects that would contribute to gender equality. The group

is also looking at introducing other initiatives to promote good
practice among clients, such as a guidance note on family-
friendly working practices, which will be finalised in 2008.
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ne Eorb) IS5 committed (o transpdrency and accountapliity in all
its operations. One of the key ways of achieving this is through
the EBRD’s Chief Compliance Office {CCO). The CCO advises on
the suitability of prospective clients, investigates allegations of
fraud, corruption and misconduct and handles complaints from
groups adversely affected by EBRD projects. Such procedures
not only protect the Bank's investment but they also require
prospective clients, through legally enforceable covenants,

to adhere to acceptable business and governance standards.
The EBRD considers that effective integrity due diligence and
the fight against fraud and corruption is an essential feature

of successful transition within each country of operations.

In 2007 the CCO provided advice on approximately 240 projects,
a significant increase on the 160 projects in 2005 and 2006. This
increase reflects the fact that as the Bank shifts its operations
south and east the business environment is becoming more
difficult and integrity concerns are more frequent.

The EBRD ensured that the definitions of fraudulent and corrupt
practices agreed by the IFl Anti Corruption Task Force were
incorporated in contracts signed by the Bank in 2007. The EBRD
is now considering introducing sanctions, such as being placed
on a hst of ineligible entities, for fraudulent and corrupt practices
at any stage of the project cycle.

The CCO amended the Bank's integrity due diligence guidelines
in 2007 to require enhanced due diligence and project menitoring
for projects involving certain categories of people such as
politically exposed persons, and for projects that require the
government to issue licences and permits, for example projects
in the oil sector.

The EBRD hosted five anti-money laundering training
programmes in 2007, with the help of funding from Switzerland
and the European Union. Since 2005 cover 600 individuals
from 350 financial institutions in 16 of the Bank's countries

of operations have benefited from the programme.

In June 2007, the EBRD hosted the Fourth Conference of
Principals of Independent Accountability Mechanisms in IFis
and Related Institutions. This explored, among other things,
how to manage expectations of accountability mechanisms
and what they can deliver.

To bolster the Bank’s support for standard-setters, such as
the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, and
to underscore the importance of anti-carruption reforms in

on BUSINESS FrinCIples 1or Louniering oripery, and to maintain
close relations with the CECD and Council of Europe.

Following the adoption of the new Code of Conduct for EBRD
staff in 20086, the CCO continued to provide advice on the Code's
application, and it investigated three incidents of suspected
misconduct. During 2007, the CCO provided integrity training

to 361 staff members under its Integrity Matters! programme.

It also delivered courses to 28 bankers about their obligations
and duties as nominee directors on the supervisory boards of
companies that have received equity investments from the Bank.
It has also provided training to 135 staff about anti-money
laundering, countering the financing of terrorism and integrity
due diligence.

In early 2008, the EBRD will issue its second Anti-Corruption
Report. It also intends to adopt an Anti-Corruption Policy,
which wili bring together the various measures the Bank uses
to make sure its funds are not illegitimately diverted from their
intended purpose.

Good governance and transparency

The EBRD strives to instil good governance and sound business
practices in all areas of its work. A cornerstone of this endeavour
is the Bank's Public Information Policy (PIP}, which promotes
disclosure and transparency as a fundamental business principle
in the companies in which it invests. The Bank continues to be
guided by the underlying presumption that, whenever possible,
information concerning the Bank’s activities wili be made
available to the public unless there is a compelling reason
otherwise. Openness helps to promote the Bank's impact

on transition in the countries in which it invests and helps

to improve the stability and efficiency of markets.

In 2007 the EBRD began a review of the PIP. This is normally
done every three years, with the next review due in 2009.
However, it was brought forward to coincide with the revision
of the 2003 Environmental Policy, which is being modified to
reflect the Bank’s increased focus on the social impact of its
projects (see page 25). These two policies are closely related
as the PIP cross-refers to the (current) 2003 Envirocnmental
Policy regarding requirements related to disclosure of
environmental and social information. However, the Bank

is now looking to revise the PIP so it covers the Bank's
disclosure requirements and includes more clarity

on confidentiality.

The EBRDs Transition Report
is published annually and
charts economic progress
across 29 countries.

The Bank maintains a
good level of dialogue
with interested NGOs,
including a full programme
of discussions at the
Annual Maeting.
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a set of standarc s that must be aahered to by anyone providing
the EBRD with goods or services. Although periodically modified
singe their adoption in 1992, the PP&R have not been subject
to a comprehengive review, and as the needs of the Bank and
its clients and suppliers evolve these changes need to be
reflected in the FP&R.

Invitations for th2 public to comment on all three reviews were
posted on the Bank's web site in 2007. For the PIP and the
Environmental and Social Policy, these invitations to comment
formed the basis for a detailed programme of public consultation
aimed at giving tnhose investing in the Bank the best opportunities
to participate in the policy development process. It is anticipated
that all three po'icies will be approved in 2008,

As well as provicling information to the public, the Bank also
seeks feedback on its projects. Through the Independent
Recourse Mechanism (IRM), local groups that may be adversely
affected by a Bznk project can raise complaints or grievances
with the Bank.

In 2007 the EBF.D received four new IRM complaints and
continued to prccess a complaint that had heen received

the previous year. Two of the new complaints were deemed
“manifestly ineligible” for registration under the IRM. The other
two were found to comply with the IRM and were duly registered
for further proce:ss. The IRM will be reviewed in 2008.

laundering programmes

600 people
trained

A sound legal system
is the basis of a
functioning economy.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
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The EBRD plays a vital role in building a competitive,
diversified and sustainable financial sector, which is a key
part of transition to a market economy. The Bank provides
a wide range of financial products designed to support all
types of financial services businesses across the countries
in which it operates.
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reatlicd ©o. 0 RO, Wil 1ol new pgrojecl SIgNINEsS of over
€2 billion by the end of 2007 the financial sector represented
34 per cent of the Bank’s total business portfolio,

The EBRD offers a range of financial instruments that are tailor
made to support each project’s objectives. By providing equity
investment to banks, funds or non-bank financial institutions
such as insurance and pension companies, the Bank is injecting
capital for restructuring and privatisations, promoting institution
building and helping to develop the equity industry. Equity
investments accounted for nearly one-third of the Bank's
investment in the financial sector in 2007, with equity funds

in particular having a strong year.

The Bank provides a variety of debt products — for example
straight senior loans, loans in local currency, syndicated loans
and long-term mortgage financing. By providing credit lines for
on-lending to banks, the EBRD can target specific areas such as
small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), local municipalities
and energy efficiency. The Bank also assists import and export
trade in the transition region by providing trade guarantees

and short-term loans via the Trade Facilitation Programme

(see page 33). Through debt financing to local banks, the EBRD
increases lending to private enterprises and strengthens local
institutions. In 2007 new business reached over €1 billion.

Debt products are also available to non-bank financial
institutions such as leasing and consumer finance companies.
The Bank has recently been involved with securitisation
transactions involving the sale of pools of financial assets

such as mortgages, and this is helping to stimulate the local
capital markets. New business to non-bank financial institutions
was over €300 million in 2007. Chart 1 shows new business
for the EBRD in the financial sector in 2007, by product.

In line with the EBRD’s overall strategy, new business in financial
services is increasingly being undertaken in countries in the
south and east of the region. Nearly half of new business volume
was achieved outside central Europe and Russia, with particular
growth in Kazakhstan and Ukraine. Over 45 per cent of projects
signed were in Central Asia, western CIS and the Caucasus.
Russia remained a significant area for new projects, accounting
for 42 per cent of new business volume and 21 per cent of
projects. Although new business shifted away from central
European countries such as the Czech Republic, Hungary and

Chart1
New business in the financial sector, by product (2007)

parirono, € 1.5 biuhon,

In 2007 the Bank signed 57 new projects for a total of

€140 million in the countries at the earliest stages of transition
to a market economy. By providing finance through local financial
intermediaries, the EBRD gives micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises (MSMEs) access to much-needed finance that will
nurture the private sector. These projects are often supported
by technical assistance that, through training and consultancy
services, enhances the skills of those working in the financial
sector. The Trade Facilitation Programme is also very active in
this region (see page 33).

As the geographic spread of the Bank's portfolio evolves, so
does the client base and range of financial products offered.
The EBRD provides products to its clients that are designed to
meet their needs as well as addressing the constantly changing
challenges of the transition process. For example, many of
the Bank's clients have indicated a strong financing need for
funding that does not lead to substantial foreign exchange risk.
In response, the EBRD invested over €48 million in The Currency
Exchange Fund in 2007. Through the fund the Bank offers
synthetic local currency loans to borrowers in the smaller and
less developed financial markets, such as in the ETCs and
Western Balkans (these loans are “synthetic” as they contain
a mechanism that hedges against foreign exchange risk but
settle in hard currency, as opposed to being loans that are
deliverable in local currency). Reducing the foreign exchange
risk mismatch between assets and liabilities can improve the
credit risk of those clients. In addition, the Bank is supporting
the development of money market indices in several transition
countries, which will help to build vibrant financial markets

by increasing liguidity and paving the way for the issuance

of floating-rate bonds and loans in local currency.

The Bank is also engaged in policy dialogue with governments
and regulators on a wide range of issues, including supporting
the development of efficient remittance channels, through which
workers living abroad can send money home, and involvement
in the implementation of Basel Il. By supporting key legislation
(such as insurance legislation and regulation and local
securitisation legislation), the Bank is able to enhance the
financial sector infrastructure and broaden the products
available to the market.

25%
19%
10% 10%
6% 6% 6% 6%
4%

3%
I
Trade Equity Microfinance  Syndicated Bank Energy Penston and SME Leasing Securitisation  Other debt Mortgage

finance funds loans equity efficiency insurance and capital

(equity) markets
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governance in the countries in which it operates. This is
important across all industries but for a healthy financial
sector to flourisk, the trust and confidence of market
participants is crucial, and therefore essential for transition.

Banking sector

In 2007 the EBRID committed €85 million to six new equity
investments in A ' menia, Kazakhstan and Russia. The EBRD
also provided onjfoing financial support to existing clients by
participating in the capital increases of 11 other banks across
the region. Most of these investments were made to local
banks that do not have a strategic investor.

The EBRD currently has investments of over €980 million
in 49 banks covering 22 countries. By participating in the
supervisery boards of these institutions, the EBRD has
the opportunity ta improve corporate governance, promote
transparency and accountability, assist institutional
development and help management and shareholders
realise the potential of these banks,

Lending to banks continued to be a key business area for

the EBRD in 2007. The Bank signed 66 projects totalling

€566 miltion, wh ch were spread across 15 countries. As a
reflection of the gfeographic shift of business, 33 of these were
in countries on the fringes of the former Soviet Union, such as
Armenia, Azerbai an, Belarus, Georgia, Moldova and Ukraine.

The development of new programmes focusing on high priority
areas, such as sustainable energy, has also improved the
diversification of the EBRD's portfolio and broadened the
availability of fine nce to the local economy.

The Bank is placing particular importance on the promotion of
sustainable enery across its countries of operations. There are
now EBRD financ ng frameworks tackling these issues covering
Bulgaria, Georgia, Romania, Slovak Republic and Ukraine.
These frameworks enable the EBRD to provide credit lines

to participating banks which then on-lend to industrial and/or
residential customers for sustainable energy investments.
These facilities are usually supported by grents from donors
for technical assistance and, in some cases, incentives.

In 2007 the EBRI3 signed 13 energy efficiency-related projects
totalling €136 million. Similar projects will be developed

in 2008 in Armeriia, Kazakhstan and Russia.

sized Loan Lo-financing Facility (MR} Under tnis tacility, the
EBRD participates in sub-loans to larger companies, thereby
overcoming the constraints faced by banks in lending large
sums to a single borrower because of risk and exposure limits,
In 2007 the EBRD signed four projects under the MCFF in
Armenia and Azerbaijan.

As financial markets broaden and deepen, a wider range of
financial instruments is being offered in many countries. For
example, mortgage lending has become an important growth
area in many transition countries. In 2007 the Bank signed nine
mortgage projects totalling €47 million with banks in Georgia,
Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic, Russia, Serbia and Ukraine.
These projects provide the foundations for the client banks to
use their growing mortgage portfolios as support for subsequent
securities issues. In this way, additional funds for mortgage
lending can be raised to allow people to own their own homes
and a new asset class becomes available in the capital markets.
The Bank is also committed to helping countries develop efficient
mortgage systems {see page 23).

The Bank has also promoted syndicated lending transactions
for banks in the countries where it operates. In 2007, nine
EBRD projects in support of the banking sector involved the
syndication of part of the loans to commercial banks. These
projects combined €237 million of EBRD financing with a total
of €530 million of syndicated financing. The banks benefiting
from these loans were in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan,
Russia and Ukraine. Through these operations, the EBRD has
been able to extend loan maturities and introduce new banks
to the syndicated loans market, such as Armeconombank in
Armenia. By syndicating transactions, the EBRD can not only
increase resources available to clients in difficult investment
climates, but financial institutions are also able to attract
internationally reputable banks as co-lenders that might
provide further support in the future.

Specially designed frameworks have been developed to target
countries at the early stages of transition, such as the Kyrgyz
Financial Sector Framework. These provide ready-made finance
packages that are also backed up by technical cooperation
funds. The frameworks aliow the Bank to respond quickly

and flexibly to client needs.

Loans to local and regional
banks such as UkrEximBank
allow the EBRD to reach
small and medivm-sized
businesses across its region.

The TFP stimulates
import and export
trade by guaranteeing
trade transactions.
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Case study

3acking & commercial banxk

Iskenderov Shahin is an Azerbaijani
businessman who casts his net wide.
He produces pomegranate juice, runs
a poultry farm, makes flour and owns a
chain of fuel stations. He is also one of
many Azeris who have made use of the
small and medium-sized loans provided
hy Unibank. Azerbaijan’s leading private
independent commercial bank. He
horrowed €102,000 to install freezers
at the poultry plant and to import
Russian hottles for the juice business.

Unibank has been able to help local
husinesses this way thanks to support
from the EBRD. This support continued
in 2007 by way of a €24 million loan

to promote further competition in the
country’s banking sector, where state-
owned banks once virtually monopaolised
the market.

The EBRD loan, which was increased

to €24 million from €20 million to meet
market demand, will send a strong
positive signal to the Azeri banking sector
{which grew by 75 per cent in 2006) and
help to attract more foreign investment
and new local customers by enabling
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Unibank to offer a diverse product range,
regional representation and, perhaps
most impaortantly, a strong service culture.

Unibank intends to expand its branches
from five — three in Baku and one each

in Ganja in the west and Sumgait in

the north-east — ta 21 by 2009. It will
continue to make small and medium-sized
leans to locat businesses and individuals
and to widen its cooperation with
international financial institutions (IFis).

It will also continue to lead the market
with its range of products, including credit
and debit cards and electronic banking.

At present, Unibank is the only Azeri bank
to be a member of the American Chamber
of Commerce and, with the help of EBRD
technical assistance, the Board of
Directors has adopted regulations

to bring the bank into line with
internationai standards.

The EBRD has a long history with Unibank
and has helped build the bank's reputation
as an innovator in the local banking
sector, bringing it up from being the

sixth largest Azer bank in 2003 to

"Having been the first Azeri private bank
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one of the largest today. This was done
with equity and debt funding as well

as technical assistance programmes.
The EBRD is a 15 per cent shareholder
in Unibank.

“The asset and credit portfolio of the bank

has doubled this year, while customer
deposits have more than trebled and

net profits have grown 2.4 times,” says
Faig Huseynov, Chairman of the Executive
Board. “This impressive growth resulted
in Unibank’s becoming one of the

top three biggest commercial banks

in Azerbaijan.

to atiract & syndicated ican from an IFI
in Aprilt 2005,” he went on, “Unibank is
delighted to continue its development by
signing already its third loan agreement
with the EBRD. This signifies the soiid
trust of the international banking
community in Unibank.”




The EBRD’s Trade Facilitation Programme (TFP) stimulates
import and expot trade by guaranteeing trade transactions.
It also provides ishort-term loans to selected banks and
factoring companies for on-lending to local exporters,
importers and distributors.

In 2007 the EBRD financed 1,056 trade transactions totalling
€777 million under the TFP. Most of these transactions
supported small business, with about 40 per cent of all

deals under €1€0,000.

By encouraging an increase in trade, the TFP helps to not only
create jobs but also to improve cooperation and understanding
between countrizs. Since a growing number of transactions
supported by the: TFP involve trade deals between the EBRD's
countries of operations, the programme is also supporting the
restoration of traditional trade links that may have remained
dormant for some time.

There has been steady growth in the number of transactions

in the EBRD region since the programme began in 1989,

In 2007 the TFF financed 259 intra-regional transactions.
These included the export of grain and food products from
Hungary, Kazakhstan, Romania, Russia and Ukraine to Armenia,
Georgja, FYR Miacedonia, Moldova and Tajikistan or the export
of machinery and equipment from Estonia, the Slovak Republic
and Poland to Azerbaijan, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegoving,
Georgia, Russia and Uzbekistan. Other transactions included the
export of pharmaceuticals from Croatia and Russia to Tajikistan
and the export of cosmetics from Bulgaria t» FYR Macedonia.

With the issuan:e of a €105,000 letter of credit by
Tojiksodirotbant. of Tajikistan to Fortis Bank, the TFP has
passed a milesione by financing its 6,000th transaction.
The letter of credit covered the import of juices and nectars
made in Russia to Tajikistan.

The programme currently has 115 issuing banks in the EBRD's
region and over 640 confirming banks all over the world. New
TFP facilities were signed in 2007 with 15 financial institutions
in nine of the Bank's countries of operations, including the first
facilities for the development of factoring services in Romania
and Russia.

The TFP plays a particularly important role in the early transition
countries, stimulating market activity by using a streamlined
approach to financing a large number of small projects.

In 2007, the EBRD financed 436 foreign trade transactions

in these countries.

Equity funds

By investing in quity funds the EBRD is helping not only to
develop a strong private equity industry, but also to raise
corporate governance standards in the companies receiving
investment and to promote an entrepreneurial culture. The Bank
primarily supports private equity funds managed by professional
fund managers and backed by institutional investors.

High liquidity in the market in 2007 gave the EBRD increased
opportunities to support start-up funds. Th2 Bank was able to
develop a balarnced portfolio of new transactions that involved

new sectors.

The EBRD committed nearly €400 million to 12 new private
equity funds. These funds are providing in total over €2.6 billion
in new investment into the equity markets of the countries in
which the Bank operates. There has been a move away from
pan-Eurepean funds to funds focused on specific regions such
as the Balkans and Central Asia. There was also greater focus
on venture capital funds, for example the New Europe Venture
Equity Fund, which will invest in new technology companies

in software and IT services in south-eastern Europe, and the
Venture Capital Fund (VTB} which aims to increase the global
competitiveness of Russia's high-tech sector.

The Bank continued to run a strong equity fund portfolio in
2007, illustrated by successful exits from investee companies.
In 2007, realised gains totalled over €183 million. This has sent
the commercial market a clear signal of the benefits of equity
investment, The recent successes are solid evidence that the
Banrk's determination to remain a provider of risk capital during
a time when the financial climate was difficuit has paid off in
financial terms as well as in advancing the transition process.

The EBRD continues to be the largest investor in private equity
funds in the transition region. The shortage of disciplined risk
capital and the Bank’s experience and success in this area have
resulted in the EBRD playing a key role in the development of

a sustainable private equity industry in the countries in which

it operates.

Other financial services

In 2007 the EBRD continued its support to financial institutions
outside the banking sector with new commitments amounting

to €307 million. This area of finance has increased significantly
in recent years. The portfolio now stands at over €1.1 billion

and involves 20 countries. It has been at the forefront of product
innovation and continues to develop under-served markets,

such as leasing and insurance, that often require changes

in legislation to open up and expand these activities in the
Bank's countries of operations.

The provision of new debt financing was made to 13 leasing,
mortgage and consumer finance companies in 2007. In addition,
as part of the Bank's ongeing work to develop local capital
markets, it signed two securitisation projects in Russia and

a credit line to support pre-initial public offerings and bond
issues in Kazakhstan, Russia and Ukraine.

Six new equity investments were made in Azerbaijan, Bosnia

and Herzegovina, Russia and Slovenia, which cover the insurance,
pension and leasing industries. Continued financial support was
provided to another six financial institutions outside the banking
sector in the form of capital increases.

The leasing sector was particularly active in 2007, with the EBRD
signing 13 projects for a total of €76 million. The leasing industry
is important as it provides alternative sources of financing

for companies that find it difficult to access loans for major
equipment purchases. It also extends the depth and breadth

of the financial sector in the countries where the Bank operates.
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For a marke;t economy to flourish, small businesses are
essential. They generate income, create new employment

opportunitiés and contribute to local economic growth and
transition. The EBRD provides support for the development
of small businesses in all countries where it invests.
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421.000 loans
disbursed

One of the Bank's largest lending programmes is its donor-
supported Micro and Small Business Programme, which currently
operates in 18 countries. EBRD financing is provided through
103 local banks and specialised microfinance organisations that
disburse loans to micro and small enterprises (MSEs) through
almost 2,000 branches.

The portfolio is close to €578 miilion and provides partner
lending institutions with different financial products and tailored
technical assistance. The total number of loans disbursed by
EBRD partner institutions reached nearly 3.1 million with a total
value of over €14.8 billion, an increase of 45 per cent year-on-
year. Repayment of these loans remainad consistently above
99 per cent.

In 2007 the programme continued to expand, committing
€209 million through 69 projects. The EBRD worked with
63 institutions, 32 of which were new. Three guarantees and
a €34 million framework for Mongolia, the Bank’'s newest
country of operations, were also established.

In the early transition countries, the EBRD financed 29 new
projects supporting MSEs. In Tajikistan, the Bank approved

the Tajikistan Agricultural Finance Facility (TAFF), an innovative
lending programme designed to support the restructuring of the
country's agricultural sector (see page 15).

In Armenia the Bank helped to establish ProCredit Bank Armenia
by investing 965 million dram (€2.1 million) of equity. Micro and
small businesses have very limited access to finance in Armenia
and this new bank will provide an effective medium through
which they can gain access, as well as demonstrate the viability
of MSE lending to other local banks.

To meet the demand for local currency financing in the countries
where the EBRD operates, the Bank invested over €48 million
in The Currency Exchange Fund (see page 30). The Bank expects
to use the Fund for its first microfinance project in early 2008.

In Belarus, the EBRD led efforts to bring together private and
public sector investors to set up the Befarusian Bank for Small
Business (BBSB), a greenfield microfinance bank. A total

of €7 million of equity investment will be provided. BBSB's
presence will complement local commercial banks in providing
MSE finance, particularly in the regions outside the capital.

It expects to open its doors in 2008. A key component of the
project is the €3 million technical assistance provided by the
governments of Austria, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands,
Norway and Sweden, the European Union, IFC and other donors.

The EBRD devises Innovative
ways of providing finanging
to small businesses, such
as the Tajik Agricultural
Financing Facility.
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Qver €200 million was
commlitted through the
Micro and Small Business
Programme in 2007.




suppoert to small businesses through syndication. Through this
effart, the Bank mobilised additional financing for its clients,
often providing t e longer tenors that regular commercial bank
syndications could not. These projects included two loans in
Armenia, one in 3eorgia, one in Romania and one in Russia.

The EBRD’s microfinance programme has been supported by

a number of donors. One of the most successful initiatives
includes the US,EBRD SME Finance Facility, which assists
lending schemes. in 15 countries. The EBRD and United States
established the ~acility in 2000 to promote private sector growth
and economic development in south-eastern Europe and in
countries at the zarlier stages of the transition process, such

as Armenia, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, the Kyrgyz Republic,
Tajikistan and Ukraine.

A large proportion of the US funding is used to train staff in
local banks and 1on-bank financial institutions as well as

to reduce legal and regulatory obstacles to small business
finance. The Fac lity also provided crucial support for the
transformation of non-bank financial institutions into full
commercial micrafinance banks in Kosovo and FYR Macedonia.
By the end of Seotember 2007, the partners supported by the
Facility had provided over 1.6 million loans totalling €8 billion.

The EBRD's Micra and Small Business Lending Programme in
Russia is supported by the Russia Small Business Fund (RSBF).
Established in 1994 by the EBRD, G7 countries and Switzerland,
with additional s ipport from the European Union, the RSBf is a
fund of just over €350 million dedicated to supporting Russian
MSEs and strengthening the ability of Russian banks to provide
MSEs with finance.

The RSBF provides financing and technical support to
participating banks that disburse loans of up to €120,000

to MSEs, with an average outstanding portfolio loan size of
€10,000 as of tre end of December 2007. These banks offer
a diverse range of products, including express micro loans
(typically disburs 2d within 24 to 48 hours) and loans to rural
communities. As of December 2007, over 421,000 loans
totalling €3.5 billion had been disbursed. A total of 17 Russian
banks, including six new partner banks, are {aking part in

the programme, ‘vhich reaches 161 cities across Russia.

scoring methedologies, as well as aavising on rural MSE lending,
securitisation and general banking topics. The initiative covers
some of the country’s most depressed regions, such as Russia's
Far East, where a new partner bank, Vostochny Express Bank,
now provides financing to entrepreneurs. In 2007 the EBRD
signed 13 projects in Russia, including a €10 million equity
investment in KMB Bank.

Support for small and medium-sized enterprises

The EBRD uses a range of financial instruments to provide
finance to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). This
finance is provided in various ways, such as credit lines to local
banks for on-lending to small business, trade guarantees, equity
investments in banks and equity funds (see page 33), and loans
to leasing companies. The EBRD also provides equity directly to
small companies through the Direct Investment Facitlity {DIF).

To enhance the impact of this financing, the EBRD makes use of
donor funding to provide training to financial institutions on how
to assist smalt businesses in the most effective way. The Bank
can also provide individual enterprises with industry-specific
assistance from the TurnAround Management/Business Advisory
Services Programme, ranging from complete restructuring of
businesses through to short, highly specific projects with rapid
payback (see page 63).

The EBRD has directed over €2.2 billion towards small business
projects via SME-focused debt facilities and currently has
prajects in 25 countries. The Bank's portfolio involves over

150 financial intermediaries and over 99,000 loans/leases
have been made to local small businesses.

The Bank supports small business mainly through providing
credit lines to local banks. In 2007, the EBRD signed 30 new
projects with local banks totalling €131 million. Half of these
projects also provided a micro-sized enterprise {MSE) facility

to the banks. The EBRD also signed nine SME-related leasing
projects amounting to over €54 million. In addition, the Bank
signed a convertible loan for on-lending to micro, small and
medium-sized enterprises in Uzbekistan, an SME syndicated loan
in Ukraine, seven equity transactions with banks whose husiness
is primarily SME-focused and two equity funds with investment
strategies that will target SMEs in central Europe.

The EBRD's BAS Programme
trains and uses tocal
consultants to provide know-
how to small businesses.
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Case study
Lending to small businesses

Gultoraev Makhmudzhon lives in the city
of Kurgan-Tyube in south-west Tajikistan.
He worked as a taxi driver until after the
civil war when he decided to learn how
to produce “sunduks,” traditicnal Tajik
chests in which gifts for married couples
are kept. After a two-year apprenticeship
under his brother-in-law. he decided to
stari his own business.

However, with each passing year,
competition in the city increased and

he struggled to keep up with production.
He needed money to purchase equipment
and raw materials at wholesale prices.

At around this time, loan officers

from Agroinvestbank were informing
husinessmen in the local markets

about the possibility of receiving

loans to develop their businesses.
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At first Makhmudzhon was hesitant as
he had never worked with a bank before
and was fearful of bureaucracy. But in
May 2006 he decided to take a chance
and approached Agroinvestbank, which
is supported by the Tajikistan Micro
and Small Enterprise Finance Facility.
After an appraisal of his business,
Agroinvestbank lent him €1,360.

Makhmudzhon was astonished by
how quickly the meney arrived and
the effect it had on his business -
his production doubled.

“Thanks to the money from

Agroinvestbank my business just
keeps growing,” says Makhmudzhon.

He now employs about 15 peaple who
can earn up to €205 over the busy
wedding season that runs from summer
to autumn. People from all over the
oblast go to him to buy their sunduks.

After repaying his first loan he applied for
another ta buy new equipment and was
quickly approved for a further €4,220.

Makhmudzhon enthuses: “| really
enjoy the good relationship | have with
Agroinvestbank. They are great to work
with. | hope this cooperation goes

on forever!”




It is the Bank’s inain instrument for financing small businesses
in the new EU member states and EU canditlate countries.

The programme is currently focusing on Bulgaria, Croatia

and Romania. EBRD funding available through this facility

is €1.4 billion, including at least €80 million that has been
earmarked for farmers and small businesses in rural areas
where access t¢ financing is very limited.

The programme is extremely effective in encouraging local
intermediaries to lend to small enterprises. By the end of 2007,
the EBRD had provided 110 credit lines totalling €1.2 billion to
42 banks and 3! leasing companies in the 11 countries covered
by the programnie. In total over 90,000 transactions worth more
than €1.9 billior have been undertaken with small businesses
throughout the region. The average loan size: for each business
is as low as €22,500 while leases average €19,800. These

low levels ensurz that even very small businesses are able

to benefit from the facility.

In addition to loan financing, four equity funds totalling

€32.5 million hzve been established under the facility to provide
much-needed equity support to small enterprises. Many of the
banks and leasing companies supported by the programme
have indicated taat they will continue to make small business

a significant part of their portfolio once the facility comes

1o a close.

Support from th2 European Union comes as grant funding in
the form of performance fees and technical assistance. While
the performance: fee is a way of encouraging banks and leasing
companies to make small loans or leases, the technical
assistance prov des training to local staff to improve credit
analysis and the quality of service provided to SMEs.

€1.2 billion

In total, over 90,000 transactions
worth more than €1.9 billion
have be=n undertaken with

small businesses.

Eurapean Bank for Reconstruction and Development
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Promoting sustainable energy is at the heart of the EBRD’s
mission. In| 2007 the Bank committed €934 million to support
energy efficiency and renewables, which in turn promotes the
security of|energy supply to the transition countries. The Bank
also contiqued to encourage further reform of the power sector,
particularly through sustainable energy action plans and
policy dialogue.
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e EBRL continued (o support tne power seclor in LUV by
providing €402 miltion for a wide range of projects. The 10
projects signed by the Bank - eight of which were with private
companies - will finance operations in Armenia, Azerbaijan,
Bulgaria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kazakhstan, Romania and
Russia, and other parts of central and south-eastern Europe.
Together these financings are estimated to result in net annual
CO; savings of 900,000 tonnes.

Supporting sustainable energy is at the core of the Bank's
mission and under its Sustainable Energy Initiative (SEl) the
EBRD places particutar emphasis on financing such projects.
Energy efficiency and renewable energy investments have the
potential to improve the security of energy supply while boosting
market competitiveness, which was a key business driver

in the power sector in 2007.

In Russia, the Bank continued to play a major role in efficiency
improvements through the restructuring of the Russian power
sector by acquiring @ minority stake in the regional generating
company TGK-9, alongside a strategic investor (see page 43).
This milestone equity transaction enables the Bank to support
private investments in the Russian power sector while
improving environmental standards.

In Kazakhstan, the EBRD backed the country’s Power Sector
Development Plan by providing a €20 million loan to the
privately-owned generator PavlodarEnergo. The funds will help
improve the fuel efficiency of the power plant, which is the
second largest in Kazakhstan, and reduce CO, emissions.
Against the backdrop of Kazakhstan's rapidly growing economy
and high energy demand, the government and the EBRD also
jointly developed a Sustainable Action Plan that will promote
energy conservation and efficiency measures.

Renewable energy forms part of the EBRD’s overall sustainable
energy drive and the Bank’s commitment in this area was
underlined in 2007 by investments totalling €60 million. The
EBRD ciosed its first direct investment in a renewable energy
project in central and eastern Europe since the countries in this
region started adopting specific renewable energy legislation.
The €54 million foan (€20 million of which was syndicated to

a commercial bank) to Vez Svoghe will finance the construction
of nine small hydro power plants along the river Iskar in Bulgaria.
The project builds on the Bank's considerable track record of
supporting the restructuring and development of the Bulgarian
energy sector where the Bank has to date financed projects

in excess of €2.5 billion.

runa l, whicn invests primarily In renewable energy, such as
wind, across central and eastern Europe, Financing from other
institutional investors, along with that of the EBRD, means that
contributions totalled €75 millicn in this first round of funding.

In 2007 the EBRD also continued to promote sustainable
energy projects in the poorest countries where it operates.

A €63 million loan was signed by the Bank to finance the
modernisation of the AzDRES thermal power plant, the largest
power plant in Azerbaijan, as well as a €1 million transaction
to support the construction and cperation of a small hydro
power project in Armenia.

Another area on which the EBRD maintained a strong focus

in 2007 was equity investments. For example, the Bank
committed €60 million for a stake in South Eastern Energy
Capital (SENCAP), a joint venture established to invest in

energy projects in south-eastern Europe, where inefficient

and underdeveloped energy infrastructure is hindering economic
growth. The Bank also signed agreements to acquire minority
stakes in two Romanian energy holding companies owned by

a strategic investor.

In addition to providing finance to individual projects, the Bank
seeks to participate in the wider reform of the power sector.
For example, the EBRD supports the establishment and
implementation of appropriate regulatory frameworks, which
can be subject to significant uncertainties throughout the
region. Within the scope of renewable energy, the EBRD is
preparing technical cooperation (TC) projects on the integration
of renewable energy into the grid system and the development
of legisiation in & number of countries, such as Bosnia and
Herzegovina. Bulgaria, Mongolia, Romania and Ukraine,
Beyond TCs, the Bank is widely involved in policy dialogue,

for example in Kazakhstan where it helped develop

renewable energy legislation,

Looking forward, the Bank's power strategy in 2008
and beyond will continue to focus on energy efficiency
improvements, regionalisation, privatisation, power
market restructuring and renewables.

EBRD funds will help improve
tuel efficiency at power
plants across the region.

Investment in renewable
energy scurces is a priority
for the EBRD.
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TGK-9, a company supplying power to
businesses and individuals in these
regions and headed since 2006 by 46-
year-old Andrei Makarov, is aware of the
immediate need to replace the oldest
and most polluting power stations with
modern units that are more reliable,
efficient and environmentally friendly.

TGK-9 is already partially privately owned
by Integrated Energy Systems (IES),

a Renova Group company holding over
50 per cent of shares. One of the largest
private Russian strategic investors in the
power sector, subject to IES becoming a
controlling shareholder in the company,
TGK-9 has heen fully privatised through
the sale of the government’s shares.

The EBRD has signed a share purchase
agreement to acquire a 5-12 per cent
stake in TGK-9, as part of the privatisation
process set in motion under the third and
final phase of the country’s power reform.
The investment of around 5.1 hillion
roubles (€140 million) wilt enable the
company to finance improvements that
will result in a 66 per cent increase in
electricity production and a 10 per cent
increase in heating provision. Though bills

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

may increase to recover investment, new
businesses will open and industry will be
able to expand — household bills are to be
regulated for the foreseeable future, |ES
President, Mikhail Slobodin, explained
that the agreement between the EBRD
and IES will help to raise the quality of
management and introduce progressive
corporate governance. Importantly, it will
also assist in the development of a
balanced environmental policy that will
underpin the growth of the generating
company. An Envircnmental and Social
Action Plan agreed with the company
includes specific corporate environmental
management requirements as well as
investments needed to attain Russian
and EU envircnmental standards.

For the EBRD, which has been involved
in the unbundling of the Russian power
sector since the start of its restructuring
in 2001, this is a milestone equity
transaction allowing the Bank to set a
standard for private investment in the
Russian power sector, said the EBRD's
Director of Power Energy Utilities team
Nandita Parshad.
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A landmark project in 2007 to support energy efficiency
was the €300 million investment in Severstal to back its
major drive to cut the energy consumption of its Russian
steelmaking operations. The project will have the added
environmental benefit of reducing the group’s CO»
emissions by around 900,000 tonnes a year.

The EBRD lent €150 million, and a further €150 miilion
was syndicated to comrmercial banks, which makes it the
largest energy efficiency project undertaken in Russia and
will help the country's leading steelmaker to reduce its
annual primary energy consumption by around 8 per cent.
Severstal is one of Russia's biggest energy consumers.

This is one of the largest energy efficiency investment
programmes ever undertaken by an industrial company
and the EBRD hopes it will send a clear signal to other
Russian energy-intensive companies that this is not only
a crucial issue worthy of focus, but also that accelerating
energy efficiency measures has a high return and is
commercially viable.

Measures to be financed by the EBRD loan include the
enhancement of Severstal's own etectricity-generating
capacity, the modernisation of the group’s oxygen plants
and the implementation of sophisticated energy
management systems.

The EBRD worked with
LUKOIL to implement a
long-term environmental
programme,

1ne panyk signimcantly increased 1ILs investments In sustainanle
energy, committing €934 million in 2007, compared to

€748 million in 2006. These investments were made within
the context of the Sustainable Energy Initiative (SEI), which was
launched in 2006 to increase investments in energy efficiency
and renewable energy and ensure that sustainable energy is
paramount across all EBRD projects. Of all sustainable energy
projects signed by the Bank in 2007, more than 60 per cent
were directed towards demand-side energy efficiency.

Bank staff made site visits to 36 manufacturing companies

to identify opportunities for energy efficiency investments,
including projects in Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, Croatia, Lithuania,
Poland, Serbia, Romania, Russia and Ukraine. The companies
visited covered a wide range of sectors, including large, heavily
energy-intensive industries such as steel making, energy
suppliers such as gas distributors and less energy-intensive
users such as food processing companies. Energy audits funded
from technical cooperation (TC) commitments from donors were
conducted in 18 of these companies.

One of the areas with most potential for energy savings is heavy
industry. A significant project signed in 2007 was for Russia's
largest steelmaker, Severstal, which is also one of the country’s
biggest energy consumers (see hox),

Another landmark project in 2007 was Enemona, a Bulgarian
construction and engineering company that became the first
dedicated Energy Service Company (ESCO) in the Bank’s region
for over 10 years. ESCOs specialise in energy efficiency projects
and organise the financing, install and maintain energy efficient
equipment and monitor the project’s energy savings. The EBRD
lent €7 million to the Bulgarian Fund for Energy and Energy
Savings to encourage private sector investors to develop ESCO
contracts in the industrial and public sectors, including schools,
hospitals and other municipal buildings. These ESCOQ contracts
will be implemented by Enemona.

The EBRD also promotes sustainable energy through

targeted credit lines to local banks. In 2007 the EBRD invested
€60 million in the Slovak Energy Efficiency Financing Framework,
Loans of €15 million each were made to four iocal banks to
on-lend to local enterprises and housing associations that wish
to carry out energy-saving measures, such as the insulation of
apartment blocks. The project also benefited from a €15 million
grant from the Bohunice International Decommissicning Support
Fund for technical assistance, energy audits, financial incentives
to sub-borrowers and administration fees to participating banks.

Mare than €130 million
supported the expansion
and modernisation of OKKO
petrol stations in Ukraine.
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dialogue, investrnent and institution building. In 2007
sustainable ene gy plans and policies were discussed
and developed with governments in Bulgaria, Hungary,
Kazakhstan, Lithuania, Romania and the Slevak Republic.

The Bank made 3o0d progress in 2007 developing the carbon
finance market in the countries where it invests. Governments
and private ente-prises can buy credits generated by energy-
saving projects to meet their own emissicn-reduction targets
under the Kyoto Protocol. It also creates additional finance
for those generating the credits to invest in other sustainable
energy projects.

To help develop 2missions trading, the EBRD and European
Investment Banlk {EIB) set up the Multilateral Carbon Credit

Fund (MCCF), wtich closed its first year of operation in 2007
with a fund size >f €190 million. The three carbon managers,
appointed from the private sector, signed carbon mandate
letters with com)xanies from a pipeline of EBRD-financed prgjects
that covers rene'wvable energy (especially hydro) and energy
efficiency in indu stry and power generation. These letters will

be converted into emission purchase agreements in 2008.

Natural resour::es

Suppeort for the environment, energy efficiency and sustainability
were the focus of the EBRD's investments in natural resources
in 2007.

The most significant project was a €102 million loan to LUKOIL
to help finance its long-term strategic environmental programme
to reduce pollution and save energy throughout its activities in
the countries wheare the EBRD invests. A further €102 million
was syndicated among commercial banks. The programme will
cover pipeline re slacement, gas flaring reduction, health and
safety improvemznts and energy efficiency, and is viewed as a
model for other companies to follow. The EBRD and syndicated
loans had tenors of 10 and seven years respectively, making
this one of the Icngest unsecured facilities ever arranged in
corporate Russiz.

The EBRD also provided debt and equity to Clean Globe
International, a Finnish company engaged in oil spill prevention
and clean-up operations. Clean Globe International is seeking

local resources and be supported by training on oil spill
prevention and waste management. They will be especially
beneficial in remote, climatically difficult or developing areas.

In the EBRD’s newest country of operations - Mongolia -
the Bank provided a €13.6 million loan to Mongolyn Ait
Corporation {(MAK), a medium-sized Mongolian coal mining
company. The financing will enable MAK to restructure its
balance sheet, introduce better management information
systems and increase production of cleaner, higher-quality
coal. Not only will this investment support the development
of the private sector in Mongolia, it will set new standards
in terms of transparency, good business practice and
environmental conduct.

In Romania, the EBRD assisted the national gas transmission
operator, Transgaz, in reducing carbon emissions. The project
was financed by an initial public offering, in which the Bank
participated as long-term investor. The project will be one of
the single largest carbon emission projects in Romania to date.
Over 10 years, the project may help to reduce over 3.5 million
tonnes of CO, emissions - equivalent to the annual emissions
from households in major cities such as Glasgow or Dlisseldorf,

In Ukraine, the EBRD invested in two natural resources

projects in 2007. First, the EBRD provided, jointly with the
International Finance Corporation, a €136 million syndicated
loan 1o Galnaftogaz to further support the modernisation and
expansion of its petrol station network in Ukraine, which will
increase private sector development and competition. Secondly,
a phased €11 million equity investment was made in Cadogan
Petroleum. The funds will be used to further explore and develop
existing 0il and gas fields in Ukraine and promote improvements
to technology and know-how by introducing new exploration and
production technologies.

Looking ahead, the EBRD will continue to invest in projects that
enhance energy efficiency and sustainability and promote the
security of energy supply, while continuing to ensure that the
highest standards of corporate governance, health and safety
and enviranmental practice are applied. The Bank will also

be looking to invest further in the more recently established
cil, gas and mining companies. By engaging with younger
companies, the EBRD ¢an incorporate its environmental
standards into projects at a much earlier stage of development.

The Bank significantly increased its

investments in sustainable energy,

committing €934 million in 2007.
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EBRD investment in infrastructure has helped to develop
clean water supplies, efficient district heating and reliable
transport networks. In 2007 the Bank continued to support
the decentralisation of services to the local level and private
sector involvement through public-private partnerships.
Russia and the poorer countries further south and east
remained a key focus.
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In 2007 the EBRD provided €318 million to finance projects
in municipal and environmenta! infrastructure (MEI), with an
additional €173 million provided through co-financing. This
helped to improve water supply, waste management, district
heating, natural gas distribution and urban public transport
in the Bank's countries of operations.

The EBRD continued to follow its policy of supporting
decentralisation, commercialisation and environmental
improvement, ensuring that the vast majority of financing was
provided without the need for state guarantees. Over 90 per cent
(€294 million) of the Bank's financing was in the private sector
or on a non-sovereign basis in the public sector. Approximately
45 per cent of finance in 2007 (€143 million} contributed to
reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Activities in 2007 focused increasingly on private sector
companies in south-eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine.

In addition, the EBRD signed its first municipal infrastructure
projects in Armenia, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro.

As part of its Sustainable Energy Initiative (SEl}, the Bank
extended its involvement in energy efficiency projects in the
municipal sector. In Russia the EBRD signed its first municipal
housing project — a 700 million rouble (€19.5 million} loan to
finance the construction of new municipal housing in Surgut,
western Siberia, that will be safer, warmer and 30 per cent more
energy efficient than the current, dilapidated apartment blocks
built in the 1960s and 1970s. The project has three aims: to
create energy efficient housing; involve the private sector in
construction and housing maintenance; and encourage residents
to get involved in the management of the buildings in which they
live. The EBRD hopes that the project’s structure and techniques
can be replicated in other parts of the country in a way that

will attract private sector involvement in the massive task of
refurbishing Russia's housing stock and creating a new and
economically sustainable base for its upkeep.

The Bank also.signed its first two equity investments in private
district heating companies operating in Russia and Ukraine.
The investment of almost €4 million in Taganrog District

sector participation in the district heating market. A similar
investment of €5 million was made in Lithuanian company
E-Energija to help it expand its operations in Ukraine and
suppert energy efficiency improvements in Latvia and Lithuania.
In both investments the EBRD will use its position on the board
of directors to encourage improvements in corporate governance
and sound business standards.

In the water sector, the EBRD invested up to €105 million in
Veolia Voda, with the aim of boosting the role of the private
sector in water and waste-water services, particularly in
Russia and Ukraine (see page 11).

In Bosnia and Herzegovina the EBRD provided €7 million to the
water authorities in Bijeljina, in the Republika Srpska, to help
reduce water pollution. A major loan for Montenegro was signed
that will provide reliable clean water from Lake Skadar to the
coastal cities to support the country’s growing tourism industry.
Armenia’s Lake Sevan will be protected through investments

in waste-water collection and treatment facilities under an
EBRD loan of €7 million.

The EBRD continued its municipal operations in Bulgaria through
the signing of two major regional projects. The loans were made
available to water companies in Stara Zagora (€9 million) and
Plovdiv (€11 million) to finance water supply and waste-water
infrastructure improvements. In Croatia the Bank supported

the recently formed Zagreb Holding, financing investments

in the water and waste-water sector.

In urban transport, the EBRD financed two major projects in
Kiev, Ukraine, to finance new metro trains, trams and buses.
Forty per cent of each loan is syndicated to commercial banks
(see page 50),

The Bank will strengthen its work with private sector operators
in 2008, particularly in Russia. The energy efficiency gains
achieved through social housing projects and district heating
modernisations will be further developed in line with the SEI.
The Bank will also continue to work with commercial banks
and mobilise donor support.

Investments in water
treatment facilities can
help encourage tourism,
for exampie at Lake Sevan
in Armenia,
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In 2007 the EBR J invested €623 million In transport
infrastructure in :he countries where it operates. Financing
was provided in aill the main transport sub-sectors, including
rail, aviation, roads, ports and shipping.

While the EBRD’s transport projects were widely distributed
across the transition region, Russia continued to receive a
significant share of the financing. At the same time the poorest
countries in which the Bank invests, such as Moldova and
Tajikistan, remained a key focus for the EBRD in this sector.

The Bank signed its first equity project in the Russian rail sector,

participating in tt e private placement of sharas in Transcontainer,

the container business of the state-owned Russian Railways,
Financing was alio provided to Inpromieasing, an independent
railcar leasing company in Russia, to increase the participation
of the private sector in the renewal of the railway rolling stock,
one of the key aims of the reforms. The EBRD also provided one
of a series of small loans to address emergency rail
infrastructure upjirading in Montenegro.

In aviation, Russian companies also benefited from significant
EBRD financing. 3trong demand for regional aircraft, reinforced
by the need to reew the fleet of domestic regional airlines, led
to EBRD support for the manufacturing and sale of a newly
developed regional passenger jet to be commercialised under
the “Superjet 100" brand. The EBRD also provided further
support to Russia’s first low cost airline, Sky Express.

A good road network to facilitate regional integration is essential
for economic devzlopment and competition, and the Trans-
European Network {TEN), which the Bank has been involved

in extending and upgrading, is a key part of this; for example,

in 2007 road proects to extend or upgrade TENs corridors in
Albania and Serb a benefited from EBRD investment.

€318 million

A geod road network is
essential for race - the
EBRD has invested in the
Trans-European Network
during 2007.

Public transport

infrastructure is important
for large cities such as Kiev,
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Case study

Putting public transport on track

The green sign with the big yellow
“M" and the bright blue trains have
characterised Kiev's metro network
for nearly 60 years. The system now
carries 600 million passengers a year
to 45 stations, servicing the city's
burgeoning population of 2.7 million.

A metro journey will cost you 0.50 Hryvnia
{€0.08 - unchanged since 2001) and,
although a new electronic ticketing system
is being imptemented, the beloved bright
plastic tokens are still in use.

Ukrainians are no less fond of their
capital's tram system, which carries,
along with buses and tralleybuses,

800 million people a year. Kiev’'s electric
tram system became the first in eastern
Europe when twe electric trams in the
American style arrived from Moscow in
1892 to run alongside the steam and
horse-drawn cars. They used so little
power and were so slow that it was
possible to get on and off while the
trams were in motion.

Although the transport system, which is
wholly owned by the city, is subsidised by
both city and state, it is in fact subsidised
less than many transport systems in
Europe and the United States. But
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in common with many of the clder
networks, it is overcrowded and out
of date, plagued by delays because
the buses, trolleybuses and trams
need frequent repairs.

Some passengers have been opting for
unregulated minibuses, noterious for
accidents and a cause of traffic jams
and environmental pollution. But the
metro system, which is reliable and
largely free from delays, now bears the
load of ground transport passengers
choosing fast, if crowded, travel.

So there is clearly a need for Kiev to
improve its public transport network and
to help it do so, the EBRD is providing
€100 million to Kiev Metropolitan
{(metro} and Kiev PasTrans (buses

and trolleybuses} in its first long-term
financing for municipal transport

in Ukraine,

The €40 million loan to Kiev Metropolitan
will finance up to 15 new trains for the
Syretsko-Pecherska, cr “green’. Line,

and a €60 million loan to Kiev PasTrans
will buy 225 new trolley-buses and up

to 125 diesel buses along with facilities
for repair and maintenance.

The idea is to encourage people out

of their cars by making public transport
services more energy efficient and
environmentaity friendly. This should
improve Kiev's air quality while providing
an efficient and reliable service

to commuters.

The new electronic ticketing system will
allow fares to be tailored to the journey
more accurately. It should be in place
by 2009 and will cost €27 million.

Technical cooperation funds from the
governments of Canada, Finland, France,
ttaly and the Netherlands have helped the
companies to prepare technical feasibility
studies, deveiop long-term business plans,
conduct financial audits and develop pilot
public service contracts between the city
and the companies.

Leonid Chernovetsky, Mayor of Kiev,

said the city's strong economy is a result
of good local businesses and growing
foreign investment, and to boost this
further the city needs to improve local
transport infrastructure. “The EBRD has
a good reputation for working with local
municipalities in central and eastern
Europe. and we want to build on that

to achieve our objectives,” he added.




Countries (E1C) tuna, through which the EBRD uses donor
funding to invest in the poorest of the Bank's countries of
operations. |t was the EBRD's first loan to the road sector
in Tajikistan and it allowed the Bank to initiate a dialogue
with the governr ent on sector reform.

Moldova is becoming increasingly importani as a border state
hetween the European Union and the countries further east
and so a good road network is vital. Therefore, in 2007 the
EBRD, atong with the EIB and the World Bank, provided financing
that will be usec¢ to not only upgrade the roads themselves,
but also to reforin road sector financing and improve the state
administrator's capacity to manage the road network and
execute works transparently and efficiently. This was the
second transpott project prepared under a Memorandum

of Understanding signed by the European Commission, the
EBRD and the E B in 2006 that facilitates the joint financing
of projects in Russia, eastern Europe, southern Caucasus
and Central Asia.

The EBRD provitled its first ipans for a project to modernise
| infrastructure ai the Port of Durres in Albania (co-financed

by the Europear Investment Bank and the Eurcpean Union)
and the Port of llichivsk in Ukraine (with TC support from the
European Union). The Bank also invested ir the Port of Ploée
in Croatia and in Russia's Rosmorport to help them operate
on a more commerciat basis. Some of the EBRD's key objectives
in this sector are to improve business planning, increase the
participation of ~he private sector and, in some instances,
address weakne sses in business conduct. In the shipping
sector, EBRD financing was provided to upgrade shipping
fleets in Ukraine,

The EBRD has particularly encouraged greater involvement of
the private sector through public-private partnerships (PPPs)
in Bulgaria, central Europe, Romania, Russia and the Western
Balkans. Furthermore, as governments' capacity to finance
large transport projects decreases, the EBRD will continue to
invest without racourse to sovereign guarantees - particularly
in Russia — and will support poorer countries such as those in
the Western Ba kans and other countries further east.

The EBRD has particularly encouraged
greater involvement of the private sector
through PPPs in Bulgaria, central Europe,
Romania, Russia and the Western Balkans.
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§l By investing in the corporate sector the EBRD is encouraging
" countries to'I rely less on oil and gas and to develop sectors
such as agrfbusiness, manufacturing, property and tourism,
and telecommunications. EBRD equity investments and loans
to enterprises, especially small businesses, help to create
jobs, promote good corporate governance and improve
environmental standards.
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totalling €517 million. Around three-quarters of these projects
invotved locally owned- or small enterprises, demonstrating the
Bank's commitment to businesses of all sizes. New projects
were spread across 16 countries of operations, with a continued
focus on countries at the early or intermediate stages of
transition to a market economy. A total of 19 projects for
€39 million were devoted to the Bank's early transition
countries in 2007.

Of these 19 projects, two were in Mongolia, the newest country
to benefit from EBRD investment. A €1.5 million loan - the first
in the corporate sector — to non-alcoholic beverage producer
Nomun will help the company to expand and introduce new
technology, as well as achieve best practice in corporate
governance. The EBRD also invested in equity in Monkhangai
Group, which owns Minii Delguur, the country’s largest
supermarket chain. This first investment in Mongolia's retail
sector will support the group’s expansion with the construction
of two new hypermarkets in Ulaanbaatar, providing consumers
with a greater variety of competitive and affordable products

in a hygienic environment.

Another local company to benefit from EBRD financing in 2007
was the Victoria Group, Serbia’s largest private agribusiness
company, which obtained a €45 million loan to purchase
agricultural commodities and improve energy efficiency at

its production facilities. This is the Bank's first project within
the agribusiness sector in Serbia to contain a specific energy
efficiency component, as well as being the largest loan so

far given to a private company in Serbia.

The loan is being offered to two subsidiaries of Victoria Group:
Victoria Oil and Sojaprotein. Victoria Qil produces edible oil and
it opened the first bio-diesel production facility in Serbia in July
2007. Sojaprotein is Serbia’s largest soy processing company
and works with over 400 cooperatives and 40,000 farmers.
The project is an important part of the Bank's strategy to
promote the wider use of commodity-based lending, which
uses agricultural products as collateral.

In light of global rises in food prices, in 2007 the EBRD focused
on initiatives supporting sectors in or closely linked to primary
agriculture. For example, the EBRD provided a €10 million loan
to a Ukrainian primary agricultural producer Agroinvest, part of
MK Group, one of the main agribusiness operators in Europe
(see page 55).

Also in Ukraine, the EBRD acquired a stake in one of the
country's largest cheese producers, Shostka City Milk
Factory, which is owned by one of the world’s leading branded
cheese manufacturers, the French group Bel. The investment
programme includes factory modernisation and production
capacity expansion. At the same time technical assistance
for a consulting project looked at reducing milk production
seasonality and improving quality by encouraging farmers

to share milking facilities,
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Organization of the United Nations (FAQ) and the World Bank.
Marked increases in worldwide food prices during the year
provided the impetus for the EBRD to widen its policy dialogue
initiatives during 2007, including setting up discussions between
senior government officials and leaders of industry. In addition,
the Bank mobilised technical cooperation (TC) funds to embark
on analyses of various agribusiness sub-sectors, such as looking
at ways to increase output and improve the guality of sunflower
seeds produced in Kazakhstan.

Policy dialogue has been a priority for the EBRD in light of these
price rises and the Bank promotes investment to enhance
agricultural yield rather than introducing controls and tariffs,
which risk reversing many transition reforms,

The EBRD will continue to work with international, regional and
locally owned agribusiness companies to meet the needs of its
clients and respond to market changes. The Bank will continue
to support agribusiness projects in all countries where it invests
but will pay particular attention to Kazakhstan, Russia, Ukraine
and the early transition countries.

Manufacturing

In 2007 the EBRD increased its activity in the manufacturing

sector. It broadened the range of industries in which it signed

projects, including steel and metal production, textiles, wood,

electrical equipment, motor vehicles and pharmaceuticals.

Both the number of operations and the volume invested [
increased by almost 20 per cent, to 42 projects for €842 million
in 2007, compared to 36 operations and €715 million in 2006.

The vast majority of this investment went to projects in
Russia (€526 million}, Kazakhstan (€110 million) and Ukraine
(€88 million), accounting for 63 per cent, 13 per cent and

10 per cent respectively. The remaining 14 per cent was
invested in nine countries, including Albania, Armenia,
Azerbaijan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Georgia,
Hungary, Poland and Uzbekistan.

Approximately half of all EBRD investments in manufacturing
went to the steel and metal production sector. In Russia, the
Bank lent €40 million to the country's biggest pipe producer
ChTPZ to finance the construction of a new mini-mill at
Pervouralsk. The mill will have a capacity of 950,000 tonnes
per year and use energy efficient, low emissions technologies.

As part of the EBRD’s commitment to financing projects with a
strong environmental impact, the Bank provided the equivalent
of €40 million in long-term financing to support the growth and
restructuring of Kagazy Recycling, which uses waste paper to
produce paper products for sale in Kazakhstan. Kazakhstan
has limited forest resources and imports most paper products.
The funds will be used to install new equipment to more than
double paper production from 40,000 tonnes a year to
85,000 tonnes by 2012.
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Maximiging investmen's in agribusiness

Ukraine, once Ule bread basket of the
Soviet Union, h3s over 36 million hectares
of fertile soil and the best quality land

in Europe. Thats why Agroinvest, an
cifshoot of the perbian company MK
Group, is increaging its investment there.

ave enormous culturat
resonance in UYraine. Bread itself is an
object of reverefce and the Lkrainian
word for grain —|'zbizhzhia” - is translated
as the “totatity ¢f divinity” Agroinvest, |
which currently farms 45,500 hectares
of leased land i} Ukraine, has had to
tread carefully: foreign companies are
not yet allowed o buy land here, though
this is expectedito change in 2008,

Land and grain

The company wds founded by current
Chairman Miodrjg Kosti¢ in 1989 with |
only five employges. It now produces
210,000 tonnes|of sugar a year and

is expanding fast. Not least hecause *
of EBRD financing.

The Bank is providing a €10 million loan
to Agreoinvest to develop a modern grain
storage facility with a capacity of more

| than 100,000 tonnes ta be built in

Jagotin outside Kiev by Polish engineering
company ARAJ. This is the biggest foreign
investment outside the Ukrainian capital
{0 date and will make use of know-how
and a proven irack record from Serbia

to create an energy-efficient enterprise
on Ukrainian soil.

Essentially, it will mean that Agroinvest
will be abte 1o store, dry and handle

its own grain, and that of third parties,
enabling the company to provide the
quality of grain required by the market —
for example sugar beet for Nordzucker,
a German company already in partnership
with MK Group in Serbia, and sunflower
seeds for domestic and international
edible oil companies, as well as com
and wheat,

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

At the moment only 10 per cent of existing
silos in Ukraine are in an acceptable
condition and so, to farm efficiently,
Agroinvest needs its own. With the new
facilities Agroinvest plans to increase to
200,000 hectares over the next few years.

"The EBRD is the only financial investor

in Agroinvest's first storage facility in
Ukraine, which has the potential to
bhecome one of the largest and most
modern cnes in Ukraine. This investment
is of immense local importance in
terms of the johs it will help create,
the incentives it will provide to workers
and the social environment that it will
help to improve. The loan will also help
us compete better with other leading
agribusiness companies in Ukraing
and help the further development of
primary agriculture,” said Zeljko Erceg.
CEQ of Agroinvest.
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A typical example of the manufacturing projects the EBRD
is supporting is the reconstruction and modernisation of

a brick plant in Bulgaria. in 2007 the Bank extended 3

€6.8 million loan to the company Wienerberger Bulgaria
which wili use the proceeds to reconstruct and modernise
its brick piant at Lukovit, 120 kilometres north-east of Sofia.

Wienerberger will target the Bulgarian brick market with
locally produced bricks where demand is high and production
50 far is insufficient. The company will offer high-quality
products, and plans to gradually increase output and market
share in the coming years.

The plant will have an annual production capacity of more
than 150 million standard brick units and will primarily
produce high insulating Porotherm hollow bricks. The
majority of the production volume is expected to go into
residential construction.

The project will bring modern technology to the Bulgarian
brick sector and increase efficiency, quality and reliability.
It will alse enhance competition and transfer skills and
know-how to a local company, thus benefiting the

whole sector.

Wienerberger Bulgaria is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Wienerberger AG, one of the world's largest producers
of bricks.

wiolodilL, LHNG lalfgeol FLNHSIT HalWiablulcr alld QisSHnouLor Of
bathroom fittings and ceramic tiles. The loan will be used to
finance the establishment of greenfield production facilities

of sanitary ware and ceramic tiles in Novograd Volinskiy, in
Zhytomyr region of Ukraine. The transfer of skills and know-how
to the local building materials sector should have a strong
demonstration effect in central Ukraine, which is suffering
from unemployment and a lack of investment.

Another project with a strong demonstration effect in 2007
is the construction of a greenfield Volkswagen factory in
Kaluga, western Russia (see page 12), whereby a reputable
foreign strategic investor will have a positive influence

on the restructuring and modernisation of the Russian
automotive industry,

Equity investments are a good way for the Bank to encourage
good corporate governance and sound business practices
through its position on supervisory hoards. In Bulgaria, for
example, the EBRD made an equity investment of €8 million

in pulp producer Svilosa, and in Russia the Bank invested
almost €3.5 million in VYSO, a provider of corrosion protection
services for metal and concrete structures near Yekaterinburg.
The funds, which are part of a larger investment programme of
up to €8 million, will help the company to expand and develop
new corrosion protection materials, such as fireproofing for oil
and gas platforms.

Property and tourism

The EBRD more than doubled its investments in property and
tourism projects, committing €427 million to new projects.
Most of the funding in 2007 (68 per cent} was in the form
of equity in property funds. The geographical focus of these
investments continued to shift from central Europe to the
south and east. The Bank signed projects in Georgia, the
Kyrgyz Republic, Romania, Russia, Serbia and Ukraine,

The majority of projects in 2007 spanned more than one country
as most of the financing was committed to property funds and
joint ventures that plan to invest across the new markets of

the Caucasus, Central Asia, the Russian regions and Ukraine.

In these types of projects, the Bank assumes an important

role as anchor investor, helping the sponsor to attract third-party
investment. Other pariners are investing for the first time in a
particular region and gain comfort from the Bank's involvement
as a co-investor.

Wienerberger's highly
insulating Porotherm
bricks will help improve
energy efliciency in
Bulgarian homes.

Romania’s first automated
postal sorting centre will
be built with help from
the EBRD.
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e Bank s Involvemeant supportis the development o1 secondary
markets, which helps to increase liquidity and encourage equity
investors and developers to expand their participation in the
knowledge tha: they have a reliable exit route.

One of the mout significant projects signed by the EBRD in 2007
was a commitrient of €£€52.6 million to GS Hotels and Resorts
{(GSHR), a leading Croatian hospitality group. The International
Finance Corporation {IFC) also provided €39.5 million. The
financing will b= used to develop and expand hotels owned
and managed hy GSHR. The investment will also provide
GSHR, which has been a pioneer in helping Croatia recover
from conflict and transform into a premier tourist destination,
with sufficient financial depth to export its experience to
neighbouring cauntries, such as Bosnia and Herzegovina,

FYR Macedoniiy and Montenegro.

One of the largest regional projects signed by the EBRD in 2007
was an investment of €60 million in EPG East Euro Asia Property
Fund, which has a solid track record of property development in
the Czech Republic. The Fund will invest up to €300 million in
institutional property developments in Russia, its neighbouring
countries and south-eastern Europe, focusing purely on property
development rather than acquisitions. The Fund will help to
introduce new nvestors to these markets and meet the need
for new properiy developments.

The EBRD made its first property sector investment in Georgia,
providing €39 million to support the Georgian Reconstruction
and Development Company {GRDC) in its programme to bring
international standards to commercial property projects in Thilisi.

Further investrnient in the south and east, and an increase
in equity investments are expected to continue in 2008 and
beyond. Regior al funds and co-investment programmes will
continue to plas an important role in the development of the
sector, so long as strong market appetite remains.

Telecommunications and new media

In 2007 the EBRD invested €156 million in telecommunications
and new mediz projects, of which €27 million went to equity
funds. A further €72 million came from syndicated funding.
The EBRD's projects helped to advance the transition to a
market economy by promoting the regional expansion of
telecommunication networks, the development of independent
media and the astablishment of funds to accelerate growth

in technology.

The EBRD undertook its first postal project by providing

a €50 million loan to Posta Romana, the national postal
operator in Romania. As part of a comprehansive modernisation
programme, the country’s first automated sorting centre

will be built in Elucharest, with the refurbishment of another
centre in Cluj.

10 roll out new WiIVIAA TeCNNOIDEY 10 ENlerprises ana consumers
in a number of new cities in the Russian regions.

Cable television operators also attracted EBRD investment in
2007. In Moldova, the Bank provided SUN Communications,
a key local cable TV and internet operator, with a €5 million
financing package to support its ongoing modernisation

and expansion programme. In Ukraine, the EBRD invested
€15 million in Qisiw Limited to support the build-out of cable
networks in regional Ukraine and strengthen the company

to become the key competitor to the state-owned fixed
telecoms operator.

Mobile operators also benefited from EBRD finance. A €10 miliion
equity investment in Bite Lietuva, a leading mobile telephony
company in Lithuania and Latvia, will help the company to expand
its regional operations and launch a service in Estonia. The
EBRD also extended a €24 million loan to KaR-Tel in Kazakhstan
to meet demand for its 3G services in the country’s regions,
thus promoting the development of regional commerce.

In the media sector, Central European Media Enterprises {CME),
the leading television broadcasting group in central and eastern
Europe, received a €50 million loan from the EBRD to upgrade
and extend its studios in Romania and Ukraine, which will
support local TV production companies, as well as acquire
additional operating licences. The EBRD also provided over
€400,000 to Shant, an independent TV channel in Armenia,

to invest in more advanced technology to strengthen its
position in the sector.

To stimulate growth in technology, the Bank invested in various
equity funds devoted to technology innovation. For example it
invested €10 million in NEVEQ, a fund focusing on investments
in the software and IT services sector in Bulgaria and Romania.
The Bank also made a €17.5 million equity investment in VTB
Venture Capital Fund, a closed-end mutual fund in Russia,

to invest in companies developing innovative technologies.

At the policy level, the EBRD continued to work closely with
telecoms regulators and policy-makers, using grant funding

to support policy development, legal reform, regulatory
implementation and the privatisation process in Kazakhstan,
the Kyrgyz Republic, Mongolia, Serbia {including Kosovo) and
Tajikistan. Through workshops with communications ministries
in the early transition countries, progress was made in
developing long-term information and communication
technologies (ICT) policies and regional cooperative projects.

Looking forward, the Bank will continue to shift its focus towards
investing in media projects, including digital media and content
delivery systems, information technoicgy and ICT services.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 57




08

SN TN
_ J/\U/..\_\\y..'_ s

//(\\: SN / .
A LY M :

AN AN
NN

N

- \ N _,:"\\
e N\l Y /J
SCEARNG
Q) A\\ //
A /m\/”\.‘.- ‘: /f\\ /f“\\ //\\
\\‘: \SNS /A \V/ \\’,

Grants provided by donor governments and co-financing with
other international finance institutions help to prepare the
way for EBRD projects and allow clients to benefit from expert
advice. Donor support for high priority initiatives such as the
Sustainable Energy Initiative, the Western Balkans Fund and
the Early Transition Countries Initiative enabled the Bank to
increase activities in 2007, focusing on sustainable energy,

infrastructure and lending to small businesses.
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€89.9 million
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funds dedicated to the Sustainable Energy Initiative (SEl) were
established and a new technical cooperation (TC) fund provided
by the Czech Repubtic was created. Hungary joined the EBRD
donor community in 2007, bringing the number of active

donor countries to 26. Official co-financing with the European
Investment Bank {EIB) and other international financial
institutions continued to enhance the EBRD's successful
investments in its countries of operations.

As in previous years, most funding provided by donors was used
hy the EBRD for TC activities that prepare the way for future
EBRD-financed projects and improve the investment climate

in the Bank's countries of operations. Donor grants allow the
Bank to hire experts who help to develop the know-how of EBRD
clients. Priority sectors for the Bank include micro and small
business development, sustainable energy and energy efficiency,
infrastructure services and improving the institutional framework.

In 2007 the EBRD signed grant agreements with donors
totalling €89.9 million for TC and official co-financing activities,
mostly in the form of new agreements (€52.2 million) but also
through the replenishment of existing funds (€36.7 million).

In line with previous years, the largest contribution was
provided by the European Union (€33 million) while an
increasing proportion was channelled through muiti-donor
funds {€26 million}. Additional grants were mobilised for
specific investment projects.

Total funding committed for new TC projects amounted to
€98.2 million in 2007. This represents an increase of almost a
third on the level of commitments in 2006, reflecting the Bank’s
increased activities, especially in the less advanced countries —
the early transition countries (ETCs) - and the Western Balkans.
These regions received €25 million and €20 million respectively
in funding commitments for TC projects. At the same time,

TC commitments for Ukraine reached €7.8 million in 2007
(compared with €6.6 million in 20086).

TC assistance 10 the new EU member states amounted to

€17 million and focused on providing finance to micro, small
and medium-sized enterprises (MSMEs) as well as supporting
sustainable energy projects. In Russia, €18 million supported
the development of smalf businesses and the strengthening of
infrastructure and environmental projects, particularly through
the Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership (NDEFP).

in Belarus, Kazakhstan, Turkmenistan and Ukraine, €13 million
of TC funds were dedicated to providing assistance to small and
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Hungary joined the EBRD
doner community in 2007,
bringing the number of active
donor countries to 26,

The muiti-donor ETC Fund
continued 1o help the
paoresi countries where
the Bank operates.
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The EBRD pays particular attention to sustainable energy and

by the end of 2207 investments in this area reached €1.7 billion.
This means the original three-year target set out by the SE| of
€1.5 billion has been achieved within two years, The Bank will
continue to scele up sustainable energy investment in the
coming years.

The support thz SEl receives from donors is crucial as it enables
the EBRD to promote and develop sustainable energy projects

in its countries of operations. In particutar, the EBRD signed
agreements with donors totalling €33 million for TC activities

in 2007. So fa- 15 countries (Austria, Canada, Denmark,
Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, the
Netherlands, Sipain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taipei China and

the United Kin;zdom), the European Union and two multilateral
funds have coinmitted funds to SEl-related projects.

One of the Bank’s most significant donor funds, the Early
Transition Countries (ETC) Fund, continued to coordinate donor
assistance to :he Bank's poorest countries of operations —
Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, the Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova,
Mongolia, Tajikistan and Uzbekistan. Contributing countries to
the Fund are Canada, Finland, Ireland, Japan, Luxembourg, the
Netherlands, Horway, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taipei China
and the United Kingdom. Pledges for technical assistance more
than tripled from €14.7 million in 2004 to reach €44.3 million
by the end of 2007, complemented by adcitional grant
co-financing o° €5 million from the Netherlands.

After one year of operations, the multilateral Western Balkans
Fund is well-e;stablished as a significant instrument for funding
technical assistance and investment co-financing assignments
across the We:stern Balkans (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina,
FYR Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia). In 2007, Hungary
joined the Furd as the 15th contributing donor and the Czech
Republic, Norway and Sweden provided replenishments.
Total pledges have reached more than €20 million {including

a €2 million ¢cantribution for investment ¢o-financing grants).
About €4.5 million of that has been approved as grant support
for more than 25 projects across a wide range of sectors

in all countries in the Western Balkans.

Most of the funding in 2007 went towards lending to micro

and small enterprises, infrastructure and support for small
businesses. “he Western Balkans Fund will continue to support
critical domestic and regional infrastructure projects as well as
further develop the financial sector, improve advisory services
to SMEs and enhance municipal services.

which ltaly inttially contributed €12 milion. [he aim has been
to provide mainly loan and equity financing to promising SMEs
in the region. In October 2007 Italy replenished the facility with
a further contribution of €7 million (including co-investment
financing and TC funding) and the overall amount of the LEF
now stands at €65 million.

Crucial support for EBRD initiatives in the Western Balkans also
comes from the European Union through the European Agency
for Reconstruction, mostly in the form of TC funds.

Another initiative strongly supported by donor funding is the
Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership (NDEP), which
addresses environmental problems in the Northern Dimension
Area, north-west of Russia in particular {(see page 65). The most
pressing issues relate to water, waste-water, solid waste, energy
efficiency and nuclear waste. The NDEP receives funding from
Belgium, Canada, Denmark, the European Union, Finland,
France, Germany, the Netherlands, Norway, Russia, Sweden
and the United Kingdom. At the end of 2007, donor funding
stood close to €243 million. An NDEP grant of €10 million was
signed in 2007 between the EBRD and the Russian water utility
in Kaliningrad. The grant will help to finance the construction

of a waste-water treatment plant, modernise sewage collection
and upgrade pumping stations.

In addition to TC funding provided by donor governments, public
sector institutions work alongside the EBRD to provide official
co-financing for investment projects. This amounted to just
under €1 billion in 2007, and is mainly in the form of loans,
with smaller amounts in the form of grants and other types

of participation (€377 million came from the EIB in the form

of loans and guarantees). Official co-financing has been
provided for SME support and development, for municipal

and environmental infrastructure projects and for the
development of modern transportation networks.

Of this amount, €61.3 million was provided in grants mainly for
projects in central Europe. A total of €12.6 million was provided
for investment grants, covering three infrastructure projects

in Albania, Georgia and Serbia. These grants were provided

by the European Union and the US Millennium Challenge
Corporation. Grant support {from the European Union and two
decommissioning support funds, to which the European Union
is also a major donor) totalling €48.7 million was also provided
for energy efficiency finance facilities in central Europe. These
facilities provide loans to enterprises and individuals to help
them reduce energy usage in their businesses and homes.

The NDEP addresses
environmental issues,
especially those related
Lo waste-water treatment,
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Case study
2rometing gotato proguction in Kosovo

If you are eating crisps in Kosovo they
could well be Vipa crisps, made at

Mr Bedri Kosumi's Pestova potato
processing plant. One of Kosovo's few
exporters, he was hit hard by the conflict
in 1999, but resumed production in 2000
and has now expanded with the help of a
£1.9 million investment from the EBRD

in return for a 33 per cent stake in

the company.

Pestova's products already include frozen,
half-fried vacuum-packed potatoes. whole

fresh potatoes and its famous Vipa crisps.

but the new funds will mean Pestova

can expand the business and increase
exports. It will have a new frozen potato
processing line, including machinery for
making French fries. more room for potato
crops. increased production of potato
seeds, a new warehouse and machinery
for packaging.

All this was made possible by the
EBRDs TurnAround Management (TAM)
and Business Advisory Services (BAS)
Programme. Already a TAM/BAS
beneficiary. Pestova officially signed
the new agreement with the EBRD in
October last year. marking the Bank's
first equity transaction in Kosovo since
the establishment of the UN mandate
in 1999.

Over the preceding two years Pestova
had received technical assistance from
the TAM Programme. An adviser worked
with local consultants to put together a
comprehensive business plan to work out
what the company nceded in terms of
investment and to start the negotiations
with the EBRD-Italy Western Balkans
Local Enterprise Facility that resulted

in October's groundbreaking deal.

The TAM team advised Pestova 10
specialise in manufacturing crisps
and recommended exporting to FYR
Macedonia — the first deliveries were
made to Skopje in May 2007. They
suggested buying financial and
management accounting software to
produce a balance sheet complying
with international accounting standards.
They also strongly recommended
recruiting a permanent accountant,

Another key team proposal was to create
Kosovo's first ventilated potato storage
centre and. with the help of the Dutch
company Agrico and the approval of the
Kosovao Ministry of Agriculture, the first
certified potato seed production process
in the country. With a benchmark
business model and an intensive training
programme (joined by 45 farmers who
provide poiatoes for Pestova) the

TAM team helped to put potato crisp
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production into action so that Vipa
crisps now represent 17 per cent of the
domestic market and are equal in quality
to any imported brands.

Bernard Jouglard, the TAM team senior
adviser, describes the company’s
evolution as “spectacular” Before TAM
involvement, Jouglard says. the Pestova
operation was purely agricultural.
“it has quickly become a fully industrial
company.” he said.

Now contracts for gearly potatoes have
been signed with Albanian farmers and
thanks to the 800-tonne ventilated
storage facilities and the contracts for
garly crops, the processing workshop
is guaranieed supplies all year round.

Claudio Viezzoli. EBRD Director for

the Western Balkans. said the project
demonstrates that even small but
profitable and well-managed companies
with a strong commitment to corporate
governance and a good business plan can
benefit from EBRD financing. As no other
investors offer equity financing for local
SMEs in Kosovo, this transaction is
expected to encourage other dynamic
local companies to seek innovative
financing. which witl contribute to

the growth of the underdeveloped

local econgmy,



To help local private enterprises adapt to the demands of a
market econormry, the Bank makes use of two donor-funded
programmes: TirnAround Management (TAM) and Business
Advisory Services (BAS). While TAM focuses on broader
managerial anci structural changes within smali and medium-
sized enterpris2s (SMEs), bringing in Western executives to
help managemznt teams learn new business skills, BAS uses
local consultar ts to help micro and small businesses improve
performance. The TAM/BAS Programme is now fully integrated
into the EBRD’3 mainstream activities, maxing it a key element
of EBRD suppuort for smalf businesses and initiatives supporting
the early transition countries and the Western Balkans.

In 2007 the TAM/BAS Programme mobilised over €15 million
in donor fundir g and, for the first time, an additional €4.7 million
in funding frorn the EBRD to be used for BAS programmes

in 13 countries. Since its inception in 1993, the TAM/BAS
Programme has mobilised over €162 million from donors in
over 20 countries, the European Union (which is the largest
single donor), and various multilateral funds and initiatives.

In 2007, TAM started over 120 prgjects, rainly in the Western
Balkans, Ceniral Asia and the Caucasus. BAS started nearly
850 projects, most of which were in the early transition countries.
Recently, BAS also initiated a new programme in Tajikistan and
opened an additional office in Karakol in the Kyrgyz Republic.
Approximately 650 consultants were engaged in all projects that
were started n 2007. The BAS programme was assessed by the
EBRD's Evaluation Department and was rated as “Successful.”

BAS experts and consultants are adie 10 provide aavice prior
to EBRD financing and over 100 enterprises have been referred
by TAM/BAS to EBRD banking teams and various EBRD-
supported equity firms. In addition, TAM/BAS consultants

have been recommended for industrial due diligence or other
investment-related consulting services.

The TAM/BAS Programme is at the forefront of business
development in the EBRD region. In October 2007 a new
strategy for 2008-10 was approved. It envisages the Programme
extending into regions where intensive support is needed for
micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (MSMESs) - in
particular in rural areas of Russia and Ukraine. The Bank is
looking to deepen the Programme by improving its accounting
of transition impact, which is the key principle governing the
Bank’s project activities. Market development activities, such
as training for MSMEs and consultancies, and the sustainability
of advisory services through institutional strengthening will be
of particular focus. TAM and BAS will also further its support

to relevant local Institutions and contribute to policy dialogue
between the EBRD and governments.

In addition, TAM and BAS will further expand its activities
along pressing issues such as energy efficiency, environmental
protection, gender equality, rural development and fostering
young entrepreneurship.

The TAM/BAS Programme is now fully
integrated into the EBRD’s mainstream
activities, making it a key element of
EBRD support for small businesses.
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Major work continues to ensure the environmental safety

of the Chernobyl nuclear reactor. In 2007 these efforts paid
off with the signing of two contracts to enclose a destroyed
unit and complete the construction of a spent nuclear fuel
storage facility. Measures to reduce environmental and
security risks posed by the legacy of the Soviet Northern
Fleet were also revealed in the Strategic Master Plan,
which was finalised in 2007.
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capacity from the decommissioned nuclear plants. Credit lines
to support energy efficiency measures and sources of renewable
energy, first introduced in Bulgaria with the help of the Kozloduy

construction — that will safely enclose the destroyed unit 4
of the Chernokyl Nuclear Power Plant; and a second contract
for the completion of a spent fuel storage facility.

The signing of the first contract for the new safe confinement
concluded a thorough process that involved numerous
Ukrainian and international experts and independent advisers
assisting EBRP and the donor community. The contract, which
is worth over 450 million, is the single largest under the
Shelter Implemnentation Plan (SIP), which is estimated to cost
around €1 billion. Implementation of the S|P is financed by the

Chernobyl She:lter Fund, a donor-supported fund administered by
the EBRD on behalf of 29 governments and the European Union.

Once completed, the new safe confinement will keep water out
and prevent contaminated dust from escaping. It will also act
as a safe woring environment for future dismantling and waste
management activities. The structure will be designed to last
at least 100 vears,

The other cortract, which is financed by the donor-funded
Nuclear Safe"y Account (NSA), is for an interim dry storage
facility for sp2nt fuel from units 1, 2 and 3, currently stored
in conditions that are inadequate for the iong term and that

prevent thes: facilities from being decormmissioned. The Holtec

consortium, which was awarded the contract, will use existing
buildings ancl concrete storage units that were built under a
previous contract to process and then store spent fuel for 100
years. Donors to the NSA approved funding of the design phase
for this project, which in total could cost over €150 million.

International decommissioning support

Work in the International Decommissioning Support Funds
(IDSFs) cont nued in 2007 in line with the programmes approved
by donors. The IDSFs assist Bulgaria, Lithuania and the Slovak
Republic with the decommissioning and early closure of their
Chernobyl-type or other first generation, Soviet-designed
nuclear power plants.

Projects supporting the decommissioning of the designated
power plants — Bohunice V1, Ignalina and Kozloduy 1-4 -
such as facilities and equipment for the management of
radioactive waste and spent fuel, are well developed and
heing implemented.

IDSF, are being replicated in many of the Bank’s other countries
of operations. For example, in 2007 such a facility was created
in the Slovak Republic where it received grant support from the
Bohunice IDSF.

In Lithuania the procurement process for a new 400 MW

combined cycle, gas-fired plant at Elektrine was launched.
Donors to the Ignalina IDSF have approved for 2007-10 a

€260 million contribution towards completion of the new

facility, as well as the upgrade of existing units.

In 2008 the second reactor of Bohunice V1 in the Slovak
Republic will be shut down, leaving Ignalina 2 in Lithuania
as the remaining first generation, Soviet-designed plant in
the European Union. It will close in 2009.

Since their establishment in 2001, the three IDSFs have so
far received in excess of €1.2 billion from the European Union
and 16 donor governments. The European Union is overall the
single largest contributor.

Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership

The donor-funded Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership

(NDEP), which is administered by the EBRD, reached a crucial
milestone in 2007 with the completion of the Strategic Master
Plan. The Plan provides a comprehensive overview of how to deal
with the nuclear, radiological and environmental risks posed
by the legacy of the Soviet Northern Fleet in north-west Russia.
Donors to the NDEP, including Russia, have praised the Plan
as an invaluable tool to coordinate ongoing programmes and

to decide on further assistance.

Two projects covered by the Plan involve the decommissioning
of the heavily contaminated, abandoned spent fuel store at
Andreeva Bay, and the defuelling and decommissioning of the
former service ship Lepse, which contains damaged spent fuel
and radioactive waste and is moored in Murmansk. The costs
of these operations are likely to exceed €60 million.

Contracts were signed for
a new safe confinement
and spent fuel storage

at Chernobyl in 2007.

Decommissioning of
spent fuel at Andreeva
bay in Russia.
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; Some 85 per cent of the EBRD’s projects evaluated in 2007
,’-' had an “Excellent-Satisfactory” impact on the transition

A process. A total of 58 per cent of projects evaluated since
1996 received overall performance ratings of “Successful”
or “Highly Successful”
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IME EBRU S dClVILIE: are evaluaicd 10 estlablisn now well 1ney
meet their objectives and the extent to which they comply with
the Bank’'s mandate. The EBRD draws on the lessons learned to
improve the selection and design of future operations. Projects
are assessed usually one to two years after full disbursement,
once investment has been completed. The impact of EBRD
projects on the transition process is assessed by the Bank's
Evaluation Department (EvD}, which is independent of the
EBRD’s banking operations. The Chief Evaluator, who heads the
Department, reports exclusively to the Bank’s Board of Directors.

Impact on the transition process

EvD reviews the impact of EBRD projects on a particular sector
and on the economy as a whole. The criteria for determining

a project’s impact on the transition process are the same as
those applied during the project selection and approval stage.
Some of the key indicators include the degree to which the project
promotes privatisation, develops skills, encourages competition
and supports market expansion. Other key considerations
include whether the project supports institutional reform,
improves the functioning of markets, acts as a model for

other projects and sets new standards in business conduct

and governance.

Since 1996, EvD has assessed 574 projects. Of these,
55 per cent achieved a transition impact rating of “Good”
or “Excellent” and a further 23 per cent were assessed
as “Satisfactory” Chart 1 shows the annual evaluation
results from 1996 to 2007.

Chart 1
Transition impact ratings
of EBRD projects 1996-2007
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wItn tne cutcomes seen since LUUS, and compares with the
period 1997-2002, which saw higher numbers of projects
rated “Marginal-Negative? Over this same period there has
been a steady improvement in the number of projects rated
“Excellent’ which has continued in 2007.

This may be partly due to the diminishing impact of the Russian
financial crisis of 1998. Projects evaluated at the turn of this
century may have been affected by the fall-out from the Russian
crisis, which damaged the sustainability of some private sector
projects and prevented them from realising their full potential,

Projects evaluated in the last couple of years, particularly in
the private sector, were mainly approved after those events
and may not have faced the same difficulties. It is noticeable
that ratings improved strongly between 2001 and 2004 and
have levelled off a little since then.

The share of projects with an “Excellent-Satisfactory”
transition impact rating in 2007 was 85 per cent. Chart 2
shows cumulative results for transition impact of projects
evaluated since 1996. It reveals that the positive scores
for transition impact are stable at a relatively high level of
between 75 and 80 per cent.

Chart 2
Cumnulative transition impact ratings
of EBRD projects 1996-2007
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Special study
Early Transition Countries Fund

The Evaluation Department undertook a special study

to assess th e performance so far of the Early Transition
Countries (ETC} Fund since its inception in November 2004,
The ETC Fur d forms part of the Bank's wider ETC Initiative,
which aims "0 promote the transition to market-oriented
econgmies aind alleviate poverty in the poorest countries

in which it oserates. The Fund uses commitments from
donors for teechnical assistance in Armenia, Azerbaijan,
Georgia, the Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Mongolia,

Tajikistan ar d Uzbekistan.

The evaluation focuses on two levels: first, overall
governance and management arrangements, and secondly
specific actisities to identify achievements to date and
emerging lessons that can be incorporated in the future,

At this early stage of the Fund's existence it has been
rated “Suceassful” It has had a promising start in terms
of aggregate: use of resources and the specific activities

it has suppcrted. The governance and management
arrangemen s are well established and executed. Selection
and implementation of individual projects is sound. The
overall rating is neutral with regards to “impact” (in terms
of progress 'vith transition and poverty reduction) and
“sustainability; due to the early stage of the activities
supported b/ the Fund.

The assessrient concludes that the ETC Fund is a vital and
effective instrument for implementing the ETC Initiative and
for taking fo-ward the EBRD's country strategies in the ETCs.
The Initiative- depends on continuous access to grants both
o support investment projects and for complementary
capacity bui ding. Several cases confirmed that EBRD
finance can help clients to benefit from advice funded by
technical coaperation (TC), while the Bznk's introduction of
new instrum ants under the initiative, for example in medium-
sized enterp-ise finance, is dependent on TC grants because
of the relatively high project costs and risks involved.

The study found that the ETC Fund has comparative
advantages over bilateral TC funding, such as access to
available and “untied” resources. it also found that the use
of the ETC Fund has been greatest in contries that have
made the must transition progress and $0 have provided the
best opportu nities for improved EBRD engagement. However,
greater clarily is needed between donors and the EBRD
about the treatment of social and poverty aspects, and

how these relate to the transition impact objectives of

the ETC Fund.

1

Special study
Financial sector

The Evaluation Department undertook a speciai study in
2007 to evaluate the EBRD's financial sector policy (last
updated in 1999) and assess the Bank’s performance in
this sector. The study evaluated past performance on 101
projects signed between late 1999 and 2006 (representing
one-third of projects signed in the seven-year period).
These projects covered bank equity, bank debt, insurance,
leasing and finance to small and medium-sized enterprises
in 27 of the Bank's countries of operations (excluding
regional projects).

The study evaluated the extent to which the projects met
the objectives set out in the policy of 1999 and assessed
the relevance, efficacy, efficiency and overall impact of these
projects. It concluded that the Bank's overall activities in
the financial sector have been “Successful’

However, the study found that the Bank should make more
effort to promote project cbjectives that reinforce the
market-supporting institutions and policies that are essential
to building and maintaining confidence in the financial
sector. Looking ahead, the Bank will need to challenge the
lack of politicai will that persists in a number of countries

to drive through the reforms needed to underpin a
sustainable financial sector.

The study concludes with a number of recommendations
aimed at further enhancing the effectiveness of the Bank’s
financial sector policy. In particular, the policy would benefit
from refocusing its priorities to target remaining transition
challenges, such as effective regulation and supervision

in countries where this is inadequate, and from stronger
linkages between policy priorities and investment climate
initiatives, including policy dialogue.
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When determining the overall success of EBRD activilies, EvD
assigns each project an overall performance rating. This rating
gives a high weighting to transition impact but also includes
other performance ratings, such as the fulfiiment of project
objectives, financial performance, environmental performance
and additionality {the Bank's ability to complement rather than
replace private sources of finance).

Since 1996, 58 per cent of evaluated projects achieved a
rating of “Successful™ or “Highly Successful™ (see Chart 3).
This percentage can fluctuate substantially on an annual basis
{for example, 73 per cent in 2004 but only 46 per cent in 2001)
but the percentage has improved generally since 2001. In 2007
fewer projects were rated “Highly Successful” than in the
previous year, but more rated “Successful’ giving a similar
number of positive results overall.

The “Successful” or “Highly Successful” score for overall
performance is much lower than the percentage of projects
that received “Excellent-Satisfactory” ratings for transition
impact (85 per cent in 2007). This difference is partly due

to lower ratings for financial performance reducing the overall
performance score. These lower ratings are triggered by the
high-risk investment climate in the countries where the

EBRD operates, particularly in the countries at the early

or intermediate stages of the transition process.

Chart 3
Overall performance ratings of
evaluated EBRD projects 1996-2007
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the investment risks. However, during 2007/, five projects scored
an overall rating of “Highly Successful? Based on cumulative
evaluation findings since 1996, EvD concludes that the EBRD
has been relatively successful in operating according to

its mandate, especially in view of the difficult operating
environment. As highlighted above, the overall performance
ratings have improved generally since 2001.

Applying lessons to new projects

A key evaluation role is to ensure that past experience is applied
to new projects. This begins with intensive consultation between
the banking teams and EvD on the lessons learned from project
evaluation. Regular feedback is offered at every stage of the
approval process to ensure operational staff are aware of
relevant past experience.

Case-based workshops are held and tailored to the specific
needs of banking teams. EvD also makes presentations to
management and the Board of Directors on the evaluation of
individual projects. To enhance the lessons-learned process
in the Bank, EvD maintains a lessons-learned database that
contains more than 2,600 lessons.

Examples of lessons learned generated in 2007 are presented
in the boxes with some examples of projects with a successful
outcome and with a less successful outcome.




Successful project
Expanding a mobile phone network
in Central Asia

The EBRD p-ovided a loan of over €34 million for the
network expansion of a mobile telephone company in
Central Asia. A total of 50 per cent of the loan was
syndicated to commercial banks.

The aim of tnis project was to support competition, market
expansion and the transfer of skills. The company had
existed for some time but had not been able to roll out

the infrastricture as fast as expected hecause of disputes
among the previous owners. The new sponsor who had
taken contred of the company is a leading telecoms operator
and was cornmitted to competing with the local market
leader by improving its product and acquiring new customers
at a much faster rate than its competitor. The new sponsor
was able to contribute to better branding and provide
systematic ‘raining and skills transfers from other
countries where it operates.

The project 'was rated “Successful” due to the expansion
of network ( overage and substantial increase in the
company's client base. This also led to marked improve-
ments in financial performance. The impact on the market
was positive. However, tariff reductions are occurring
gradually hecause there are only two dominant GSM
(Global Systam for Mobile Communications) operators
active in the country and liberalisation of the overall
telephone swstem is taking longer than anticipated.

The main lesson learned from this project was that a high
degree of literalisation of the sector and the emergence of
a strong regJlater are important pre-requisites for success.
While a GSN operation can have some impact on the market
and compet tion, this is unlikely to be significant unless
technical assistance provided by the Bank contributes

to the framework discussion with the government, as
experienced in this project.

Successful project
Restructuring and privatising
a major commercial bank

The EBRD purchased, along with another international
financial institution, a blocking minority stake in a major
bank as a precursor to privatisation. Control of the bank
was initially retained by the government.

The project was designed to initiate a review and upgrade

of the bank’s operational policies and capacity as well as
corporate governance. The agreements between the parties
contained strong conditions to ensure a smooth privatisation
process, as the exercise was being undertaken in a climate
of economic uncertainty and unfavourable market conditions.

As part of the privatisation process, changes were made
to the bank's charter and procedures. In addition, major
improvements were made to the bank’s strategic focus,
business and control functions. A team of the bank’s
employees was responsible for monitoring progress
towards achieving the targets and reporting to the EBRD.

A fully transparent competitive tender was held, as a

result of which a number of binding offers were received

to purchase a majority stake and control of the bank. The
project was rated “Highly Successful” By supporting the
privatisation of a major bank, the project enhanced the
credibility of the bank privatisation process and contributed
to restoring confidence in the banking sector in the relevant
country. The project also showed that a well-designed and
implemented institution-building programme can add to

the economic value of the recipient.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 71




Less successful project
Joint venture in manufacturing

The Bank provided a loan to a joint venture comprising two
integrated heavy industry manufacturing firms, one of which
was local and provided raw materials and the other a foreign
company that supplied advanced technology and access to
the key clients in the global target market. The joint venture
built a new plant to manufacture a high-quality product for a
technically demanding industrial market that was expected
to be established in the country.

Project success required the local partner to upgrade the
quality of materials that it supplied to the new plant. Proof
of the quality would come from the company taking a share
of the target market.

The project was rated only “Partly Successful” While the
plant went into operation, albeit after a delay and with costs
that overran, the expected demand for the final product
failed to materialise. Nevertheless, a market for the product
did remain, although in a less demanding niche. The foreign
partner exited the joint venture.

Furthermore, the joint venture was designed as a ring-fenced
operation, distinct from either of its two sponsors, which
was paid a fixed fee by one of the partners for processing
the raw material into the high-quality finished product. This
structure obscured the financial and economic performance
of the joint venture because the fee was not adjusted when
the market value of the finished product increased, which
in turn hampered the demenstration effect of the project.
Therefore, a similar structure should be avoided in future,
even if it might reduce banking risk in some cases where
sponsor strength is in question.
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Less successful project
Privatising a textile manufacturer

in 1999 the EBRD purchased a minerity interest in a
manufacturer of wool worsted fabrics, as well as lending
the company up to €5 mitlion. EBRD participation was
co-financed by resources from an Investment Special Fund.
The International Finance Corporation also participated

in the share purchase and loan facilities.

The aim of the project was to privatise the government's
majority stake (the remainder stayed with management and
employees) and to restructure and modernise the company's
facilities in order to enhance its penetration of international
— mainly Western - textile markets. Agreements were
concluded in March 2000, the business privatised and

the restructuring plan initiated.

The company had proved effective at repositioning its
business from traditional markets in the CIS to more
demanding Western European and other international
markets. However, without the support of a strategic
investor, the company struggled to deal with the tightening
market, which was being squeezed on one side by consumer
trends away from the company's core products and on the
other by low cost producers in the Far East. This changing
environment exposed the restructuring plan as faifing to
address thoroughly its uncompetitive cost structure and out-
of-date business model. The EBRD and other shareholders
subsequently divested the equity and debt participation

to local industrial investors who have since continued

to operate the company.

In view of the failure to modernise and achieve its financial
objectives, overall transition impact of this project was
rated as “Unsatisfactory” and overall performance as
“Unsuccessful” The project highlights how important it is,
in any investment in a brownfield or restructuring situation,
to target international standards of competitiveness from
the start, which may prove difficult without the support

of a strategic investor.



The EvD has evaluated around 550 consultant assignments
funded througn the EBRD's technical cooperation (TC)
programme. These assignments have been supported by over
€150 million ¢ f funding from over 30 doncrs. When combined
with TC assigr ments evaluated during the EvD's special studies,
this figure rises to over 1,500 assignments involving more than
€450 million of funding.

Successful project
Institution building through
technical cooperation

To meet the management challenges of ongoing tourism, the
EBRD provided a port authority with technical cooperation
(TC) aimec at “institution building” This involved developing
a business plan, marketing strategy, IIFRS accounting and
reporting and an organisational structure. Initially €198,000
was alloczted, followed by an extensicn for €150,000.

The TC was executed during 2004 and 2005. It was in line
with the Bank's relevant country and industry strategies,
provided zdditionality (complemented rather than replaced
private sources of finance) and met its objectives, albeit
only with the extension of funds. The TC, overall, was
rated “Su:cessful?

The main lesson learned is that the Bank should carry

out more thorough due diligence before embarking on an
institutior -building TC project, particularly if the institution

is relatively immature and the benefic.ary has no prior
experience with international requirements. The effectiveness
of the initial TC was very limited since basic material and
lectures were provided that left the beneficiary unclear of how
to apply this knowledge. It was only the hands-on approach
employec under the TC extension that brought te fruition

the full a ray of benefits.

Under thizse circumstances a two-phase approach is worth
consider ng: first, a relatively short reconnaissance study by
the Bank, possibly with the help of an industry expert and,
if necess.ary, followed by a more in-depth scoping study; and
secondly, a fully-fledged institution-building TC, which should
provide for sufficient time so that benefits can be realised.

Less successfui project
Tendering and procurement
for urban transport

In 2003 the Bank approved TC funds for consultants to
assist in the tender of several bus lines within a municipality,
and in the procurement of a new ticketing system. The TC
was only partly implemented and was rated overall as
“Partly Successful?

The TC related to the new ticketing system was “Successful”
overall, though it encountered serious delays. The technical
performance of the consultants was good, but unsatisfactory
internal communication among the members of the
consultancy and short-term staffing problems led to delays
in implementing the project, exacerbated by the city's slow
decision-making and delays in the approval of the tender
documents. Nevertheless, a full international tender

was finally undertaken, the contract for the supply and
installation of the ticketing system was signed in December
2006 and installation and testing are expected to be
completed by June 2008. The consultants ensured that

an appropriate ticketing system was selected and
procurement, once undertaken, proceeded smoothly.

The TC relating to the bus service tender has been
“Unsuccessful” The consultant produced draft
pregualification documents and public service contracts

to regulate the relationship between the city and existing
and future private bus operators. These were presented 1o
the city in 2004 for approval, but following local elections
the political will to proceed has seemed lacking. There has
heen further piecemeal privatisation of bus services to
local operators, and public service contracts based on
those drafted by the consultants have recently been signed
by private bus operators. Elections in 2007 raised hopes
that the project might be revived, though this has not

yet happened.

The project underlined the importance of selecting a
consultant not only with technical expertise but also with
a proven track record of delivering concrete results in the
sometimes complex political environment in countries
where the Bank operates.
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The EBRD offers q range of procurement opportunities
for suppliers, contractors and consultants. In 2007
the Bank financed 138 publi¢ sector contracts,
valued at €2,232 million.

Procurement policies

The EBRD applies principles of non-discrimination, fairness

and transparency to all contracts for works, goods and services.
These principles, enshrined within the Bank’s Procurement
Policies and Rules, are designed to promote good practice and
efficiency and to minimise risk in implementing Bank-financed
projects. The EBRD expects all participants in the procurement
process to observe the highest standards of ethics and conduct
during the tendering and implementation of a contract.

Private sector clients can apply their own procurement
practices, provided that the EBRD is satisfied that these
practices are commercially sound and that fair market prices
are obtained. The client must also ensure that conflicts of
interest are avoided and that the best interests of all parties
involved in the process are preserved. More precise rules apply
to procurement in public sector operations where the EBRD
requires clients to use structured, transparent procedures that
maximise competition and fair treatment for all participants.
The Bank reviews and monitors procurement closely at key
stages of the process.
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Procurement activities in 2007

In 2007 the EBRD embarked on the review of its Procurement
Policies and Rules. Public consultation was launched on key
issues that may result in revisions to Bank policy. The function
and organisation of the Procurement Department is aiso being
reviewed, As part of further transparency, the EBRD has also
published on its web site its Annual Procurement Review, which
reviews public sector procurement contracts financed or partly
financed by the Bank in 2006.

The EBRD continued to work with other multilateral development
banks (MDBs) to harmonise procurement documentation for
public sector projects. In October 2007, the EBRD met MDBs
and the Confederation of Irternational Contractors Association
{CICA} to discuss proposed revisions to the harmonised version
of the works contract, currently available on the web site of the
International Federation of Consulting Engineers (FIDIC), The
EBERD also participated in the Heads of Procurement meeting

in Tunis where the use of country procurement systems and

the harmonised standard tender documents were discussed.

The EBRD continued to provide procurement support services
throughout 2007, This included running a training programme
entitied “Project Delivery Strategy” for procurement executives
from three Russian cil and gas enterprises and presenting its
project delivery strategy and business opportunities to ltalian
construction companies. The Bank also ran seminars with local
suppliers, contractors and consultants in Prague and Bratislava
to encourage their participation in procurement processes
resulting from EBRD-financed projects.




In 2007, EBR J-financed projects led to 138 public sector
contracts, valued at €2,232 million, of which €1,418 million
was financed by the EBRD (representing approximately

63 per cent cf the total contract value). This compares with

98 contracts valued at €1,361 million in 20086, indicating a

64 per cent increase in total contract value for 2007, The total
value of contracts resulting from “open” tendering procedures
in 2007 was £2,155 million, or 96.5 per cent of total contract
value. Contracts for transport and municipal and environmental
infrastructure projects accounted for €1,636 million, representing
100 out of 138 contracts, or 72.5 per cent of all contracts
signed by nuinber and 73 per cent by value respectively of

all public sector contracts awarded in 2007.

The number of public sector contracts associated with EBRD-
financed projacts has increased compared with 2006 and the
value of the contracts is considerably higher. Additionally, this
year has see 1 a decrease in the number of “concerns” and
formal complaints received by the Bank regarding procurement
practices. In 2007 the EBRD received 5 concerns and 11 formal
complaints compared with 12 and 15, respectively, in 2006.

A “concern” is any issue that is brought to the attention of
the EBRD by a tenderer regarding the precurement process
or contract award. The concern is referred to the contracting
authority, wh ch is expected to address end resolve the issue
with the relevant party.

If the two parties cannot come to an understanding or an
agreement, the concern is raised to the status of a complaint.
At that point, the EBRD freezes the procurement process and
an investigation is undertaken.

In 2006 the EBRD received a complaint concerning the
procurement of the new safe confinement contract to be
funded by the EBRD-administered Chernoby| Shelter Fund.
The £EBRD carried out a comprehensive review and concluded
that the complaint could not be upheld. Subsequently, the
EBRD, together with a panel of experts and observers, ensured
that the pre-contract discussions with the leading consortium
addressed the remaining open issues consistent with

the applicable tender documents, the agreed procedural
framework and the Bank's Procurement Policies and Rules.
These discussions eventually led to the conclusion of the
contract in July 2007.

Procurement opportunities

To improve the awareness of procurement opportunities
concerning EBRD-financed projects, the Bank regularly
publishes information about forthcoming contracts on the
Procurement Opportunities section of the EBRD web site:
www.ebrd.com/oppor/procure.
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The EBRD puts |ts[ staff at the heart of achieving the Bank’s
3m|ssmn In 2007 recrmtment from outside the Bank reached

its 1h|ghest level for five years The Bank’s efforts to increase
its. presence in the countries ||n which it operates continued

‘Wlth a revised pollcy that enhanced guidelines for geographic

moblhty, and the gellvery of local training programmes and
distance learning tools for staff in Resident Offices.

Human resources

The EBRD supports the efforts and achievements of its
employees through a dedicated human resources strategy.
Its fundamental principles are positive engagement with staff,
responsiveness to the needs of departments throughout

the Bank, innovation, professionalism and transparency.

As an important component of the Bank's overall business
model, the human resources strategy ensures that quality,
performance and satisfaction of staff are constantly aligned
with business needs.

Diversity among employees is a key part of achieving the Bank's
mission. At the end of 2007 the Bank employed 1,349 people
across 32 offices in 26 countries. A total of 57 nationalities

are represented, with staff coming from different backgrounds
and fields of expertise but sharing the same commitment for
challenging work, professional growth and the goals of

the organisation.

Staffing

At the end of December 2007, the EBRD had 1,052 employees
based in London compared with 1,018 in 2006. Resident
Office staff totalled 297, compared with 261 the previous
year. The ratio of male/female professional staff in the

EBRD is approximately 1.58:1.
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Recruitment

A total of 202 external candidates were recruited in 2007 -
the highest number in the last five years. Recruitment was
driven not only by turnover (amounting to 11 per cent in
December 2007), but also an increase in headcount. In line
with the reguirements of the business model, new staff were
recruited in London and the countries of operations (two-thirds
and one-third, respectively), focusing on high-quality, skilled
individuals with an entrepreneurial spirit. As in previous years,
the Bank recruited mostly from the private sector, but also
from other international financial institutions, the academic
world and other industries. This ensured a diversity of skills,
experiences and perspectives within the organisation.

Mobility

More than 60 employees took up an assignment in a different
location in 2007, moving either from the Bank's London
Headquarters to one of the local offices or vice-versa. This
mobility was supported by a revised policy providing a clear,
complete and consistent regulation of all aspects associated
with geographic assignments.




Geographic mobility of staff is crucial for the Bank's business.
It supports th 2 strategic goal to increase the number of
professional staff deployed in Resident Ofices, which at

the end of 207 totalled approximately half of banking
professional ctaff. In addition, mobility provides employees
with the oppo -tunity to achieve their professional goals

and personal fulfilment by working in another country.

Compensation

The Bank’s ccmpensation and benefits package refiects the
individual cha-acteristics of the various EBRD locations. With
huoyant job rrarkets in London and most of the countries where
the Bank operates, the Bank ensured that salaries remained
competitive ir London and across the region. In addition,
the Bank conlinued to strengthen a performance culture,
rewarding individuals according to their level of performance
and contribution. This commitment was confirmed by the
significant dif‘erentiation in the distribution of bonuses

for professional staff in 2007.

Learning and development

As part of its commitment to staff devetopment, the EBRD
offers a comgrehensive range of learning opportunities. In 2007
there was a marked increase in the number of training courses
delivered, reflzeting the rise in the number of people recruited
by the Bank. In total, more than 3,400 training days were
undertaken ir 2007, which represents an increase of

15 per cent ¢ xmpared to the previous year.

sl

With a significant number of EBRD staff now located in the
Resident Offices, it has become critical to deliver training
locally. In addition to running more training courses in Resident
Offices, the EBRD is expanding its eLearning and distance
learning tools. In 2007 the Open Learning Centre was greatly
enhanced with free web-based language training resources

and an intranet-based toolkit for managers. For new staff, new
elearning modules were under development that will accelerate
the induction of new staff in the Resident Qffices and at
Headguarters. These modules will be rolled out in 2008,

Working environment

Renovation of the London office was completed in November
2007. The project involved carrying out essential engineering
and refurbishment works over 24 months. The preject needed
to take into account compliance with current health and safety
regufations and best practice, staff needs and concerns, energy
savings and higher environmental standards. The bhuilding has
now been brought up o the latest standards, including better
lighting, ventilation and security, resulting in an improved and
healthier working environment for staff and visitors.
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President

Jean Lemierre

Russla, Agribusiness and Property and Tourlsm

Banking

First Vice President

Varel Freeman

Front Office

Strategic and Operational Planning
(joint report to Finance}

Josué Tanaka

QOperations Commitiee Secretariat

Frédéric Lucenet

Busingss Development

Lesia Haliv

Corporate Recovery
(joint report 1o Risk Management)

Will Newton

Corparate Equity

Lindsay Forbes

Energy Efficiency and Climate Change

Corporate Director

Josué Tanaka

Director

Terry McCallion

Energy and Natural Resources

Business Group Director

Riccardo Puliti

Natural Resources

Kevin Bortz

Power and Energy Utilities

Nandita Parshad

Financial Institutions

Business Group Director

Wurt Geiger

Bank Equity

Anne Fossemalle

Bank Relationships

Jean-Marc Peterschmitt

Equity Funds

Kanako Sekine

Non-bank Financial Institutions

Vacant

Business Group Director

Alain Pilloux

Russia, Corporate Sector (Moscow office}

Eric Rasmussen

Russia, Government Relations (Moscow office)

Alexander Qrlov

Russia, Financial Institutions {(Moscow office}

(Acting) Marina Petrov

Russia, infrastruciure and Energy (Moscow office}

Natasha Khanjenkova

Agribusiness

Gilles Me[EeEJ

Property and Tourism

Sylvia Gansser-Potts

South-eastern Europe, Central Asia and the Caucasus

Business Group Director

QOlivier Descamps

Ukraine {Kiev office)

Kamen Zahariev

Romania {Bucharest office)

Claudia Pendred

Bulgaria {Sofia office)

James Hyslop

Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia and Moldova
(Thilisi office)

Michael Davey

Central Asia

Masaru Honma

Kazakhstan (Almaty office)

André Kbdsvek

Mongelia {Ulaanbaatar office)

John Chomel-Dee

Early Transiticn Countries (ETC) Initiative

George Krivicky

Group for Small Business

Chikako Kuno

TurnAround Management and Business Advisory
Services Programme

Charlotte Salford

Monitoring

Business Group Director

Gavin Anderson

Finance

Vice President

Manfred SE_hepers

infrastructure

Treasury

Business Group Cirector

Thomas Maier

Treasurer

Axel van Nederveen

Mupicipal and Environmental Infrastructure

Jean-Patrick Marquet

Deputy Treasurer and Head of Funding

Isabelle Laurent

Transport

Sue Barrett

Central Europe, Western Balkans and

Telecommunications, Informatics and Media

Business Group Director

Peter Reiniger

Croatia (Zagreb office)

Charlotte Ruhe

Czech Republi¢, Hungary, Slovak Republic and

Slovenia (Bratislava office)

Frangois Lecavalier

Poland and the Baltic states (Warsaw office)

Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, FYR Macedonia,
Montenegro and Kosovo

Serbia {Belgrade office}

Dragica Pilipovic-Chaffey

_ Claudio Viezzoli
Hildegard Gacek

Loan Syndication}

Cirectar

Lorenz Jorgensen

Budget and Financlal Policy

Corporate Director

Chris Holyoak

Strategic and OPeralIonm Planning

Corporate Director
{joint report to Banking}

Josué Tanaka

Telecommunications, Informatics and Media Michelle Senecal de Fonseca
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Fi ial Control and Operations

Direcior

Nigel Kerby

Information Technology

Rirecter

Tir Goldstone




7

Risk Managerient, Human Resources and Nuclear Safety

Vice President

Horst Reichenbach

Office of the Chief Economist

Chief Economist

Erik Bergiof

Risk Management

Directar

Michael Williams

Credit/Transactior Analysis

David Klingensmith

Treasury Credit Risk

Bryan Brinkley

Credit Portfolip Reiew

Mike Hesketh

Portfolio Risk Management Group Vacant
Risk Management System Project Irena Postiova
Corporate Recovery Will Newton
{joint report to Banking)

Operational Risk Julie Williams
Human Resources

Director Paolo Gallo
Deputy Cirector, Compensation and Benefits Ingrid de Wee

Deputy Director, Clobal Staffing

Matthew Hubbard

Nuclear Safety

Director

Vince Novak

Cooperation Initliitives and Programmes

Director

Alexander Auboeck

Deputy Chief Economist and Director for Project

Design and Appraisal

Hans Peter Lankes

Direcior, Strategy and Analysis

Alan Rousso

Director, Policy Studies and Sector Strategy

Fabrizio Coricelli

Office of the General Counsel

Generat Counsel

Emmanuel Maurice

Deputy General Counsel

Gerard Sanders

Deputy General Counsel

Norbert Seiler

Assistant General Counsel

Stephen Petri

Operations Administration Unit

Director Vacant
Racords Management and Archives
Head of Unit Anne Crétal

Office of the Chief Compliance Officer

Chief Compliance Officer

Enery Quinones

Offictal Co-financing

Director

Gary Bond

Administration and Environment

Vice President

Brigita Schmdgnerova

Administratlen, 'rocurement and Consultancy Service

Director of Admiristration

Jaroslaw Wojtylak

Health, Safety ar d Security Alan Drew
Director, Procure nent and Purchasing {Acting} Dilek Macit
Director of Consy Itancy Service Dilek Macit
Environment anc Sustalnability

Corporate Directr Alistair Clark

Office of the Secretary General

Secretary Gener il

(Acting) Herst Reichenbach

Deputy Secretars General

Nigel Carter

Assistant Secretary General

Colm Lincoln

Evaluation Department

Chief Evaluator (reports to Board of Directors)

Fredrik Korfiker

internal Audit

Head of internal Audit

Ray Portelli

Communications

Director

Brigid lanssen

President's Office

Adviser to the President

Alexandre Draznieks
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Member Governor Alternate

Albania Genc Ruli Sherefedin Shehu

Armenia o Vardan Khachatryan Tigran Sargsyan R
;\l;stralia o - Peter Costello Greg Hunt

;usma T __\m;n Molterer Kurt Bayer

Azerbaijan Heydar Babayev Samir Sharifovég L
Belarus Viadimir Semashko T Nikolai i;a'nénko ) i
Belgium Didier Reynders Teﬁié};mn_cﬁi" o L
Bosnia and Herzegovina Sven Alkalaj Aleksandar Dzombié

Bulgaria Plamen Oresharski Dimitar Kostoy
Canada T James' ﬁaherty Leminérd ﬁ:liwags o
Croatia Ivan Suker L Zdravko Marit ——__
GCyprus Michéél Sarris ) B Christos Patsalides -
Czech Republic Miroslav Kalousek Zdendk Tama
Denmark " Bendt Bendtsen T Michael Dithmer

Egypt Fayza Aboueinaga Rachid Mchamed Rachid
Estonia T Ivari Padar Tea Varrak

Finland Jym kétainen Pekka Huhtaniemi

FYR Macedonia Trajko Staveski Zg_r:_ap Stavreski

France f(:ﬁrﬁi;t}n; Lagarde o Xavietilr\;'lusca

Georgia Nika Gilauri Roman Gotsiridze

Germany Peer Steinbrick Thomas Mirow

Greece T George ;\Iogoskouﬁs Ipanais Sidirepoulos

Hungary Jénos Veres Géza Egyed

Icetand Bjdrgvin G Sigurdsson Kjartan Gunnarsson
Irefand ’ Brian Cowen David Doyle

Israel Stanley Fischer Yarom Ariav h

laly Tommaso Padea-Schioppa lgnazio Angeloni

]ap-ar- Fukushiro Nukaga Toshihiko Fukui

Kazakhstan Bakhyt Sultanoy Anvar Saidenov

Korea, Republic of O-kyu Kwon Seongtlae Lee

Kyrgyz Republic Aziz Aaliev Marat Alapaev

Latvia Atis Slakteris Haspars Gerhards
Liechtenstein Klaus Yschitscher Roland Marxer
Lithuania Rimantas Sadzius Ramuné Vilija Zabuliené
Luxembourg Jean-Claude funcker Jean Guill
Malta Tonio Fenech Michael Bonello
Mexico AEErﬁ E:arstens Alejandra Werner
Moldova Igor Dodon Marin Molosag
Mongolia Ulaan Chuitem Alag Batsukh -
Montenegro tgor Lukdic Milorad Katnif
Morocco Salaheddine Mezouar Abdeltif Loudyi

Wouter Bos Maxime Verhagen

Netherlands

New Zealand Winston Peters Jonathan Hunt

Norway Kristin Halvorsen Rikke Lind

Poland Slawomir Skrzypek Arkadiusz Huzarek

Portugal Fernandomeira dos Santos Carlos Costa Pina

Romania Varujan_wsganian Mugur Isdrescu

Russian Federation German Gref Sergey Storchak

Serbia T Vacant Vacant )
Slovak Republic Jén Pofiatek Ivan Sramko

govenia Andrej Bajuk Andrej KavEig

Spain Pedro Solbes Mira David Vegara Figueras B
gv:eden - Anders Borg Per Jansscn : -
Switzerland Doris Leuthard Jorg Reding

Tajikistan Muredali Mukhamadievich Alimardonov Mirali Sabdalievich Naimov
Turkey Ibrahim Ganakgi Cavit Dagidas

FTurkmenistan T Amanmyrat Toylyev Guvanchmurad Geokienov
Ukraine Mykola Azarov Volodymyr Stelmakh

United Kingdom

Alistair Darling

Douglas Alexander

United States

Henry M. Paulson Jr

Reuben Jeffery Il

Uzbekistan

Rustam Sadykovich Azimov

Odil Husnutdinovich Juraev

European Community

Joaquln Almunia

Klaus Regling

European Invesiment Bank

Daric Scannapieco

Marta Gajecka
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Chairman of the Board of Governors
Governor for Haly (Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa)

Vice Chairmen of the Board of Governors
Governor for Canada {James M. Flaherty)
Governor for Montenegro (Igor Luksit)

All the powers of the EBRD are vested in the

Board of Governgrs. The Board of Governors has
delegated many of its powers 10 the Board of Directors,
which is responsible for the direction of the general
operations of the Bank and, among other activities,
establishes policies and takes decisions concerning
loans, equity investments and other operations in
conformity with the general directions of the Board

of Governors.

The President chairs the Board of Directors.
Under the direction of the Board, the President
conducts the business of the Bank and, as head
of staff, is responsible for its organisation and for
making staff appointments.




Director

Alternate Ditector

Constituency

Ldaszlé Andor

Pave! St&panek

Hungary/Czech Republic/Slcvak Republic/Croatia

Terence Brown

Walter Cernoia

European Investment Bank

Alain de Cointet

Francis Mougenez

France

Anne Counihan

Ib Katzrelson

Ireland/Denmark/Lithuania/FYR Macedonia

Jo&o Cravinho

Stefanos Vavalidis

Portugal/Greece

Sven Hegelund

Baldur Pétursson

Sweden/Iceland/Estonia

Ole Hovland

lari Gustafsson

Norway/Finlang/Latvia

André Juneau

Judith &t George

Canada/Morccco

Tae Hwan Kim

Peter R2ith

Korea/Australla/New Zealand/Egypt

Elena Kotova

Russian Federation/Belarus/Tajikistan

Vassili Lelakis

Carole Garnier

European Community

Kazimierz Mar¢ nkiewicz Kalin ¥itrev Poland/Bulgaria/Albania

Kazuya Murakami Hiroyuk.i Kubota Japan

Michael Neumsz yr Hedva Ber Austria/israel/Cyprus/Malta/Kazakhstan/Bosnia and Herzegovina
Igor Podoliev Virginia Gheorghiu Ukraine/Romania/Moldova/Georgia/Armenia

Enzo Quattrocixcche Ugo Astuto Italy

Gonzalo Ramo:;

David iartinez Hornillos

Spain/Mexico

Simon Ray

Jonathan Ockenden

United Kingdom

Manue! Sager

Turan 3z

Switzerland/ Turkey/Liechtenstein/Uzbekistan/Kyrgyz Republic/Azerbaijan/
Turkmenistan/Serbia/Montenegro

Joachim Schw.irzer

Rainald Roesch

Germany

Jean-Louis Six

Irena Sodin

Belgivm/Luxembourg/Slovenia

Mark Sullivan

United States of America

Jan Willem vai den Wall Bake

Hans Sprokkreeff

Netherlands/Mongolia

Composition of Board of Directors’ committees

31 Cecember 2007

Audit Committee

Simen Ray (Chairman)

Ference Brovn (Vice Chairman)
Alain de Coir tet

Kazimierz Mircinkiewicz

Igor Podoliev

Enzo Quattre giocche

Mark Sullivay

The Audit Cymmittee considers the
appointmen: and scope of work of
the external auditors, It also reviews
financial st:tements and general
accounting principtes, policy

and work of the Internal Auditor,
expenditure authcrisation,

control syslems, procurement
policy &nd g roject evaluatien.

Financial and Operations
Policies Committee

Lészlé Andor {Chairman}
Jean-Louis Six (Vice Chairman)
Jodo Cravinho

Sven Hegetund

Elena Kotova

Vassili Lelakis

Gonzalo Ramos

Jan Willem van den Wall Bake

The Financla! and Operations Policies
Committee reviews financial policies
intluding borrowing policy, general
polizies relating to operations, and

procedures and reporting requirements.

Budget and Administrative
Affalrs Committee

Joachim Schwarzer (Chairman}
Ole Hovlang (Vice Chairman)
Anne Counihan

André Juneau

Tae Hwan Kim

Kazuya Murakami

Michael Neumayr

Manuel Sager

Board Steering Group

André Juneau {Chairman)

Anne Counihan (Vice Chairman)
L&szlé Andor

Terence Brown

Ole Hovtand

Simon Ray

Joachim Schwarzer

Jean-Louis Six

The Budget and Administrative Affalrs
Committee considers general budgetary
policy, proposals, procedures and
reports. It also considers perscnnel,
administrative and evganisational
matiers, and administrative matters
relating to Directors and their staff,

The Board Steering Group was
established in 1994 to improve
coordination between the Board
of Directers and management on
arrangements for meetings of the

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Board, Committees and workshops.
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‘I flnancmgawas cha|

port local enterprlse

Guide

Loans are calculated at exchange rates current at
31 December 2Q007. Shares are converted to euros
at exchange rates current at the date of disbursement.

Country totals in this list of projects may differ from those
on pages 4 and 5 as regional projects (covering more than
one country) are listed separately at the end of this section.

Projects financed under framework agreements are shown
in italics.

After each project description, the following information
is listed:
Sector « State/private « Environmental screening category

Direct investment Facility, Direct Lending Facility and Medium-
sized Loan Co-financing Framework projects do not have an
envircnmental screening category as they do not follow the
Bank's standard project cycle. However, they are still subject
to environmental requirements.

82

Environmental screening categories

The project requires:

A - a full environmental screening impact assessment
B - an environmental analysis

B(MPF} — Multi Project Facility

C — no environmental impact assessment
or environmental analysis

0 - no environmental audit
1 - an environmental audit
FI - financial intermediary

IEE - initial environmental examination

This list of projects does not include:

0 trade facilitation guarantees issued and expired in 2007

0 multiple investments to pre-export finance facilities
under the Trade Facilitation Programme

i selldowns of EBRD commitments

0 investments under private equity funds, which are

sponsored by private institutions and fund managers.




Donor-sponsored funds, such as Reg onal Venture Funds {RVFs),
post-priviitisation funds (PPFs) and reconstruction equity funds
(REFs), p-ovide a combination of equity capital and grant-
financed support. Investments under these funds are included
in the signed projects list, provided they are managed accounts
of the EBRD.

EBRD co nmitment amounts include both new facilities and
follow on (facilities) to original operations.

Resources mobilised and total project value reflect operations
signed for the first time in 2007 so that facilities with external
finance signed in previous years are not counted twice.

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
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Albania

Durres port 40.0 14.0 0
Loan to finance a ferry terminal and related infrastructure

at the port of Durres.

Transport ¢ State o B/1

Levan-Viore road 60.2 220 ]
Loan to upgrade the road from Levan to Viore.

Transport » State ¢ A/Q

Westemn Balkans Local Enterprise Facility

Agrotal 1.0 0 0.5
Establishment of an olive oil production plant.

Apribusiness » Private » C/0Q

Bl-Invest 1.0 0 0.7

Establishment of a greenfield concrete production plant
In Lushnje, Albania.
Manufacturing e Private  B/O

Armenia

Armenia Multi-bank Framework Il
SME credit line 32.0 19.0 0

Credit line to Agricultural Cooperative Bank of Armenia,
Anelik Bank and Armeconombank for on-lending to small
and medium-sized enterprises.

Small business finance e Private ¢ F

SME credit line 14.0 7.0 0

Credit line to Armeconombank and Inecobank for on-lending
to small and medium-sized enterprises.
Bank lending e Private o Fi

Armenia Multi Bank Framework
Araratbank 3.4 3.4 0

Credit line for on-lending to MSMEs.
Small business finance o Private e fi

Byblos Bank Armenia 5.0 o] 3.0
Equity investment in BBA (formerty International Trade Bank).
Bank equity e Private e FI

Direct Investment Facllity

Alpha Pharma 4.4 4] 3.2

Equity stake enabling a teading pharmaceutical wholesater
to expand its network.
Manufacturing e Private

Cascade Insurance
and Reinsurance Company 0.2 v] 0.2

Equity investment in an Armenian insurer, CIRCO.

Non-bank financial institutions e Private

Hytex Plastic 0.3 0.3 0
Loan to plastics manufacturer for expansion.

Manufacturing e Private

Direct Lending Facility
Hydro Corporation 1.2 1.2 4]

Investment to buy, instalt and operate a smail hydro power plant.
Power and energy = Private
Shen Concern 3.4 3.4 0

Expanding the production of paints and lacquers, and beginning
production of new materials such as gypsum and maseonry products.
Manufacturing e Private
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Lake Sevan 12.0 7.0 8]

Upgrade of two waste-water treatment plants
and censtruction of a further three.
Municipal infrastructure e State ¢ B/1

Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility
Credit line 2.0 20 0

Loan 1o Armeconombank and Anelik Bank to expand
their lending activities.
Bank lending e Private

Agricultural Cooperative Bank of Armenia 0.1 0.1 0

Loan to MavaTerm for design, installation and service
of heating and ventilation systems.
Manufacturing « Private

Armeconombank 0.4 .4 0

Renovation and construction of a second wing at the
Nairi Medical Centre.
Manufacturing o Private

Armeconombank 0.4 0.4 0

Loan to Shant, an Armenian TV and radio broadcaster.
Telecommunications e Private

ProCredit Bank Armenia 2.1 o] 2.1

Establishment of a dedicated microfinance bank in Armenia.
Small business finance ¢ Private o Fl

Regional Trade Facilitation Programme 2.0 2.0 0
Support for foreign trade through Agriculiural Cooperative

Bank of Armenia, Armeconombank and Inecobank.

Bank lending e Private o Fi

Azerbaijan

Azerbaijan Multi Bank Framework

Credit line 14.0 11.6 0
Credit line to Azerigazbank, Bank of Baku, Bank Respublika,
Mugan Bank and Nikoii Bank for en-lending to micre, small

and medium-sized businesses.

Small business finance e Private o FI

Azerdemiryol Bank 1.1 4] 1.0

Equity investment in private jeint-stock bank.
Bank equity o Private o FI

AzDRES 63.0 63.0 0
Modernisation of power plant supplying the majority of energy
consumed in Azerbaijan.

Power and energy o Staie « B/1

Bank Respublika 16.3 4.1 0

Loan to help the bank's expansicn and development programme.
Bank lending e Private o FI

ETC Non-bank Microfinance Institution Framework

Share Overseas 1.4 1.4 ]
Credit line to increase financing available to the smallest
enterprises through on-lending.

Small business finance e Private o FI

ETC Non-bank Microfinance Institution Framework Il
Credagro 2.0 1.8 0
Credit line to increase financing avaitable to the smallest

enterprises through on-lending.
Small business finance o Private » FI
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Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility
Credit line 1.5 1.5 0

Loan to Azeriemiryolbank and Bank of Baku to expand
their lending activities to medium-sized companies,
Bank lending o Private

Azerdemiryalrank 0.7 0.4 0

Loan to SAB:\, an Azeri ice cream producer, to help construct
new premise s and purchase new refrigerated delivery vehicles.
Agribusiness e Private

Bank of Baku 2.7 1.4 0

Loan to Baku Electronics for construction of a warehouse,
showroom ar d administrative building.
Manufacturing e Private

Bank of Baku 0.7 0.3 0

Loan to Avrora to help with the acquisition of new equipment
far the produstion of biscuits.
Agribusiness e Private

Unibank 1.2 0.4 0

Loan to Casp an supplies to finance construction of a production
hall and ware wouse, as well as working capital financing.
Manufacturinif o Private

Milk-Pro 0.3 ] 0.3

Construction >f new dairy precessing plant in 3aku
and modernisation of plant in Goychay.
Agribusiness » Private o B/1

Unibank 26 ] 26

Equity investnient in Unibank.
Bank eguity = Private o FI

Unibank 111 238 5.9 0
Third syndicatzd loan to Unibank.

Bank fending « Private o F|

Unileasing (Ecuity) 0.5 0 0.5

£quity investrr ent in an Azeri leasing company.
MNon-bank finacial institutions s Private s Fl

Unileasing 2.0 2.0 0

Loan to Unileasing, an Azeri leasing company.
Non-bank financiat institutions » Private s Fi

Regional Trad:: Facilitation Programme 24.0 24.0 0
Support for foieign trade through Azerdermiyrol Bank, Azerigazbank,
Bank of Baku, Bank Respublika, Mugan Bank and UniBank.

Banx lending e Private o ¥l

Belarus

Belarusian Bank for Small Business 5.5 0 1.8

Equity investmiint in Belarusian Bank for Small Business.
Small business finance s Private o Fl

Belarus MSE Financing Facility
Credit fine 12.2 12.2 0

Credit tines to 3elgazprombank, MinskTransit Bank and
Reconversion end Development Bank for on-lending to
micrg and sma | businesses.

Bank lending e Private « Fl

SME credit line 5.4 5.4 ]

Credit lines to Belroshank and MinskTransit Bank for
on-lending to micro and small businesses.
Small business finance e Private o FI
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Priorbank Funding Facility 48.0 10.2 0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending » Private » F!

Regional Triade Facilitation Programme 16.0 16.0 Q

Support for foreign trade through Priorbank and Minsk Transit Bank.
Bank lending o Private o FI

Bosnia and Herzegovina

Bijeljina waste-water collection system 7.0 7.0 0

Construction of waste-water collection network to prevent
poliution of the aguifer.
Municipat infrastructure » State « B/1

IS0 and TR‘ANSCO 20.0 15.9 o

Supply and installation of electricity transmission system
that will facilitiate power trade in the region.
Power and energy o State » C/0

Primary road network upgrade 75.0 75.0 0

Upgrade and reconstruction of sections of the primary road network.
Transport o State e B/1

Raiffeisen Bank 10.0 10.0 0
Loan for on-lending to the SME and retail sectors.

Bank lending s Private » FI

Uniga Osiguranje 1.6 0 1.6

Acquisition of a 20 per cent equity stake in Uniga Osiguranje Bosnia.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private ¢ FI

UPI Banka 0.9 0.9 Q

Equity investment to support an increase in commercial lending
activities, expansion of branches and IT system development.
Bank equity » Private « Fl

Western Bathans Local Enterprise Facility
Suica Terni 1.1 1.1 0

Canstruction of a greenfield plant for the production of wood pellets.
Manufacturing e Private o C/0

VF Komerc 4.0 4.0 4]

Long-term loan to finance real estate operations.
Agribusiness e Private » IEE

Western Balll(ans SME Framework
Raiffeisen Leasing 5.0 5.0 4]

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Non-bank financial institutions » Private e Fi

Western Balkans MSME Framework 20.9 17.0 o]

Credit line to Mi-Bospo. Prizma, Partner and Sunrise for on-lending
to micro and small businesses.
Small business finance e Private o Fi

Regional Tracie Facilitation Programme 3.0 3.0 O

Suppeort for foreign trade through Raiffeisen Bank and UPI Banka.
Bank lending o Private » Fl

European Bank for Recenstruction and Development
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Bulgaria

Bulgarlan ESCO Fund (BEF) 7.0 7.0 0
Loan to facilitate energy efficiency improvements.

Manufacturing e Private « C/0

Energy Efficlency and Renewable Energy Credit Line

Piraeus Bank 5.0 5.0 0
Credit line for residential energy efficiency improvements.

Bank lending s Private o FI

Unionbank 5.0 5.0 0

Credit line to Unionbank for on-lending to improve energy efficiency.

Bank lending o Private o FI
EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility
Piraeus Bank 15.0 5.0 o

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending e Private o Fl

SME credit line 10.0 10.0 o}

Credit line to Piraeus Leasing Bulgaria and Raiffeisen Leasing
for on-tending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private ¢ Fl

EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facllity
Raiffeisen Bank 10.0 5.0 o]

Credit line for on-lending to rural customers.

Bank lending e Private e Fl

EU/EBRD Municipal Finance Facillty

Piraeus Bank 5.0 25 o

Credit tine under the municipal finance facility.
Bank lending e Private » FI

EU Energy Efficiency Framework

Unicredit Bulbank 15.0 15.0 0
Loan for on-tending to improve energy efficiency.

Bank lending e Private o FI

United Buigarian Bank 5.0 5.0 0
Loan for on-lending to improve energy efficiency.

Bank lending e Private « Fi

Plovdlv water 11.4 11.4 0
Investment to improve water and waste-water facilities in Plovdiv.
Municipal infrastructure e State » B/1

Project Toronto 8.1 ¢ 8.1
Equity investment in Svilosa pulp mill.

Manufaciuring e Private » C/1

Stara Zagora Water 10.9 9.0 Q0
Investment to upgrade water supply infrastructure.

Municipal infrastructure e State ¢ B/1

Telelink 0.1 o 0.1
financing gecgraphic expansion of an information technology

and telecemmunications service,

Telecommunications e Private e C/1

Unionbank 0.8 o] 0.8

Acquisition of a 15 per ¢ent equity stake in Unionbank.
Bank equity e Private « Fi
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US/EBRD SME Flnance Facllity
ProCredit Bank Bulgaria 1.0 4] 1.0 1.0

Equity investment in ProCredit Bank Bulgaria and finaneing
for micro and small enterprises.
Small business finance e Private o Fi

Vez Svoghe 80.8 34.0 o] 340

Financing the construction of nine small hydro power plants.
Power and energy o Private o A/Q

Wilenerherger Bulgarla 8.0 6.8 4] 6.8

Expansion and modernisation of a brick-making plant.
Manufacturing » Private » A/0

Croatia

EU/EBRD SME Finance Facility
Erste Leasing Croatia 10.0 10.0 0 10.0

Credit line for on-fending to small and medium-sized businesses.,
Nen-bank financial institutions e Private o F

Raiffeisen Bank 10.0 10.0 0 10.0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending e Private o B/0Q

Getro 28.8 28.8 0 28.8

Syndicated loan to finance Getra's expansion in Croatia.
Agribusiness e Private « B/1

Ploce port 78.2 11.2 0 11.2

Finance for civil works and supply of heavy lift cranes for work
to Ploce port’'s new bulk terminai.
Transport = State ¢ A/1

Zagreb water 60.0 30.0 ] 300

Upgrade and expansion of water and waste-water infrastructure.
Municipal infrastructure ¢ State o B/1

FYR Macedonia

Waestern Balkans Local Enterprise Facility
Vitaminka Prilep 4.0 3.2 0 3.2

Loan to finance the purchase of packaging and production lines.
Agribusiness e Private « C/Q

Vitalia 1.0 ¢ 0.7 0.7

Loan to help Vitalia further expand on the Macedonian as well
as new, regional markets, develop new branded products and
strengthen its direct distribution network,

Agribusiness e Private e IEE

Western Balkans MSME Framework

Moznosti 3.0 3.0 0 30
Local currency guarantee facility.

Small business finance o Private o Fl

Reglonal Trade Facilitation Programme 3.5 3.5 1) 3.5

Support for foreign trade through Komercijaina Banka and
Tutunska Bank,
Bank lending e Private ¢ FI




Georgia

Bank Republic (Equity) 0.7 0 0.7

Equity invest nent to support growth in the si>th largest Georgian bank.
Bank equity « Private e FI

0.7

Bank Republic {Mortgage) 2.7 2.7 0 2.7
Loan for on-lending to individuals as mortgage: finance.

Bank lending e Private = Fl

Caucasus Energy Efficlency Programme 6.8 6.8 4] 6.8
Credit line to Cartu Bank and TBC Bank for on-lending

to energy efficiency projects.

Bank lending e Private e FI

Direct Invest nent Facility

Alfapet 01 o) c.1 0.1
Investment ir a plastics producer.

Manufacturin 2 » Private

Georgian Finuncial Sector Framework

Basis Bank 4.0 20 0 2.0
Loan for on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending » Private ¢ FI

Bank Repubiit 8.1 8.1 0 8.1
Loan for on-lending to micro and small enterprises.

Small busines.s finance e Private « F

Cartu Bank 5.0 2.0 0 2.0
Loan for on-tending to smali and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending » Private o Fl

TBC Bank 8.0 4.0 o] 4.0
Loan for on-leading to small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending » Private ¢ Fi

Georglan Property Debt Framework

Green Building' 38 2.3 o} 2.3
Conversion of an historic building in Tbilisi for office use.

Property and 1ourism e Private e B/1

Thitisi Central frain Station 58 5.8 0 5.8
Lean to finance the refurbishment of Thilisi's central train station.

Property and tourism e Private « B/1

Georgian Progerty Fund 98.6 0 10.8 10.8
Equity investr ent in Georgian real estate investment vehicle.

Property and taurism e Private o Fl

Medium-sized Loan Co-flnancing Facility

Bank Republic 4.6 4.6 0 4.6
Loans far on-lending to Begi flour mill.

Agribusiness « Private

Bank Republic 1.7 1.7 0 1.7
Construction cf a new private hospital for MediCiub Georgia.

Property and tourism e Private

TBC Bank 5.1 5.1 0 5.1
Loans for on-le nding to Tsiskvilkombinati flour raill.

Agribusiness o Private

TBC Bank 0.7 0.7 o 0.7
Loan to Embavrood to set up a furniture manufacturing facility.
Manufacturing e Private

TBC Bank 4.1 41 0 41

Finance for new can filling line and working capita! expansion
at a Coca Cola plant.
Agribusiness e Private

TBC Bank 4.0 4.0 o

Loan to Wiésol to expand its network of petrol stations.
Natural resources e Private

TBC Bank 5.0 5.0 4]

Loan io assist in the expansion of Goodwilt hypermarket network.
Agribusiness e Private

ProCredit éank Georgia 10.2 5.4 0

Syndicated loan to ProCredit Georgia for on-tending
to micro and small-sized enterprises.
Small business finance o Private o i

Regional Tréde Facilltation Programme 50.0 50.0 0

Support for foreign trade through Bank of Georgia,
Cartu Bank and TBC Bank.
Bank lending e Private o Fl

Hungary
EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facllity
SG Eguipment Finance Hungary 5.0 5.0 0

Funding for leases to farms and small enterprises
for up to €250,000 in rural areas of Hungary.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private « Fi

Hosplnvest 4.0 0 4.0
Capital increase in Hungary's first hospital management company.
Manufacturing « Private e C/1

Winterthur Multl-project Facllity
Biztosito 3.4 0 3.4

Fourth capital increase in Winterthur's Hungarian insurance company.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private « Fi

Penztarszolgaitato 0.8 0 0.8

Third capital increase for life insurance company.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private e FI

Hazakhstan

Accumulation Pension Fund (GNPF) 1.4 0 1.4

Acquistion of a 20 per cent equity state in pension fund
befare privatisation.
Non-bank financial institutions « State e Fl

Bank Caspian 40.1 40.1 0
Loan far on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.
Bank lending e Private o F

Bank Center.Credit 2.7 2.7 0
Credit line for on-lending as residential mortgages.

Bank lending e Private « Fl

Bautino Atash Marine and Supply Base 9.5 27 6.8

Loan and equity investment to assist in construction
of a supply base catering for offshore oilfield operators.
Natural resources o Private « A/O

45.0 176 0

Loan to improve production, marketing and distribution activities.
Agribusiness » Private » C/1

Derbes Brewery

Efes Kazakhﬁtan 29.3 293 4]

Local currency loan to finance expansion.
Agribusiness o Private « B/1

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

4.0

5.0

5.4

50.0

5.0

4.0

3.4

0.8

14

40.1

2.7

9.5

17.6

29.3

87



Karcement 14.9 14.9

Expansion and modernisation of Karaganda cement plant,

Manufacturing e Private » 8/1

KazlnvestBank 15.0 0

Support for regional expansion and devetopment of retail
and SME lending activities.
Bank equity e Private o F

Kazakhstan Kagazy 47.0 26.8

Leans to complete the restructuring and expansion of
a paper business.
Manufacturing e Private » B/1

Kazkommertsbank 203.9 70.0

15.0

o

14.9

15.0

26.8

70.0

Syndicated [oan to diversify lending activities into mortgage financing.

Bank lending e Private ¢ Fl

Kazakhstan Small Business Programmae Il
KazMicroFinance 20 1.0
Local currency loan for on-lending to small businesses.
Small business finance o Private o Fl

K Mobile 10.2 10.2
Loan to finance network expansion.
Telecommunications e Private o C/1

Mittal Steel Temirtau 68.0 68.0
Loan for improvements to health and safety,
Manufacturing e Private « B/1

Pavlodar Energo 20.4 20.4

Loan to finance refurbishment of energy production facilities

in northern Kazakhstan.
Power and energy o Private o B/1

Soufflet Multi-project Facility

Kazakhstan ACL 2007 55 5.5
Financing of bartey for malt production.

Agribusiness e Private e C/0

Reglonal Trade
Facilitation Programme 123.0 123.0

0

Support for foreign trade through Alliance Bank, Bank Caspian,

Bank Center Credit, KazlnvestBank and Kazkommertsbank.

Bank lending e Private o FI

Kyrgyz Republic

Direct Lending Facility
Crion Hotels 1.4 1.4

0

Financing construction of an office complex in central Bishkek.

Property and tourism e Private

ETC Non-Bank Microfinance Institution Framework 1|
Baj Tushum 1.4 1.4
Guarantee fagility.

Small business finance e Private s FI

Frontiers 0.7 0.7
Loan to support micro enterprises in Kyrgyz Republic.
Small business finance o Private o FI

Kompanion 0.7 0.7

0

1.0

10.2

68.0
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5.5

123.0

1.4

1.4

0.7

0.7

Credit line for on-lending to micro, smasl and medium-sized businesses.

Small business finance e Private = Fi
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Kyrgyz Financial Sector Framework
Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank 1.4 1.4 0

Loan to KICB for on-lending to residential mortgage customers.
Bank lending e Private o F|

Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank 2.0 2.0 C

Loan to KICB to encourage tourism opportunities for small businesses.
Bank lending e Private e Fi

Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank 0.2 o] 0.2

Loan to KICB for on-lending to small businesses.
Bank equity e Private o FI

Kyrgyz MSE Flnancing Facility 1l
Kazkommertsbank 3.0 1.4 0

Loan for on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.
Small business finance e Private o FI

Medium-sized Loan Co-financing Facility
Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank 1.4 0.7 0

Financing the expansion of the Silk Road lodge hotel.
Property and tourism e Private
Reglonal Trade Facilitation Programme 1.3 1.3 a

Support for foreign trade through tneximbank and
Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank.
Bank lending e Private o FI

Latvia

RIga Water Company 0.4 0.4 4]

toan to Riga water company for a leakage reduction programme.
Municipal infrastructure e State o B/O

Lithuania

E-Energla 15.0 7.5 0
Expansion of district heating activities in Lithuania.

Municipal infrastructure o Private  8/0

Siaufiu Bankas 4.3 0 4.3

Equity investment in SME-focused local bank.
Bank equity ¢ Private e FI

Moldova

Banca Sociala 5.0 5.0 ¢

Second credit line for on-lending to SMEs.
Bank lending e Private « Fi

ETC Non-Bank Microfinance Institution Framework 1|
Microinvest 0.7 0.7 4]
Credit line for on-lending to micro and small businesses.

Small business finance e Private o F

Moldova Microlending Framework
Banca Sociala 2.0 2.0 0

Credit line for on-lending te micro and small businesses.
Small business finance = Private o FI
Mobiasbanca 0.7 0.7 0

Credit tine for on-lending to micro and small businesses.
Small business finance s Private o Fi
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Moldova road upgrading 90.0 12.5 o)
Loan to finarce improvements to the road network

and institutic nal strengthening.

Transport e Siate o B/1

SUN Communications 10.6 36 1.9
Equity investment and loan to support expansion.
Telecommunications  Private o C/0

Regional Trede Facllitation Programme 6.7 8.7 0

Support for -oreign trade through Banca Sociala and Mobiasbanca.

Bank lendin! » Private o Fl

Mongolia

Direct Inves tment Facility

Austraifan Ir dependent Diamond Drilling 4.0 0 4.0
Financing tke purchase of two new drilling rigis.

Natural resources  Private

Minii Delgur 6.0 0 6.0

Development of leading retailer in Utaanbaatar
through exgansion of shop network.
Agribusiness ¢ Private

Direct Loar Facility

Vitafit 1.5 1.5 0
Financing for a new production line for a juice producer.
Agribusines s » Private

Mongolian Financial Sector Framework

Xac Bank 1.6 o] 1.6
Equity inve stment to encourage lending to small and
medium-si; ed enterprises.

Small business finance e Private o Fi

Khan Bank 6.8 6.8 0

Credit line for on-lending 10 micro, small and
medium-sied businesses.
Small business finance » Private » F|

MAK 14.0 14.0 0
Loan to mining company.

Natural re:ources o Private o B/1

Monter.egro

Montenegro rall Infrastructure 30.0 6.0 0
Support fur the upgrading of railway infrastructure.

Transport e State » B/1

Montenej!ro regional water supply 220 8.0 0
Construction of a regional water supply network.

Municipal infrastructure ¢ State » B/1

NLB Montenegrobanka 0.4 0.4 0

Capital increase to support further growth.
Bank equity e Private o FI

Western Balkans MSME Framework
Alter Mogus It 1.5 1.5 0

Further Ican to Alter Modus for on-lending te micso,
small anil medium-sized enterprises.
Small business finance ¢ Private o Fi
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Poland

Avallon 12.0 0 12.0
Investment in a private equity firm.

Equity funds e Private e FI

Celsa Huta. Ostrowiec |l 157.9 78.0 0
Loan for expansion and modernisation of a steel mill,
Manufacturing e Private e B/1

Hotel Atrium 10.0 10.0 0
Standby facility for Polish hotel.

Property and tourism e Private ¢ B/0

Romania

Banca Transilvanla 6.0 o] 6.0
Equity investment in Romanian bank.

Bank equity » Private e Fl

E.ON Energle Romania 11.0 4] 11.0
Equity participation in a power distribution project.

Power and energy o Private » C/1

E.ON Gaz Romania Holding 33.0 C 33.0

Equity participation in a gas and electricity distribution companies.
Power and energy e Private e C/1

EU/EBRD Rural Finance Facllity
Bance Transilvania 10.0 3.0 0

Funds for long-term lending to rural customers.
Bank lending e Private ¢ B/1

Casa de Economii si Consemnatiuni 10.0 10.0 0

Funds for on-lending to rural small businesses.
Bank lending « Private ¢ Fi

Bank Leumi Romania 10.0 3.0 0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Bank lending « Private «

Globa! Trhde Centre
{Reglonal retail centres) 96.0 16.3 0

Loan for the acquisition, development and management
of commercial centres.
Property and tourism = Private « B/1

tasi Puhlic Transport 200 10.0 0

Finance for the renovation of tram and other public
transport infrastructure in lasi.
Municipal infrastructure o State » B/1

Kaufland Romanla 306.0 100.0 0
Firancing for Kaufland’s expansion programme in Romania.
Agribusiness s Private » B/1

Oradea ﬁatar and waste water 48.8 4.0 0
Renovation of water and waste-water facilities.

Municipal infrastructure o State ¢ B/O

Posta Romana 60.0 30.0 0

Finance’for modernisation of postal facilities including
a new automated sorting centre.
Telecommunications = State » B/1

Romania Micro Credit Framework
Banca Transiivania 15.0 4.0 0

Funds for on-lending to micro and small businesses.
Small business finance « Private » Fl

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
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Express Finance 1.9 0.8 ) 0.8

Loan for on-lending to small and medium-sized enterprises.
Small business finance o Private o FI

Opportunity Microcredit Romania 1.0 1.0 9] 1.0

Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Smafl business finance e Private o FI

RZB leasing 15.0 8.0 0 8.0

Credit to improve leasing facilities for SMEs.
Non-bank financial institutions o Private o Fi

Soufflet Multl-project Facility
Mait Romania 58.7 200 8] 20.0

Funds for construction of a malt house.
Agribusiness o Private » C/0
Timisoara Aquatim 50.6 6.5 0 6.5

Financing for renovation of water and waste-water infrastructure.
Municipal infrastructure o State o« B/0O

Transgaz Carbon Credit 08 0 0.8 08
Finance for an energy efficiency and environmental

management project.

Natural resources ¢ State o C/1

Reglonal Trade Facllitation Programme 4.6 4.6 [0 4.6

Support for foreign trade through Compania de Factoring.
Bank lending e Private » Fl

Russia

AHML Residential 7.3 7.3 0 1.3

Investment in the first public issue of residential
mortgage-backed securities in Russia.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private o F|

AR Carton 18.0 9.0 0.0 9.0
Modernisation of carten packaging firm.

Manufacturing e Private o B/1

Bank Kazansky 7.0 36 0 3.6
Loan for on-lending 1o small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending o Private o FI

Bank Kedr 11.0 5.6 0 5.6
Loan for on-tending to small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending o Private o FI

ChTPZ Group Modernisation 135.0 40.0 0 40.0

Loan to refinance existing loans and to fund the construction
of a finishing centre at Pervoural.
Manufacturing e Private » B/1

ChTPZ Steel 450.5 76.9 0 76.9
Loan to construct a steel plant to produce components for pipes.
Manufacturing e Private » A/1

Center Invest Bank 27.8 13.9 0 13.9

Credit line to finance mortgages, energy efficiency loans
and small and medium-sized business loans.
Bank lending e Private o Fl

Daido Metal Russia 13.8 3.6 0 3.6

Lean to help finance the purchase of an existing auto parts
manufacturer in Nizhny Novgorod.
Manufacturing e Private « B/1
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DeltaCredit Bank 6.8 6.8 0 6.8

Securitisation of residential mortgages.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private s F

Element Leasing 6.8 6.8 0 6.8

Loan to help develop leasing to small and medium-sized enterprises.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private s FI

Enforta 7.8 3.4 4.4 7.8

Loan and equity investment to enable provision of broadband
services to Russian regions.
Tetecommunications e Private o C/1

Guardian Russla 172.3 59.7 0 59.7

Loan to finance greenfield construction of a glass production
plant in Ryazan.
Manufacturing e Private « B/1

ING Life Insurance Russia 3.0 0 0.8 0.8

Equity investment in ING life insurance Russia.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private o Fl

Inpromleasing 106.8 385 0 385

Leasing of rolling stock to private rail operators.
Transport e Private o Fl

fndependent Leasing 17.3 17.3 0 17.3

Leng-term loan to help develop the Russian leasing sector.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private ¢ Fl

KMB Bank 9.0 9.0 0 9.0

Investment to allow the bank to meet continuously high demand
from smail and medium-sized enterprises.
Small business finance o Private o Fl

Kazan water and waste water 12.9 9.7 0 9.7
Loan to Kazan city for upgrading of water and waste-water facilities.
Municipal infrastructure » State « B/1

Lenta Hypermarkets Il 93.0 0 23.0 93.0
Equity investment to promote further expansion of the hypermarket chain.
Agribusiness e Private s C/1

MDM Bank 203.8 70.0 0 70.0

Lean to help expand retail activities, extend longer-term funding
and increase small business lending.
Bank lending e Private e Fi

NBD Bank 13.6 3.4 0 34
Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.

Bank lending e Private o FI

Norum Russia Il Fund 56.0 0 50.0 50.0
Equity fund investing in private companies operating in Russia and the CIS.
Equity funds e Private o FI

OAO Autocrane 271 136 0 13.6

Loan to enable company te improve corporate governance
and business practices.
Manufacturing e Private e B/1

OAOQ Severstal 300.c 1500 0 1500
Loan for energy efficiency improvements.

Manufacturing o Private e B/1

Orgresbank 328 0 32.8 32.8

Equity investment to help regional expansion and development
of small and medium-sized enterprise lending.
Bank equity e Private e FI




Primsotsbank 8.4 0 4.2 4.2
Support for a bank based in Russia’s Far East, enabling it

to expand and tlevelop its small business lending programme.

Bank equity o Pivate ¢ F|

Private Equity 'und Co-Investment Facility

Hansastroi 45.2 0 5.0 5.0
Equity investment in a real estate company in St Petersburg.
Manufacturing » Private o C/1

Project Rust/\Vyso 8.0 Q 3.4 3.4
Equity investment to support the launch of new corrosion protection
services for oil and gas ptatforms.

Manufacturing e Private e B/1

Project Volga 10.0 10.0 0 10.0

Suppert for costruction of a manufacturing facility to make
the influenza vaccine,
Manufacturing e Private « B/O

Promsvyazbank 204.0 57.8 0 57.8

Syndicated loz n to help one of Russia's largest private banks
to expand its tetail activities, extend longer-term funding and
increase smal business lending.

Bani lending « Private o F}

Reglonal Veniure Funds 1.4 0 1.4 1.4
Equity investments in medium-sized enterprises in north-west

and west Russia.

Equity funds « Private o Fi

Renalssance Insurance 3.3 0 3.3 3.3

Equity participation to help develop Russia's financial markets
and broaden he range of services available tc the public.
Non-bank fingncial institutions « Private e FI

RESO Insurance 111.7 0 111.7 111.7

Equity investinent to support the group's expansion of its core
insurance ac'ivities and to help with the continued growth

of its operatins across Russia.

Non-bank financial institutions s Private e FI

Rosmorport 65.0 54.3 o 54.3
Finance for | pgrading of the auxiliary fleet and to enable the

port to adjust to new fee structures.

Transport e Sitate o C/1

Russian Reglonal Jet 1,348.0 100.0 0 1000

Finance for the purchase of equipment and to support the upgrade of
production fircilities, as well as the production and sale of aircraft.
Transport e [’rivate » B/1

Russia Sma | Business Fund 83.0 47.0 o] 47.0

Credit line tn Absolut Bank, Center-Invest Bank, Chelindbank,

Locko Bank, NBD Bank, Probusiness Bank, FosevroBank,

Spurt Bank, Transcapital Bank, Uraltransbank and Vostochny
Express Bank for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.
Small businass finance e Private o Fi

SKB Bank 16.7 16.7 0 16.7

Loan to finznce development and expansion
Bank lendirg = Private o FI

SKB Bank (Equity) 25.3 0 25.9 259
Equity investment to support the expansion of operations with

private sec.or small and medium-sized enterprises and retail

customers in the Urals region.

Bank equit) e Private o Fl

Saratov shopping centre 54.2 17.7 0 17.7

finance for the development, construction and start-up costs
of Saratov Shopping Centre.
Property and tourism e Private = B/1

Sky Express 5.4 5.4 4] 5.4

Investment in new low-cost airline.
Transport e Private « C/1

Soufflet Multl-project Facility
Agro Rus ACL 2007 55 5.5 0 5.5

Local currency working capital financing of barley for malt production.
Agribusiness e Private e C/0

Spurt Bank 141 0.0 14.1 14.1

Equity investment to help strengthen Spurt Bank's capital, bolster
its position in its home market as well as finance its strategy

of regional expansion.

Bank equity e Private ¢ Fi

SREI Leasing 11.0 5.0 1.4 6.4

Financing to help the company to increase its leasing portfolio
and reach more focas small and medium-sized companies in Russia.
Non-bank financial institutions e Private e FI

Stora Enso Multi-project Facility 231 58 4] 5.8

Greenfield construction of packaging plant in Balbanovo.
Manufacturing o Private e B/{MPF)

Subordinated Loan Framework for Russian Mid-sized Banks
Locko Bank 136 13.6 0 13.6

Loan to finance development and expansion.
Bank lending o Private e Fi

Sumitomo Leasing 0.1 0.1 0 01

Finance for leasing of bulldozers to ZAO Chernigovets.
Manufacturing « Private e Fl

Surgut housing 37.3 19.5 0 195

Loan 10 fund urban renewal and tay the foundations for major
transformation of the housing stock in Siberian city of Surgut.
Municipal infrastructure e State e B/1

TGK-9 1321 0 1391 139.1

Support for the enhancement of energy efficiency in generation,
upgrade of infrastructure and industrial growth.
Power and energy o Private o C/1

Taganrog Teploenergo 37 o] 3.7 3.7

Equity participation to support the upgrade of district heating
infrastructure and increase energy efficiency.
Municipal infrastructure o Private » B/1

TransContainer 134.0 0 1340 1340
Equity stake in Russia's largest rail container operator.

Transport » State o C/1

Uta glass packaging plant 100 100 0 100
Loan to finance construction of a bottling plant near Ufa.

Agribusiness o Private o B/1

Uta waste water 18.5 139 0 1319

Loan to finance priority capital investments to improve the water
and waste-water infrastructure and services, thus decreasing the
level of pollution reaching the Volga River and the Caspian Sea.
Municipal infrastructure « State » B/1
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Viatra Il 5.1 0 51

51

Support for restructuring and consolidation of the outdoor advertising

sector and expansion of the overall advertising industry in Russia.
Tetecommunications e Private e C/1

Vostochny Express 11.0 56 0

Credit line for mortgage lending in Russia’s Far East.
Bank lending e Private ¢ Fi

727.6 1455 0

Loan to Volkswagen Rus for construction of an auto production
plant near Kaluga.
Manufacturing « Private ¢ B/1

Volkswagen Rus

VTB Venture Capital fund 17.0 4] 17.0
Equity investment to stimulate the commerciat development

. of advanced and innovative technologies.

. Equity funds o Private o Fi

| Wienerberger Russia Il 4.0 4.0 0

Manufacturing e Private e FI

Reglonal Trade
Facllitatlon Programme 227.0 227.0 0

Support for foreign trade through Absolut Bank, Bank Kazansky,

5.6

145.5

17.0

4.0

Financing the construction of a brick manufacturing plant near Xazan.

227.0

Center-invest Bank, Chelindbank, Credit Bank of Moscow, Locko Bank,

MDM Bank, NBD Bank, Probusiness Bank, Promsvyazbank, Rosbank,
Transcapital Bank, URSA Bank and Uraltransbank.
Bank lending e Private o FI

i Serbia
Belgrade Highway
and Bypass Project 2856 80.0 0
Loan to upgrade infrastructure and reduce traffic flow problems.
Transport e State o A/1
Global Trade Centre (Office) 30.7 107 8]
Development of office buildings for local and international tenants,
Property and tourism s Private ¢ B/1

HVB Group Debt Facility Framework
BACA - UniCredit Bank Serbia

Mortgage Loan il 5.0 5.0 0
Suppeort for mortgage lending in Serbia.

Bank lending e Private s FI

Nectar 10.0 10.0 0

| Support for the expansicn of the company’s distribution network.
| Agribusiness e Private ¢ C/1
|
|

Project Cable Europa 9.6 0 9.6
Equity investment in telecommunications firm,

! Telecommunications e Private ¢ C/1

| Privredna Banka Beograd 10.0 5.0 0
Loan to support mortgage lending in Serbia.
Bank lending e Private e Fi
ProCredit Bank Serbia 1.8 o] 1.8

Credit line for on-lending 1o small and medium-sized businesses.
Small business finance o Private o FI
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80.0

10.7

5.0

10.0

9.6

5.0

1.8

Srpske Kablovske Mreze (SBB) 3.5 3.5 4] 3.5
Equity funding for telecoms operator to enable expansion of its

network and introduction of new services such as broadband.
Telecommunications e Private o C/1

Victoria Group (Sojaprotein) 45.0 45.0 0 45.0
Loan for the purchase of agricultural commaodities and energy

efficiency improvements.

Agribusiness e Private « C/1

Western Balkans SME Framework

Metals Banka 35 3.5 ¢ 3.5
Lean for on-lending to small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending ¢ Private o Fl

Raiffeisen Leasing 5.0 5.0 0 5.0
Loan te increase leasing opportunities for small and

medium-sized companies.

Non-bank financial institutions e Private a Fl

Western Balkans Local Enterprise Facllity

Pestova 1.9 0 1.3 1.3
Equity stake to support expansion of a potato producer and processor.
Agribusiness e Private e C/0

Western Balkans MSME Framework

Kosovo Enterprise Programme 3.0 3.0 0 3.0
Loans for on-lending to micro, small ané medium-sized enterprises.

Small business finance ¢ Private o Fl

Reglonal Trade Facilitation Programme 0.9 0.9 ] 0.9
Support for foreign trade through Cacanska Banka, Metals Banka,
Privredna Banka and Raiffeisen Bank.

Bank lending ¢ Private e FI

Slovak Republic

Slovak Energy Effictency

Financing Framework 60.0 60.0 0 €0.0
Credit line to Dexia Banka, Slovenska Sporitelna, Tatra Bank

and Vseobecna Uverova Banka for on-lending for energy efficiency

and renewable energy investments.

Bank lending = Private o FI

Slovenia

Nova Ljubljanska Banka 5.0 5.0 0 5.0
Investment as part of the bank’s privatisation, enabling it to

expand its regional coverage.

Bank equity » Private e Fi

Prva Group 8.0 0 8.0 8.0

Funds for the establishment and expansion of Prva’s pension
fund and asset management subsidiaries in south-eastern Europe
and later in the CIS.

Non-bank financial institutions e Private o FI




Tajlkistan

Direct Lending =acllity

Geha Tomato Paste Factory 8.0 0.7 0 0.7
Working capital loan to allow purchase of tomatoes from iocal farmers.
Agribusiness » Private o C/0

LAL 1.4 1.4 0 1.4
Financing for the upgrading and expansion of container glass production.
Agribusiness = f'rivate » IEE

Komron-Agro-Ho'ding If 2.0 0.8 o] 0.8
Finance for the jurchase of ice cream making equipment.

Agribusiness e Frivate « A/Q

Road Maintenaiice Development 4.4 2.7 0 2.7
Finance for essential maintenance work on the Tajik road network.
Transport o Stat2 e C/1

Talik Agricultural Financing Facility 7.3 5.3 0 5.3

Credit line to Ag-oinvestbank, Eskhata Bank and Tojiksodirot Bank (TSOB)
for on-lending to local farmers as seasonal finance.
Small business ‘inance = Private « Fl

Tajik MSE Finar.cing Facillty 1l 10.0 6.1 4] 6.1

Credit line to Ag oinvestbank and First Microfinance Bank
Tajikistan for on lenging to micro and small businesses.
Small business ‘inance e Private e Fl

Regional Trade I-acilitation Programme 8.7 8.7 o] 8.7

Support for foreign trade through Agroinvestbank, Eskhata Bank,
Tajik Sodirot Bank and Tgjprombank,
Bank lending e Frivate ¢ Fl

Ukraine

Agroinvest 10.0 10.0 0 10.0
Loan for the construction of production facilities.

Agribusiness « Private o C/1

Bosch Facility 11 6.0 5.0 0 5.0

Loan for the expansion of auto service workshops across Ukraine.
Manufacturing  Private » C/0

Cadogan Petrole um 15.0 o 11.0 11.0
Equity investmer 1 to support the exploration and develepment

of deep gas fielcs.

Natural resources o Private » B/1

Cantik 56.3 0 11.3 11.3
Finance for the ¢evelopment and construction of six retail

centres across the country.

Property and tou‘ism » Private « B/1

Cersanit Cypr 418 13.9 0 13.9
Loan to finance tonstruction of new sanitary ware and ceramic tile
production facilitles.

Manufacturing « >rivate ¢« B/1

Cersanlt Invest 99.0 40.4 0 40.4

Loan to finance construction of new sanitary ware and ceramic tile
production facilit es.
Manufacturing e rivate e B/0

Direct lnvestment Facllity
Ukram Industries 21 21 0 2.1

Lean for production and pre-production stage.
Manufacturing » ’rivate

Euroventures Ukraine 0.6 0 0.6 0.6

Provision of equity capital to assist in the expansion of
local businesses.
Equity funds « Private « FI

Forum Bank (Mortgage) 14.0 6.8 0 6.8
Loan to support mortgage lending in Ukraine.
Bank lending e Private « Fl

Forum Bank (SjME) 82.2 8.2 a 8.2

Syndicated loan for on-lending to smati and medium-sized enterprises.
Bank lending « Privaie » FI

Gatnaftogaz 1359 34.0 o 34.0

Finance for the expansion of the company’s network of
QKKO petrol staticns.
Natural resources e Private « B/1

IKEA Ukralne 177.0 10.1 4] 10.1

Support for construction of retail units to introduce a new
retait structure to the company.
Property and tourism e Private s C/1

ISTIL ) 84.9 238 0 23.8
Loan for working capital and energy efficiency improvements.
Manufacturing e Private o B/1

Illichivsk Commercial Sea Port 39.0 26.0 0 26.0

Finance for the modernisation of the port including berth
reconstruction and purchase of new equipment.
Transport » State o 8/1

International Mortgage

Bank of Ukraine 13.6 13.6 0 13.6
Lean to support the development of mortgage lending in Ukraine.

Non-bank financial institutions e Private = F

Kreditprom Syndicated Facility 1 68.0 19.0 0 19.0
Loan for working capital and energy efficiency improvements.

Bank lending o Private » Fi

Kyiv City Transport {Metro) 44.0 24.0 0 24.0
Finance for new rolling stock and spare parts for Kiev Metro system.
Municipal infrastructure  State « B/1

Kylv City Transport (PasTrans) 66.0 36.0 0 36.0
Loan to the company responsible for bus, tram and trolleybus

services in Kiev.

Municipal infrastructure » State » B/1

MegaBank 13.6 136 0 136
Loan for on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending e Private e F}

OISIW Cable 203.2 0 221 221
Investment in improvements to telecoms and media infrastructure

in Ukraine.

Telecommunications = Private » C/1

Rodovid Bank 6.8 6.8 0] 6.8
Loan for on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.

Bank lending e Private e FI

Prosto Finance Ukraine 20.4 20.4 0 20.4

Loan to enable the company to expand its consumer finance lending.
Non-bank financial institutions » Private » Fl
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Renaissance Life Ukraine 1.5 O 1.5 1.5

Equity investment to support a life insurance company.
Non-bank financial institutions o Private e Fl

Shostka/Bel 22.0 0 8.7 8.7
Loan for modernisation of production facilities and increasing

capacity at a processed cheese manufacturer.

Agribusiness e Private » B/1

Slobozhanska Budivelna Keramika 35.0 2.9 0 2.9

Loan for the construction of new brick production facilities and
renovation of old ones.
Manufacturing ¢ Private « B/1

Slavutich Expanslon Il 66.0 30.8 0 30.8

Invesiment to increase production capacity at brewery.
Agribusiness e Private e C/1

Soufflet Multi-project Facility
Slavuta ACL 2007 11.5 11.5 4] 115

Support for the acquisition and restructuring of Slavuta in order
to expand its operations to Ukraine and support local barley farmers.
Agribusiness o Private « C/0

Ukraine ACL 2007 4.9 4.9 o} 4.9
Loan for malt production.

Agribusiness e Private « C/0

Ukraine Energy Efficiency Programme

UkrExim Bank 17.0 17.0 0 17.0

Credit line for on-lending for energy efficiency and renewable
energy investments.
Bank lending e Private o Fi

Ukraine Micro-lending Programme |l

Kredobank 7.0 3.4 0 3.4
Credit line for on-lending to small and medium-sized businesses.

Small business finance e Private o Fi

Ukrzaliznytsia (Ukraine Railways) 27.1 27.1 0 271
Loan to assist in introducing fast train services country wide,

acquiring track maintenance equipment and rebuilding

Beskyd Tunnel, a major trans-European bottleneck.

Transport « State ¢ B/0

Yugreftransflot (YTF) 38.7 8.8 ] 8.8

Finance for the company’s fleet expansion programme,
Transport e Private e C/1

Regional Trade Facilitation Programme 47.0 471.0 0 471.0

Support for foreign trade through Aval Bank. UkrExim Bank,
Forum Bank, OTP Bank, Kreditprombank and Kredobank.
Bank lending ¢ Private e FI
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Uzbekistan

Bursel 1.5 1.5 0 1.5

Loan to cotton garment manufacturer.
Manufacturing o Private » B/1

Direct Lending Facility

Imkon Plus 2.6 1.8 o] 1.8
Loan to leading ice cream procducer for expansion.

Agribusiness e Private

Green World 8.0 1.5 4] 1.5

Loan to expand production of fruit and vegetable concentrates
and purees,
Agribusiness e Private

Malika Hotel Khiva 0.1 0.1 o] o1

Loan for the expansicn of hotel facilities via a bed-and-breakfast
type hotel in Nukus,
Property and tourism e Private

Mekhnat Pivo It 2.0 2.0 4] 2.0
Funds for the purchase of a beer bottling fine.

Agribusiness e Private 1

Hambkor Bank 3.4 3.4 0 3.4

Loan for on-lending to micro, small and medium-sized enterprises.
Bank equity  Private o Fl

Japan-Uzbekistan Small Business Programme

Hamkor Bank 2.0 2.0 0 2.0
Credit line for on-lending to micro and small businesses.

Small business finance e Private » Fl ‘

UzDaewoo Bank 086 0.6 0 0.6
Equity investment in commercial and investment bank.

Bank equity ¢ Private o FI

Reglonal Trade Facilitation Programme 1.0 1.0 o] 1.0

Suppeort for foreign trade through Hamker Bank and UzDaewoo Bank.
Bank lending o Private e FI

Regional

AIG New Europe Fund Il 10.5 4] 10.5 105
Private equity fund investing in central and eastern Europe.

Equity funds e Private e F|

Accession Mezzanine Capital Il 200.0 ¢} 40.0 40.0

Private equity fund investing in central European and Balkan countries,
possibly moving inte Russia and Ukraine.
Equity funds e Private ¢ I

Baltcap Private Equity Fund 20.0 o 20.0 20.0

Private equity fund investing primarily in Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania.
Equity funds » Private ¢ FI

Baring Vostok Private Equity Fund IV 7145 0 20.4 20.4

Private equity fund investing in middle-market enterprises
primarily in Russia, Kazakhstan and Ukraine as well as other
CIS and Baltic countries and Mongolia.

Equity funds e Private e Fi




Baring Vostchk Private Equity
Supplemental Fund 306.4 0 34.0 34.0

Private equity fund investing in Russia, Kazakhstan and Ukraine.
Equity funds e Private o FI

Brasseries |nternational Holdings 0.7 0 a.7 0.7

Reconstruct on and development of breweries atross the Caucasus.
Agribusinest; e Private e C/1

Capital Mecia 50.0 25.0 o 25.0

Developmer t and restructuring of TV broadcasting group with
TV stations in Romania and Ukraine.
Telecommunications e Private e C/1

Centras Prl/ate Equity Fund 10.2 0 10.2 10.2
Private equity fund investing in companies ooerating in or exporting
products or services from Kazakhstan, Russia and Central Asia.

Equity fund; o Private » FI

Clean Glob 2 International 107.5 305 30 33.5
Estabtishm 2nt of crude oil spill response centres in key locations

in the Bank's countries of operations and provision of regicnal training,
prevention and remedial services.

Natural respurces » Private o B/O

E-Energija 5.0 0 5.0 5.0
Equity investment in E-Energija, which providés heat and hot water
services t¢ both residential and industrial customers in Lithuania

and Latvia and is considering expanding its operations into Ukraine.
Municipal infrastructure e Private o B/O

EPG East Zuro Asia Property Fund 300.0 ¢} 60.0 60.0
Equity funid which makes real estate investments in Russia,

the CIS countries, and south-eastern Europe.

Property and tourism = Private » FI

EnerCap 100.0 ¢ 250 25.0
Private eq ity fund dedicated to investing in renewable energy

and energy efficiency projects in central ard south-eastern Europe.

Power an¢ energy » Private o Fl

Europolis 11l 52.5 31.5 21.0 52.5
Equity invzstment aliowing the creation of a regional portfolio of property
assets in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, FYR Macedonia, Montenegro,
Russia, Sarbia and Ukraine.

Property find tourism e Private » C/1

Furshet 61.2 40.8 0 40.8

Loan to help Furshet Group open new stores across Ukraine
and expad its operations in Moldova.
Agribusiness o Private s C/1

GS Hotels and Resort 208.0 27.5 251 52.6

Loan anc equity investment in leading tocal hospitality group,
hased in Dubrovnik.
Property and tourism e Private e B/1

Global Finance SEE Fund 8.0 ] 48.0 48.0

Regional private equity fund investing in south-eastern Europe.
Equity funds e Private « Fi

. ."\_

Heitman Russia and
Ukralne Property Partners 101.9 0 30.6 30.6

Equity investment to develop, reconstruct, acquire, own
and manage real estate property in Russia and Ukraine.
Property and tourism e Private o Fl

LUKOIL 2039 101.9 0 1019
Programme to improve the environmenta!, health and safety

performance of various facilities operated by LUKOIL.

Natural resources o Private  C/1

Marhleton Property Fund Q.7 0 0.7 0.7
Equity funding for office, residential, retail and industrial property
development, primarily in Russia and Ukraine.

Property and tourism e Private « Fl

Meinl Caucasus and Central Asia 375.0 0 131.3 1313

Finance for the development of high-guality, international standard
retail and mixed-use properties in Caucasus and Central Asia with
a particular focus on Georgia, Armenia, and Kazakhstan.

Properiy and tourism e Private » Fl

New Europe Venture

Equity Fund (NEVEQ) 10.0 0 10.0 10.0
Private equity fund investing in small and medium-sized

technotogy enterprises primarily located in Bulgaria and Romania.

Equity funds e Private  Fi

Private Equlty Fund

Co-Investment Facllity 487.0 o] 10.0 10.0
Sub-project “Project Bella” under the private equity co-investment facility.
Telecommunications e Private « C/1

Rovyalton Partners | 50.0 Q 50.0 50.0

Equity financing for local service providers.
Equity funds e Private « FI

Russia ﬁartners 1] 51.0 4] 51.0 51.0

Fund investing in CIS enterprises with significant growth potential.
Equity funds e Private o Fl

South-eastern Europe Joint
Power Venture 600.0 ¢ 60.0 60.0

Investment in the acquisition or development of energy assets
in the South-eastern European Energy Market, covering Albania,
Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria. Croatia. FYR Macedonia,
Montenegro, Romania and Serbia.

Power and energy # Private o C/0

Syntaxis Mezzanine Fund 26.0 0 25.0 25.0
Fund with a portfolio of Central European investments, in various sectors.
Equity funds o Private o Fl

Trolka Dialogue 136.0 51.0 0 51.0

Loan to encourage development of financial intermediation in Russia
and the CIS and foster competition on the tocal capital markets.
Nen-bank financial institutions ¢ Private o Fl

Véclia Voda 105.0 0 1050 105.0

Equity investment in Véolia Voda enabling it to expand in central
and eastern Europe, Russia and Ukraine.
Municipal infrastructure » Private » C/1
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Web site

The EBRD web site (www.ebrd.com)
contains comprehensive information
on every aspect of the Bank's
activities. It includes a range of
publications, policies, country
strategies and full contact details
for the Bank's local offices.

Guide for readers

Exchange rates

Non-euro currencies have been
converted, where appropriate, into
euro on the basis of the exchange
rates current on 31 December 2007.
(Approximate euro exchange rates:
£0.73, US$ 1.47, ¥ 164.87))

Calculation of EBRD commitments
Repeat transactions with the same
client for seasonal/short-term
facilities, such as commodity
financing, are not included in the
calculation of EBRD commitments
for the year.

Annual Meeting

The EBRD's Annual Meeting consists
of a gathering of shareholders
(represented by governors) and a
business forum, which is open to
potential investors in the region.

For details, contact the Annual
Meetings Management Unit

(Tel: +44 20 7338 6625;

Fax: +44 20 7338 7320).

The Annual Meeting in 2008 is to be
held in Kiev, Ukraine on 18-1% May.
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Abbreviations and acronyms

The Bank, EBRD
BAS
Cis
DIF
DLF
EAR
EIA
EIB
ETCs
EU
EvD
FAO
FYR Macedonia
GDP
GEF
IFi
IDSF
IPO
IRM
ISDA
LEF
LiTS
LTP
MCCF
MDBs
MEI
MSEs
MSMEs
MOU
NDEP
NIB
NGO
OECD
OCE
PIP
PPC
PPP
PP&R
RSBF
SEI
SECO
SMEs
TAM
TC
TFP
T

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
Business Advisory Services

Commonwealth of Independent States

Direct Investment Facility

Direct Lending Facility

European Agency for Reconstruction

Environmental impact assessment :

European Investment Bank

Early transition countries

European Union

Evaluation Department

Food and Agriculture Qrganization of the United Nations-
Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia
Gross domestic product

v

Global Environment Facility .
International financial institution

International Decommissioning Support Fund

Initial public offering

independent Recourse Mechanism

International Swaps and Derivatives Association
Western Balkans-Local Enterprise Facility

Life in Transition Survey

Legal Transition Programme

Multilateral Carbon Credit Fund

Muttilateral development banks 1
Municipal and environmental infrastructure '
Micro and smali enterprises

Micro, small and medium-sized enterprises
Memorandum of Understanding

Northern Dimension Environmentat Partnership
Nordic Investment Bank

Non-governmental organisation

Organisation for Econom@c Cooperation and Development
Office of the Chief Economist

Public Information Policy

Project Preparation Committee

Public-private partnership

Procurement Policies and Rules

Russia Small Business Fund

Sustainable Energy Initiative

Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs

Small and medium-sized enterprises

TurnAround Management

Technical cooperation

Trade Facilitation Programme

Terajoules

.
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aims to foster the transition from centrally planned to market economies
in 29 countries from central Europe to central Asia.

The EBRD invests in virtually every kind of enterprise and financial institution,
mainly in the form of loans and equity. Investments are designed to advance
the transition to market economies and to set the highest standards of
corporate governance. We do not finance projects that can be funded on
equivalent terms by the private sector. In support of our investment activities,
the EBRD conducts policy dialogue with national and local authorities to

‘ develop the rule of law and democracy.
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Financial results 2003-07

(€ mitiion} 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Operating income 1,934 2,667 1,544 659 538
Expenses, depreciation and amortisation (251) (225) (219) {190) (198)
Operating profit before provisions 1,683 2,442 1,325 469 340
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 201 (53) 197 (76) {7)
Net profit for the year 1,884 2,382 1,522 393 333
Reserves and retained earnings 8,676 6,974 4,684 1,718 952
Pravisions for impairment of ioan investments (cumulative) 124 341 323 508 465
Total reserves and provisions 8,800 7,315 5,007 2,226 1,417
Annual commitments 2003-07
Cumulative
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 1991-2007
Number of projects? 353 301 276 265 222 2,596
consisting of:
- standalone projects 187 187 156 141 129 1,575
- investments under frameworks i66 134 120 124 93 1,021
EBRD commitments (€ million)? 5,583 4,936 4,277 4,133 3,721 38,938
Resources mobilised {€ miltion)? 8,617 7.645 5,846 8,835 5,456 80,506
Totat project value (€ million)? 13,809 12,014 9,784 12,968 8,846 116,919

1 An operation that is not linked to a framework and irvolves only one client is referred to 2s 2 standalone project. Operations extended to a number of clients (for example, credit lines to banks)

have a framework, which represents the overall amount appreved by the Beard. Investments under frameworks represent the commitment to individual clients.

? The calculation of “Resources mobilised” and “Total project value™ has been refined to exclude amounts relating to facilities where the ariginal commitment was made in 2 previous year
to ensure the finance is counted only once; “EBRD commitments” include incremental EBRD finance on existing cperations.




The EBRD recorded a net profit after provisions of €1.9 billion for 2007,
compared with €2.4 billion for 2006. The principal factor contributing to
this decreiase was a significant reduction in realised gains from the sale
of share investments, an area that is variable by nature. This was partially
offset by increased net interest income on the Bank’s paid-in capital and
retained earnings and a net credit in relation to provisions for impairment
of loan investments following an update of the Bank’s provisioning model
during the year.
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The performance of the Bank’s two operating segments,
Banking and Treasury, is discussed below.

Banking operations

Annual business volume and portfolio

Annual business velume?! amounted to €5.6 billion in 2007,
comprising 353 projects (2006: €4.9 billion, 301 projects).
This is the highest level of annual commitments signed by the
EBRD to date and represents an increase of 14 per cent over
the level recorded in 2006 in volume terms, and 17 per cent
by number of commitments. Responding to the demands

of the Bank's countries of operations, the volume of share
investments and equity-linked transactions increased sharply
by 54.5 per cent to €1.7 billion {2006: €1.1 billion), the highest
annual volume to date. The private sector share of business
volume was 86 per cent (2006: 80 per cent).

Net cumulative business volume reached €36.9 billion by
the end of 2007 (2006: €33.3 billion). Including co-financing,
this amounted to a total project value of €117.0 billion (2006:
€104.0 billion?). The portfolic of the Bank's net outstanding
commitments grew from €17.7 billion at the end of 2006 to
€19.4 billion at the end of 2007. Reflows were lower than in
2008, particularly in terms of prepayments and divestments.
This reflected market conditions, especially in the later half
of the year. Lower reflows, combined with the strong annual
business volume, resulted in portfolio growth of 10 per cent
during 2007 compared with 5 per cent in 2006. With
approximately 36 per cent of the portfolio held in US dollars,
the portfolio growth rate was reduced by the strengthening
of the euro relative to the US dollar by 11 per cent to a
year-end rate of €/US$ 1.47.

The number and volume of pipeline projects increased during
2007, with the Board approving 191 projects. These consisted
of loans and share investments totalling €5.5 billion, compared
with 181 projects totalling €5.1 billion in 2006. The level of
Board approvals in 2007 was the highest annual level to

date. At the end of 2007, cumutative Board approvals, net

of cancellations, totalled €40.8 billion (2006; €37.6 billion).

Gross disbursements? totalled €4.1 billion in 2007, up
from €3.8 billion in 2008. Operating assets amounted to
€15.6 billion (2006: €13.4 billion}, comprising €9.0 billion
of disbursed outstanding loans (2006: €8.3 billion) and
€6.6 billion of disbursed outstanding share investments
at fair value (2006: €5.1 billion).

The Bank continued to attract additional co-financing funds,
which amounted to €4.2 billion by the end of 2007 (2006:
€4.0 billion). The Bank mobilised €3.2 billion from private
sector institutions (2006: €2.6 billion), €439 million from
official co-financing (2006: €629 million), €506 million from
international financial institutions {2006: €788 millicn) and
€51 million from export credit agencies (2006: €38 million).
In addition, the Bank's activities continued to be strongly
supported by donor funding, including the Special Funds
programme and technical and investment cooperation funds.

Financial performance

Banking operations achieved a net profit after the full allocation
of expenses, provisions and the return on net paid-in capital of
€1.9 hillion for 2007, compared with a net profit of €2.3 biltion
in 2006. The principal factor contributing to this decrease was
a significant reduction in realised gains from the sale of share
investments at €575 million in 2007, compared with €1.3 billion
in 2006. This was partially offset by a net credit in relation to
provisions for impairment of loan investments of €201 million
{2006: charge of €53 million) following an update to the

Bank’s provisioning model during the year.

Total provisions for Banking loan operations on an incurred
loss basis amounted to €124 million at the end of 2007
{20086: €341 million). Relative to operating assets, this
represented 0.25 per cent of sovereign loans {2006:

0.70 per cent) and 1.69 per cent of non-sovereign loans
(2006: 5.16 per cent). During 2007 the extent to which the
Bank’s historic loss experience is reflected within the Risk
Capital Model, upon which portfolio provisions are based,

has increased given the greater period of loss experience
now available. This was the principal factor contributing to the
reduction in the loan portfolio provisioning levels during the year,

The contribution from share investments to the Bank’s income
statement is expected to continue to show significant variability
from year to year given its dependence on the timing of share
investment exits and the volatility of equity markets. Share
investment exits are mainly linked to the completion of

the Bank's transition role in the specific operation and the
opportunity, in the market or otherwise, to sell its holding.

The volatility of the equity markets is expected to result

in further variability in the fair value of associate share
investments, high-risk equity funds and equity derivatives
accounted for in the income statement.

Treasury operations

Portfolio

The value of assets under Treasury management at

31 December 2007 was €14.7 billion (2006: €14.3 billion).
This comprised €8.4 billion of debt securities (2006:

€8.6 billion), €1.8 billion of collateralised placements
(2006: €2.6 billion) and €4.5 billion of placements with
credit institutions (2006: €3.1 billion).

At the end of 2007, 3.0 per cent of Treasury assets were
managed by a total of eight external asset managers

(2006: 3.2 per cent). The externally managed portfolios
comprised €14 million {2006: €20 millien) in 3 euro-
denominated interest rate trading programme* and

€432 million (20086: €440 millien} in a8 US dollar-denominated
triple-A-rated mortgage-backed securities programme.

The funds are managed by independent managers in order
to obtain specialised services and investment techniques
and to establish third-party performance benchmarks. These
independent managers are required to comply with the same
investment guidelines that the Bank applies to its internally
managed funds.

4 Financial results



Financial perforrnance

Treasury operaticns achieved an operating profit of €66 million
in 2007 after the full allocation of expenses and the return

on net paid-in casital but before the fair valuz movement on
non-qualifying and ineffective hedges. This compared with

an operating prolit of €92 million on the same basis for
20086. In 2007 a loss of €72 million was incurred on the fair
value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges
(2006: €14 million). These losses were sustained as a result
of a small number of hedge failures together with higher than
normal ineffectivaness in qualifying hedges. This was due

to the turbulent rharket conditions that caused a widening

of cross-currency basis spreads in a number of the funding
currencies in whizh the Bank issues bonds. After the

€72 million loss “or the fair value movement on non-qualifying
and ineffective ha2dges, Treasury operations recorded a net
loss for the year of €6 million (2006: net profit of €78 million).

Capital

Paid-in capital totalled €5.2 billion at 31 December 2007 and
at 31 December 2006. The number of the EBRD's subscribed
shares stood at :almost 2 million with a value of €19.8 billion.
Paid-in capital receivable has been stated at its present value
on the balance sheet to refiect future receipt by instalments.

The amount of oerdue cash and promissory notes to be
deposited totalled €16 million at the end of 2007 (2006:

€19 million). A further €5 million of encashments of deposited
promissory noteti was also overdue (2006: €10 million).

Reserves

The Bank's resetves increased from €7.0 billion at the end of
2006 to €8.7 biliion at the end of 2007, This primarily reflected
the net profit for the year, partially offset by a net unrealised
loss on the Treasury available-for-sale portfolio of €184 million
(2006: unrealised gain of €11 million). These fosses were
incurred predom nantly in the second half of the year and reflect
the deterioration of asset valuations due to credit concerns

in the wake of the subprime mortgage problems in the United
States. The deterioration, which represents orice markdowns
and not realised losses, equates to approximately 2.7 per cent
of the average size of the portfolio for the year and is within
expectations givan market conditions. These price movements
reflect generic ciedit spread movements in the market rather
than specific credit events related to Treasury's portfolio.

The Bank's total reserves comprised €3.7 billion of unrealised
gains from share investments, equity derivatives and Treasury
assets (2006: €3.1 billion}, €304 million from the loan loss
reserve (2006: €293 million), and €232 million from the special
reserve (2006: €215 million), leaving unrestricted general
reserves of €4.5 billion (2006: £€3.4 billion). The increase in
unrestricted general reserves of €1.1 billion in the year mainly
reflected the net profit of €1.9 billion, less net unrealised
gains on associate share investments and equity derivatives
of €773 million. A decision in relation to the allocation of the
Bank’'s net income will be taken by the Governors at the
Bank's annual meeting in May 2008.

Expenses

The Bank continues to focus on budgetary discipline, effective
cost controls and a proactive cost-recovery programme. The
EBRD's general administrative expenses, including depreciation
and amortisation, were €251 million (2006: €225 million).

Outlook for 2008

The Bank's results are vulnerable to changes in the economic
environment and in the financial markets, with the timing of
equity exits and the volatility of local equity markets having a
particular influence on the Bank's profits. It is anticipated that
the financial markets will continue to show significant volatility
throughout 2008. This is expected to cause variability in the
Bank's income statement and reserves from movements in the

fair value of the Bank's share investments and Treasury portfolio.

1 The flow of commitments made by the Bank within the year, less cancellations or sales
of such commitments within the same year,

7 Restated to include project finance amounts relating to part-signed of tranched projects
previously excluded.

* Gross disbursements include only first ¢ycle disbursements for revolving Joan tacilities.

* In the euro programmes, managers are assigned notional amaunts for interest rate
positioning. At 31 Dgcember 2007, the noticnat value of the programme was
€302 millien {2006: €355 million).
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AND DIOCLUSURES

Corporate governance

The EBRD is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance. Responsibilities and related controls throughout
the Bank are properly defined and delineated. Transparency and
accountability are integral elements of its corporate governance
framework. This structure is further supported by a system

of reporting, with information appropriately tailored for, and
disseminated to, each level of responsibility within the EBRD

to enable the system of checks and balances on the Bank's
activities to function effectively.

The EBRD's governing constitution is the Agreement
Establishing the Bank (“the Agreement”}, which states that
the institution will have a Board of Governors, a Board of
Directors, a President, Vice Presidents, officers and staff.

All the powers of the EBRD are vested in the Board of
Governors, which represents the Bank's 63 shareholders.
With the exception of certain reserved powers, the Board
of Governors has delegated the exercise of its powers to
the Board of Directors, while retaining overall authority.

Board of Directors and Board Committees

Subject to the Board of Governors' overall authority, the Board
of Directors is responsible for the direction of the EBRD's
general operations and policies. It exercises the powers
expressly assigned to it by the Agreement and those

powers delegated to it by the Board of Governors.

The Board of Directors has established three Board
Committees to assist with its work:

B the Audit Committee;
I the Budget and Administrative Affairs Committee; and

# the Financial and Operations Policies Committee.

The composition of these committees during 2007 is detailed
in the Review section of the separate Annual Report.

The President

The President is elected by the Board of Governors and is
the legal representative of the EBRD. Under the direction

of the Board of Directors, the President conducts the current
business of the Bank.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is chaired by the President and is
composed of the Vice Presidents and other members of the
EBRD's senior management,

EBRD Codes of Conduct

At the Annual Meeting in May 2006, the Governors approved
new Codes of Conduct for Officials of the Board of Directors
and for Bank Personnel and Experts. These Codes represent
and articulate clearly the values, duties and chligations, as well
as the ethical standards, that the Bank expects of its officials
and staff. The Codes incorporate a robust enforcement
mechanism and detailed procedures for investigating alleged
transgressions of the Codes by Directors, the President and
Vice Presidents. The new Codes also affirm the Bank's
commitment to protect whistleblowers.

Compliance

The Bank has an independent Office of the Chief Compliance
Officer (OCCO), which is headed by a Chief Compliance Officer
{CCO) reporting directly to the President, and annually or as
necessary to the Audit Committee. The CCO is mandated to
promote good governance and ethical behaviour throughout all

of the activities of the Bank in accordance with international best

practice. The role of the CCO includes dealing with integrity due
diligence issues, confidentiality, corporate governance, ethics,
conflicts of interest, anti-money-laundering, counter-terrorist
financing and the prevention of fraudulent and corrupt practices.
The OCCO is responsible for investigating fraud, corruption and
misconduct. It also trains and advises, as necessary, the Bank’s
nominee directors who are appointed to companies in which

the Bank holds an equity interest. Financial and integrity due
diligence is integrated into the Bank's normal approval of new
business and the review of its existing transactions. The Bank
publishes the CCO's anti-corruption report on its web site.

Moreover, the CCO has the specific responsibility for coordinating

the Bank's Independent Recourse Mechanism that enhances
the Bank's accountability by assessing and reviewing complaints
about Bank-financed projects. The CCO can be dismissed by the
President only in accordance with guidance given by the Board.

Reporting

The EBRD's corporate governance structure is supported by
appropriate financial and management reporting. The Bank has
a functioning mechanism to be able to certify in the Annual
Report: Financial Statements as to the effectiveness of internal
contrels over external financia! reporting, using the COS0
internal control framework. This annual certification statement
is signed by the President and Vice President, Finance and is
subject to a review and an attestation by the Bank’s external
auditors. In addition, the Bank has a comprehensive system of
reporting to the Board of Directors and its committees. This
includes reporting of the activities of the Evaluation Department
and Internal Audit to the Audit Committee.

External auditors

The external auditors are appointed by the Board, on the
recommendation of the President, for a four-year term. No firm
of auditors can serve for more than two consecutive four-year
terms. The external auditors perform an annual audit to enable
them {0 express an opinion on whether the financial statements
present fairly the financial position and the profit of the Bank.
They also examine whether the statements have been presented
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the overall principles of the EC Council Directive on Annual
Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and other
Financial Institutions. In addition, the external auditors review
and offer their opinion on management’s assertion as to the
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting. This
opinion is given as a separate report to the audit opinion. At the
conclusion of their annual audit, the external auditors prepare a
management letter for the Board of Directors, which is reviewed
in detail and discussed with the Audit Committee, setting out
the external auditors’ views and management's responses on
the effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls and other
matters. The performance and independence of the external
auditors is subject to review on an annual basis by the

Audit Committee.
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There are key provisions in the Bank's policy regarding the
independence of the external auditors. The external auditors
are prohibited from providing non-audit related services, subject
to certain exceptions if it is judged to be in the interest of the
Bank and if it is £ pproved by the Audit Committee. However,

the external audiiors can provide technical cooperation
consultancy services relating to client projects.

Compensation policy

The EBRD has designed a market-oriented staff compensation
policy, within the constraints of the Bank's status as a
multilateral institution, to meet the following objectives:

B to be competitive in order to attract and retain
high-calibre erployees,

B to take accourt of differing levels of responsibility;
1 to be sufficiently flexible to respond rapidly to the market; and

1 to motivate and encourage excellent performance.

To help meet these objectives, the EBRD's snareholders have
agreed that the Bank should use market comparators to evaluate
its staff compen sation and that salary and bonus should be
driven by performance.

The bonus programme allocations are structured to recognise
individual and teamn contributions to the EBRD's overall
performance. Becnus payments, although an important element
of the total staff compensation package, represent a limited
percentage of be se salaries.

EBRD personnel remuneration

All personnel on fixed-term or regular contracts receive a salary.
in addition, professional members of staff are eligible to receive
bonus awards depending on individual performance.

All fixed-term ani regular employees, as well as the Board of
Directors, the President and Vice Presidents, are covered by
medical insurance, participate in the Bank’s retirement scheme
and may be eligible to receive a mortgage subsidy. Professional
staff who join Hi:adquarters from outside the United Kingdom
may receive allovances to assist with relocation, as well as an
accommodation allowance which can be used either to defray
the cost of renting or purchasing accommaodation. Professional
staff hired from abroad, and who are not British citizens, are
eligible for an education allowance.

The salaries antl emoluments of all personnel are subject

to an internal tax, applied at rates that vary according to the
individual's salary and personal circumstances. Their salaries
and emoluments are exempt from natienal income tax in the
United Kingdom.

President and Vice Presidents

The President is elected by the Board of Governors and typically
receives a fixed term contract of four years. His salary and
benefits are approved by the Governors. The President is not
eligible for bony s awards.

The Vice Presidents are appointed by the Board of Directors on
the recommendation of the President and typically have fixed-
term contracts of four years. Their salaries and benefits are
approved by the Board of Directors. The Vice Presidents are
not eligibie for bonus awards.

The gross salary, from which internal tax is deducted, for each
of these positions is as follows:

2007 2006

€ 000 €000
President 428 422
First Vice President, Banking 382 374
Vice President, Finance 349 341
Vice President, Risk Management,
Human Resources and Nuclear Safety 349 341
Vice President, Environment,
Procurement and Administration 319 312

Board of Directors

Directors are elected by the Board of Governors and typically
serve a term of three years. Directors appoint Alternate
Directors. The salaries of Directors and Alternate Directors
are approved by the Board of Governors. They can participate
in the same benefit scheme as staff but are not eligible for
bonus awards.

The most recently approved gross salaries, from which internal
tax is deducted, for these positions are as follows:

2007 2006

€000 €000

Director 183 179
Alternate Director 152 148

Senior management

Senior management comprises: members of the Bank's
Executive Committee; Business Group Directors; Corporate
Directors; the Treasurer; the Director, Risk Management;
the Controller; the Director, Human Resources; the Head of
Internal Audit and the CCO. This group, excluding the President
and Vice Presidents (for whom information is given above),
consists of 19 individuals who received gross salaries, from
which internal tax is deducted, in the range of €162,000 to
€253,000 (2006: €156,000 to €248,000) with an average
bonus of 33 per cent in 2007 {2006: 32 per cent).
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These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 March 2008,

Income statement

Year to Year to
31 Dacamber 31 December
2007 2006
For the ysar anded 31 Decambar 2007 Note € milllon € million
Interest and similar income
From loans 594 515
From fixed-income debt securities and other interest 699 550
Interest expenses and similar charges (717} (603}
Net Interest Income 3 576 462
Net fee and commission income 4 14 15
Dividend income 87 B7
Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 1,071 898
Net gains from available-for-sale share invesiments 6 266 1,195
Net (losses}/gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets 7 {1} 16
Net (losses)/gains from dealing activities at fair value through profit or loss 8 (8} 7
Foreign exchange movement 1 1
Fair value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges 9 (72) (14)
Operating income 1,934 2,667
General administrative expenses 10 (240) {212)
Depregiation and amortisation 18, 19 (11} (13}
Oporating profit before provisions 1,683 2,442
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 11 201 (53}
Net profit for the year 1,884 2,389

The notes on pages 12 1o 56 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance shee

31 Decembaer 31 December
2007 2006
At 31 December 2007 Naote € milllen € million € mittion € miltion
Assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 12 4,514 3,135
Collateralised placerients 13 1,818 2,573
6,332 5,708
Debt securities 14
At fair value through profit or loss 1,501 1,764
Available-for-sale 6,873 6,831
8,374 8,595
14,706 14,303
Other financial assets 15
Derivative financial instruments 1,961 2,130
Other financial assuts 825 994
2,786 3,124
Loan investments 16
Loans 8,985 8,311
Less: Provisions foi impairment 11 {124) {341}
8,861 7.970
Share investments
Banking portfolio: 17
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 3,469 2,400
Available-for-sale s1are investments 3,124 2,653
6,593 5,053
Treasury portfolio:
Available-for-sale s1are investments 47 -
6,640 5,053
Intangible assets 18 39 21
Property, technology and office equipment 19 43 28
Paid-in capital receivable 100 192
Total assets 33,175 30,691
Liabllities
Borrowings 20
Amounts owed to c-edit institutions 1,462 1,194
Debts evidenced by certificates 21 16,209 15,622
17,671 16,816
Other financial liabilities 22
Derivative financial instruments 631 506
Other financial liablities 998 1,197
1,630 1,703
Total liabilities 19,301 18,519
Members' equity
Subscribed capital 23 19,794 19,794
Callable capital 23 (14,596) {14,596}
Paid-in capital 5,198 5,198
Reserves and retain :d earnings 24 8,676 6,974
Total members’ equ ty 13,874 12,172
Total liabilities and nembers’ equity 33,175 30,691
Memorandum items
Undrawn commitments 25 7,117 6,769

The notes on pages 12 to 56 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in members’ equity

General General Total
reserve reserve reserves Teral
Subscribed Callabla Special Loan loss other retained and retained members’
capital capital reserve reserve resgrves earnings earnings equity
For the year ended 31 Decamber 2007 € million € million € mitlion € million € million € matkion € millien € millien

At 31 December 2005 19,790 (14,593) 188 292 2.296 1,908 4,684 9,881
Internal tax for the year - - - - 4 - 4 4
Qualifying fees and commissions - - 27 - - {27) - -
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale

investments for the year - - - - {103) - {103) {103}
Capital subscription (3) — - - - — 1
Reserves transfer - - - 1 7 (8) - -
Net profit for the year - - - - - 2,389 2,389 2,389
At 31 December 2006 19,794 (14,5986) 215 293 2,204 4,262 6.974 12,172
Internal tax for the year - - - = 5 - 5 S
Qualifying fees and commissions - - 17 - - (17} - -
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale

investments for the year - - - - (187) - {187) {187)
Reserves transfer - - - 11 5 (16) - -
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1,884 1,884 1,884
At 31 December 2007 19,794 (14,596) 232 304 2,027 6,113 8,676 13,874

Refer to note 24 “Reserves and retained earnings” on page 51 for a further explanation of the Bank’s reserves.

The notes on pages 12 1o 56 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

Yaar to Year o
31 Dacember 31 December
2007 2006
For the year snded 31 De ember 2007 € million € million € million € mililen
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit for th2 year? 1,884 2,389
Adjustments for:
Interest income (1,293) {1.065)
Interest expenses and similar charges 717 603
Fair value movemen . on capital receivable and associated hedges (5) (4)
Net deferral of fees and direct costs 44 27
Internat taxation 5 4
Realised gains on share investments (553) {1,337)
Unrealised gains on share investments at fair value through profit or loss (773) {755)
Impairment recoveri 2s on available-for-sale share investments {11) (1)
Realised gains on aailable-for-sale debt securities (1) (6)
Unrealised losses/(jlains) on dealing securities 12 {58)
Impairment charge/irecoveries) on available-for-sale debt securities 2 {10}
Foreign exchange geins (1) 1)
Depreciation and amortisation 11 13
Gross provisions (re ease)/charge for loan losses {197) 53
(159) (148)
Interest income recei /ed 1,245 1,034
interest expenses and similar charges paid (697) (596)
(Increase)/decrease i1 operaling assets:
Prepaid expenses (4) {5)
Fair value movemen: on net Treasury assets (615) {95}
Proceeds from reparments of loans 2,331 2.515
Proceeds from prepayments of loans 481 730
Funds advanced for lcans (3,932) (4,204)
Proceeds from sale of share investments 925 1,892
Funds advanced for share investments (1,080) (806}
Net placements to credit institutions (675) (1,142)
Increase in operating liabilities:
Accrued expenses 55 11
Not cash used in operating activities (2,125) {814)
Cash flows used in Investing activitles
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale debt securities 2,761 4.009
Purchases of available-for-sale debt securities {3,080) (5,334}
Purchase of property, technology and office equipment {44) (34}
Net cash used in Invusting activities (363} {1,359)
Cash flows from finaicing activities
Capital received 97 140
I1s5ue of debts evider ced by cerlificates 11,338 7619
Redempticn of debts evidenced by certificates {9,267) (6,525)
Net cash from financing activitles 2,168 1,234
Net decreass in cast and cash equlvalents (320) (939)
Cash and cash equivilants at baginning of the year 3,338 4,277
Cash and cash equlv ilents at 31 December 3,018 3,338
2007 2008
€ milllen € million
Cash and cash aqulv lents comprise the following amounts maturing within three months
Placements with and advances to credit institutions 4,191 3,115
Collateralised placern ents 268 1,403
Amounts owed to cre it institutions (1,441) (1,180)
Cash and cash equlvilents at 31 December 3,018 3,338
* Operating profit include ; dividends of €87 million received for the vear to 31 December 2007 (2006: €87 million).
The notes on pages .2 to 56 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

A. Basls of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall
principles of the European Community's Council Directive on
Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and

Other Financial Institutions. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss
and all derivative contracts. In addition, financial assets and
liabilities subject to amortised cost measurement, where

they form part of a qualifying hedge relationship, have been
accounted for in accordance with hedge accounting rules —

see “Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting”

on page 15.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Bank's policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where judgements
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in “Critical accounting estimates and judgements”

on page 18.

Standards, amendments to published standards

and interpretations effective in 2007

In the current year the Bank has adopted IFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures which is effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007, and the related
amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 7 and the changes to

IAS 1 has been to expand the disclosures provided in these
financial statements regarding the Bank's financial
instruments and management of capital.

{FRIC 9, Re-assessment of Embedded Derivatives, which

is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 June 2006, requires the Bank to assess whether an
embedded derivative needs to be separated from the host
contract and accounted for as a derivative when the Bank first
becomes a party to the contract. Reassessment is not permitted
unless there is a significant change to the terms of the contract.
The adoption of this interpretation has not had any impact

on the Bank’s financial statements as it is in line with the
Bank's existing policies.

{FRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment,

which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or

after 1 November 2006, prohibits the impairment losses
recognised in an interim period on goodwill, investments in
equity instruments, and investments in financial assets carried
at cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date.
The adoption of this interpretation has not had any impact

on the Bank's financial statements as it is in line with the
Bank’s existing policies.

Early adoption of standards
No standards were early adopted by the Bank in 2007.

Interpretations effective in 2007 but not relevant

to the Bank's operations

The following interpretations to published standards are
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007 but they are not relevant to the Bank's operations:

1 IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under |AS 29,
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies; and

1 IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2.

Standards, amendments to published standards and
interpretations that are not yet effective and have not

been adopted early by the Bank

The following standards, amendments to published standards
and interpretations are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods,
and the Bank has not adopted them early:

IFRS 8, Operating Segments, is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. It replaces IAS 14 and
requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information
about its reportable segments. Reportable segments are
operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that
meet specified criteria. Operating segments are components of
an entity about which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker
when deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. Financial information is required to be reported
on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating operating
segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources
to operating segments. The Bank has assessed IFRS 8 and
concluded that it is not expected to have an impact on the
operating segments of the Bank and that the main additional
disclosures will be in relation to the determination and
measurement of the Bank's operating segments. The Bank

will apply IFRS 8 from its accounting period beginning

1 January 2009.

IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing Costs, is effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

It requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of

a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset.
The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will
be removed. The Bank will apply IAS 23 (Amendment) from its
accounting period beginning 1 January 2009 but it is currently
not applicable to the Bank as there are no qualifying assets.
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1AS 27 (Amendme nt), Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, is ef ‘ective for accounting periods beginning on

or after 1 July 2009, It reduces the alternatives in accounting
for subsidiaries ir consclidated financial statements and in
accounting for sulsidiaries in the separate financial statements
of a parent, venturer or investor. The standard specifies the
circumstances in which an entity must consolidate the financial
statements of a subsidiary; the accounting for the changes in
the level of ownership interest in a subsidiary; the accounting for
the loss of control of a subsidiary; and the information that an
entity must disclese to enable users of the financial statements
to evaluate the nature of the relationship between the entity and
its subsidiary. The Bank will apply IAS 27 from its accounting
period beginning L January 2010 but it is currently not
applicable to the 3ank as there are no subsidiaries.

IAS 32 and 1AS 1 (Amendment), Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations Arising on Liguidation, is effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. it allows particular
types of financial instruments that meet the definition of a
financial liability tut represent the residual interest in the net
assets of the entity to be classified as equity instruments.
Financial instrumiznts that may be classified as equity
instruments are t0se that meet the definition of puttable
financial instruments, or instruments, or components of
instruments, that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver

to another party & pro rata share of the net assets of the entity
only on liquidation. The Bank wil} apply 1AS 32 and IAS 1
(Amendment) fror its accounting period beginning 1 January
2009; the Bank's initial interpretation is that it will not have

any significant imoact on the Bank’s financial statements.

IFRIC 14, IAS 19 .- The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction, is effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1. January 2008.

It provides guidar ce on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the
amount of the su plus that can be recognised as an asset.

It also explains how the pension asset or liability may be
affected hy a staiutory or contractual minimum funding
requirement. The Bank will apply IFRIC 14 from its accounting
period beginning L January 2008; the Bank's initial interpretation
is that it will not have any significant impact ¢n the Bank's
financial statements.

Standards, amerdments to published standards and
interpretations that are not yet effective and not relevant

to the Bank’s operations

The following standards, amendments to published standards
and interpretations are mandatery for the Bank's accounting
periods beginning; on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods,
but are not relevént to the Bank’s operations:

§ IFRS 2 (Amendment), Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
(effective for aicounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2003);

1 IFRS 3 (Amendment), Business Combinations (effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009);

1 IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Sheare Transactions
(effective for arcounting periods beginning on or after
1 March 2007;;

1 IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for
accounting periods heginning on or after 1 January 2008); and

1 IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008).

B. Significant accounting policles

Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: loans and receivables; financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and available-for-sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its investments
upon initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market, other than:

B those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short
term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that
the Bank designates as at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition;

I those that the Bank designates as available-for-sale upon
initial recognition; or

B those for which the Bank may not recover substantially
all of its initial investment, other than because of
credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables originated by the Bank are recognised

at settlement date and measured at amortised cost using the
effective yield method less any provision for impairment or
uncollectability, unless they form part of a qualifying hedging
relationship with a derivative position. This principally occurs in
cases of fixed rate loans that, through association with individual
swaps, are transformed from a fixed rate basis to a floating rate
basis. In such cases, the loan is re-measured to fair value in
respect of interest rate risk. The change in value is then reported
in the income statement as an offset to the change in value of
the related swap if the hedge relationship is highly effective -
see “Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting”

on page 15 for details.

Collateralised placements are carried at amortised cost. These
are structures wherein the risks and rewards associated with
the ownership of a reference asset are transferred to another
party through the use of a swap contract and are a form of
collateralised lending,.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held
for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition,
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A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

§ acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term;

0 part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

N a derivative, except those forming part of a designated and
effective hedging relationship.

The Bank classifies assets acquired for the purpose of
generating profits from short-term price fluctuations as held for
trading. Such assets are accounted for at fair value on the basis
of independent market quotations, with all changes in value
recorded through the income statement as they occur.

Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition when:

3 doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsistencies
that would arise if the related derivatives were treated as held
for trading and the underlying financial instruments were
carried at amortised cost;

1 certain investments, such as share investments, that are
managed and evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance
with a documented risk management or investment strategy
and reported to key management personnel on that basis
are designated at fair value through profit and loss; and

1 financial instruments, such as debt securities held, containing
one or more embedded derivatives that significantly modify
the cash flows, are designated at fair value through profit
and loss.

The Bank designates associate share investments and high-risk
equity funds at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition. Such assets are carried at fair value on the
balance sheet with changes in fair value included in the income
statement in the period in which they occur. The basis of fair
value for listed associate share investments and high risk equity
funds in an active market is the quoted bid market price on the
balance sheet date. The basis of fair value for associate share
investments and high risk equity funds that are either unlisted
or listed in an inactive market is determined using valuation
techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each
investment. The primary valuation technigues used are net
asset value and earnings based valuations using comparable
information and discounted cash flows, Techniques used to
support these valuations include industry valuation benchmarks
and recent transaction prices.

All trades externally managed by fund managers have been
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition as they are managed and evaluated on a fair value
basis in accordance with the documented investment strategy.

Securities purchased as part of a negative basis strategy,
where credit risk on the security has been mitigated through
the purchase of an associated credit default swap, have been
designated at fair value through profit or loss. This significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring the bond and related derivative
on different bases,

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised at trade date - the date on which the Bank commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to
needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or equity prices. Purchases and sales of available-for-sale
assets are recognised at trade date.

With the exception of those share investments designated at fair
value through profit or loss, the Bank classifies all other share
investments as available-for-sale. Such assets are carried at
fair value on the balance sheet. Changes in fair value, including
translation differences arising on assets denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised directly in reserves until the financial
asset is sold or impaired. At this time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in the
income statement. The basis of fair value for available-for-sale
share investments listed in an active market is the quoted bid
market price on the balance sheet date. The basis of fair value
for available-for-sale share investments that are unlisted or
listed in an inactive market is determined using valuation
techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each
investment. The primary valuation techniques used are net
asset value and earnings based valuations using comparable
information and discounted cash flows. Technigques used to
support these valuations include industry valuation benchmarks
and recent transaction prices.

The majority of the Treasury debt portfolio is classified as
avaitable-for-sale. Such assets are carried at fair value on the
balance sheet with fair values determined by bid quotes from
third party sources or, where there is no active market, by the
use of discounted cash flow models populated with observabie
market data. Changes in fair value, excluding translation
differences arising on assets denominated in foreign currencies,
are recognised directly in reserves until the financial asset

is sold or impaired. At this time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in
the income statement. Foreign currency translation differences
arising on Treasury available-for-sale debt assets are recognised
in the income statement.

Where an available-for-sale asset is the hedged item in a
qualifying fair value hedge, the fair value gain or loss attributable
to the risk being hedged is reported in the income statement
rather than reserves. This is to ensure there is consistency of
reporting, as the fair value changes on the derivative acting as
the hedge must be reported in the income statement. Hedge
accounting features in Treasury positions where asset swaps

are used to transform the returns on fixed interest rate
securities to a floating rate basis.
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Financial liabiliti2s

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category hasi two sub-categories: financ.al liabilities held
for trading, and tiose designated at fair value through profit or
loss upon initial recognition. These sub-categories differ in a
similar manner as those discussed under “Financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss” on page 13.

Financial liabilities held for trading occurs where the Bank

has sold debt se:urities it does not yet own, known as “short”
selling, with the intention of buying those securities at a lower
price in the futur: and thus generating a dealing profit. Such
liabilities are me:asured at fair value with all changes in value
reported in the ir come statement as they occur. Derivative
liabllities, except those forming part of a designated and
effective hedging relationship, are also categorised as held
for trading.

All trades externally managed by fund managers have been
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition as they are managed and evaluated on a fair value
basis in accordance with the documented investment strategy.

Other financial liabilities

With the exception of liabilities designated az fair value through
profit or loss, all other financial liabilities are measured at
amortised cost, Jnless they form part of a qualifying hedge
relationship with a derivative position.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

All derivatives ar= measured at fair value through the income
statement unles s they form part of a qualifying cash flow
hedging relationsihip. In this case, the fair value of the derivative
is taken to reserves to the extent that it is a perfect hedge of
the identified rislc. Any hedge ineffectiveness will result in the
relevant proportion of the fair value remaining in the income
statement. Fair values are derived primarily from discounted
cash-flow models, option-pricing models and from third party
quotes. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value
is positive, and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
All hedging activ ty is explicitly identified and documented

by the Bank's Treasury department.

Hedge accounting

Hedge accountir g is designed to bring accounting consistency
to financial instruments that would not otherwise be permitted.
A valid hedge relationship exists when a specific relationship
can be identified between two or more financial instruments
in which the change in value of one instrument (the hedge)

is highly negativaly corretated to the change in value of the
other (the hedged item). To qualify for hedge accounting

this correlation rnust be within 80 to 125 per cent with any
ineffectiveness within these boundaries recognised within
“fair value move nent on non-qualifying and ineffective
hedges” in the income statement.

The Bank docurr ents the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items upon initial recognition of the
transaction. The Bank also documents its assessment, on
an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used

in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Fair value hedges

The Bank's hedging activities are primarily designed to mitigate
interest rate risk by using swaps to convert fixed interest rate
risk, on both assets and liabilities, into floating rate risk. Such
hedges are known as “fair value” hedges. Changes in the fair
value of the derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges, and that prove to be highly effective in relation
to hedged risk, are included in the income statement, along
with the corresponding change in fair value of the hedged
asset or liability that is attributable to that specific hedged risk.

Cash flow hedges

The Bank has engaged in cash flow hedges, principally to
minimise the exchange rate risk associated with the fact that

its future administrative expenses are incurred in sterling.

The amount and timing of such hedges fluctuates in line

with the Bank’s views on opportune moments to execute the
hedges. The majority of any such hedging activity is for the
following financial year but hedges beyond one year can be used.
Hedging is mainly through the purchase of sterling in the forward
foreign exchange market, but currency options can also be used.
The movement in the fair value of cash flow hedges is recognised
directly in reserves until such time as the relevant expenditure

is incurred. At 31 December 2007 the Bank had no cash flow
hedges outstanding.

For further information on risk and related management policies
see “Risk management” on page 19.

Financial guarantees

Issued financial guarantees are initially recognised at their

fair value, and subsequently measured at the higher of the
unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred,
and the expenditure required to settle the commitment at the
balance sheet date. The latter is recognised when it is both
probable that the guarantee will require to be settled and that
the settiement amount can be reliably estimated. Financial
guarantees are recognised within other financial assets and
other financial liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets

Loans and receivables

Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan asset
is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are recognised in
the income statement. Impairment is quantified as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the net present
value of expected future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate where applicable. The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income
statement. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly
only upon write off. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding
of the discount in the income statement over the life of the
asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a
reassessment of the initial impairment.
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The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;

cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

initiation of hankruptcy proceedings;

|

1

1 breach of loan covenants or conditions;

|

1 deterioration in the borrower’'s competitive position; and
1

deterioration in the value of collateral.

Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that

are not individually identified as impaired are calculated on

a portfolio basis. The methodology used for assessing such
impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for non-sovereign
assets. A separate methodology is applied for all sovereign risk
assets that takes into account the Bank's preferred creditor
status afforded by its members. The Bank's methodology
calculates impairment on an incurred loss basis. Impairment

is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.

The Bank operates a loan loss reserve to set aside an amount
of retained earnings within members’ equity. This amount is
equal to the difference between the impairment losses expected
over the full tife of the loan portfolio and the cumulative amount
provisioned through the Bank's income statement on an incurred
loss basis.

Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is
charged to the income statement under the caption "Provisions
for impairment of loan investments”. When a loan is deemed
uncollectible the principal is written off against the related
impairment provision. Such loans are written off after all
necessary procedures have been completed and the amount
of the loss has been determined. Recoveries are credited

to the income statement if previously written off.

Renegotiated loans

Loans that are either impaired or past due, whose terms have
been renegotiated so that they are no longer considered

to be impaired or past due, are treated as new loans.

Available-for-sale share investments

Available-for-sale share investments are impaired when there

is objective evidence that the future recoverability of the Bank’s
original investment is in doubt. This could be indicated by a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a share
investment below its cost. The Bank alsc evaluates factors
such as country, industry and sector performance, changes

in technology and operational and financial performance.
Although projects are usually reviewed for impairment every

six months, or, in the case of low risk projects, at least once

a year, certain events may trigger this process sooner and more
frequently. In such cases, future collectability is considered and
any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in reserves

is removed and included in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in operating income for available-
for-sale share investments are not reversed through the
income statement.

Available-for-sale debt securities

The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. The criteria that the Bank
uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an
impairment loss include:

1 downgrading of the issuer below minimum eligibility levels
for Treasury exposures;

B issuer failure to pay amounts contracted under the security;
I covenant breaches, default events and trigger level failures;

1 deterioration of credit enhancement including diminution
of collateral values; and

1 legal proceedings such as bankruptcy, regulatory action
or similar.

If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in operating income — is removed from reserves and
recognised in the income statement. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the
income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through

the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for
use at short notice and which are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value, less liabilities on demand.

Foreign currencies

In accordance with Article 35 of the Agreement, the Bank
originally used the European Currency Unit (ECU) as the
reporting currency for the presentation of its financiat
statements. Following the replacement of the ECU with the
euro (€} from 1 January 1999, the reporting currency for the
presentation of the financial statements became the euro,

Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into

euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation
at the year-end exchange rate of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are included in the income
statement, except when deferred in reserves as qualifying cash
flow hedges. Translation differences on share investments
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are reported

as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences

cn share investments ctassified as available-for-sale financial
assets are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Capital subscriptions

The Bank's share capital is denominated in euro. However,

in addition to set:ling their capital obligations in euro, members
are also entitled o settle in US dollars or Jaganese yen. For this
purpose, a fixed exchange rate for each currency was defined in
Article 6 of the Ajfreement and these fixed exchange rates are
used to measure the value of the associated capital, as reported
in “Members’ equity” in the balance sheet. The corresponding
figure for capital “eceivable on the asset side of the balance
sheet is, howevel, measured at current exchange rates and
discounted to its present value.

In order to ensur: that capital receipts due in US dollars or
Japanese yen retain, at a minimum, their valite as determined by
the Agreement’s fixed rates, the Bank's policy is to fix their euro
value through forz2ign exchange contracts. These derivatives are
fair valued in accordance with (AS 39, with any gain or loss being
recorded in the income statement.

Intangible assets

Costs associatec with maintaining computer software
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs
that are directly aissociated with identifiable and unique software
products controllzd by the Bank, and that will generate economic
benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, aie recognised as
intangible assets. Direct costs include the staff costs of the
software development team and an appropriate portion of
relevant overheails.

Expenditure that enhances or extends the performance

of computer software programmes beyond their original
specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and is
added to the original cost of the software. Computer software
development costs recognised as intangible assets are
amortised using the straight-line method over an estimated
life of three years.

Property, technology and office equipment

Property, technology and office equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated der reciation. Depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to its
residual value over the estimated life as follcws:

fFreehold propert/ 30 years

improvements on leases of less

than 50 years urexpired Unexpired periods

Technology and office equipment Three years

Accounting for le¢ases

Leases of assets: under which all the risks and benefits of
ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified

as operating leasies. The Bank has entered into such leases for
most of its office accommodation, both in Lendon and in the
Bank's countries of operations. Payments made under operating
leases are chargzd to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease. When an aperating lease is
terminated heforz the lease period has expired, any payment
required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised
as an expense ir the period in which the termination

takes place.

Interest, fees, commissions and dividends

Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective
yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans through
unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations
applied to expected future cash flows.

Front-end fees and commitment fees are deferred in accordance
with IAS 18, together with the related direct costs of originating
and maintaining the commitment. These are then recognised

in interest income using the effective interest method over the
period from disbursement to repayment of the related loan.

If the commitment expires without the loan being drawn down,
the fee is recognised as income on expiry.

Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of
time are recognised as income as the services are provided.
Other fees and commissions are classed as income when
received. Issuance fees and redemption premiums or
discounts are amortised over the period to maturity of the
related borrowings on an effective yield basis.

Dividends relating to share investments are recognised
when received.

Staff retirement plan

The Bank has a defined contribution scheme and a defined
henefit scheme to provide retirement benefits to its staff. Under
the defined contribution scheme, the Bank and staff contribute
to provide a lump sum benefit. The defined benefit scheme is
funded entirely by the Bank and benefits are based on years of
service and a percentage of final gross base salary as defined
in the scheme.

The asset in respect of the defined benefit scheme is the fair
value of plan assets minus the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, together with
adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past
service cost. Independent actuaries calculate the defined benefit
obligation at least every three years by using the projected

unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows (relating to service accrued to the batance sheet
date) using the yields available on high-quality corporate bonds,
For intermediate years, the defined benefit obligation is
estimated using approximate actuarial roll-forward technigues
that allow for additional benefit accrual, actual cash flows and
changes in the underlying actuarial assumptions.
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The Bank keeps all contributions to the schemes, and all other
assets and income held for the purposes of the schemes,
separately from all of its other assets. Actual contributions
made to the defined contribution scheme are charged to the
income statement and transferred to the scheme's independent
custodians. The charge to the income statement in respect of
the defined benefit scheme is based on the current service cost
and other actuarial adjustments, as determined by qualified
external actuaries. Also included in this charge are actuarial
gains and losses in excess of a 10 per cent corridor which are
amortised over the estimated average service life remaining of
the Bank's employees. The 10 per cent corridor is 10 per cent
of the defined benefit obligation or the fair value of assets,
whichever is higher. The actuaries also advise the Bank as to
the necessary contributions to be made to the defined benefit
scheme, which are then transferred to the scheme’s
independent custodians,

Taxation

In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement, within the scope
of its official activities the Bank, its assets, property and income
are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties levied
upen goods and services acquired or imported, except for

those parts of taxes or duties that represent charges for

public utility services,

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised Initially at fair value, defined as their
issue proceeds, net of any transaction costs incurred. They

are subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference
between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognised
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using
the effective yield method. Where borrowings have asscciated
derivatives and qualify for hedge accounting in line with IAS 39,
the amortised cost value is adjusted by the fair value of the
hedged risks.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have heen adjusted
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

C. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
the Bank to make estimates and judgements that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts included in
the income statement during the reporting period. Estimates
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under

the circumstances.

These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables
that reflect the economic environment and financial markets of
the Bank's countries of operations, but which are not directly
correlated to market risks such as interest rate and foreign
exchange risk. The resultant volatility, combined with a lack

of comparable information in relation to the EBRD's banking
portfolio, limits the Bank'’s ability to apply traditional

sensitivity analysis methods.

The Bank's critical accounting estimates and judgements
are as follows:

Falr value of share investments

The Bank’s method for determining the fair value of share
investments is described in the “Financial assets” accounting
policy on page 13 and an analysis of the share investment
portfolic is provided in note 17. A sensitivity analysis of the
potential impact on the Bank's operating income and reserves
from a reasonable movement in the fair value of the share
investment portfolio is included under equity price risk

on page 32.

Provistons for the impairment of loan investments

The Bank's method for determining the level of impairment of
loan investments is described in the “Impairment of financial
assets” accounting pelicy on page 15 and further explained
under credit risk on page 19.

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of non-
sovereign loan investments at 31 December 2007 were

€86 million. Had all non-sovereign loan investments been
downgraded by one risk rating category the portfolio provisions
for non-sovereign loans would have been approximately
€167 million, resulting in an additional charge to the income
statement of €81 million. In addition, loan investments risk
rated 7 would have become individually impaired, resulting

in additional specific provisions for identified impairment

of approximately €207 miflion. Had all non-sovereign loan
investments been upgraded by one risk rating category, the
portfolio provisions for non-sovereign loans would have been
approximately €35 million, resulting in a credit to the income
statement of €51 million. This would have included portfolio
provisions of approximately €3 million on loan investments
of €22 million - previously risk rated 8 — that would no longer
be considered individually impaired,

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of sovereign
loan investments at 31 December 2007 amounted to €5 million.
Due to the Bank’s preferred creditor status afforded by its
members, a downgrade or upgrade by one risk rating category
would not have had a significant impact on the level of sovereign
portfolio provisions, and hence the income statement.

The methodology and judgements used for estimating
provisions for the impairment of loan investments are reviewed
regutarly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and
actual experience.
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Financial risks:

The independent identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of all risks incurred by the Bank in both its Banking and
Treasury activitie 3 is the overall responsibility of the Vice President, Risk Management, Human Resources and Nuclear Safety
(“the Vice Presidi:nt, Risk Management™).

The Vice President, Risk Management is a mamber of the Bank’s Executive Committee, as are the First Vice President, Banking,
and the Vice President, Finance, to whom Treasury reports, The Vice President, Risk Management, has overall responsibility for
formulating the Bank’s risk management strategy for both Banking and Treasury functions. Risk Management seeks to ensure that
any risks are cortectly identified and appropriately managed and mitigated through comprehensive and rigorous processes, which
reflect industry bast practice.

In carrying out its. mission, the Bank is exposed to financial risks through both its Banking and Treasury activities. The principal
financlal risks to which the Bank Is exposed are credit, market and liquidity risk.

A. Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential loss to a portfolio that could result from the default of a counterparty or the deterioration of its
creditworthiness. The Bank aiso monitors concentration risk, which is the risk arising from too high a proportion of the portfolio

being allocated to a specific country, industry sector, obligor, and type of instrument or individual transaction.

The EBRD is exposed to credit risk in both its Banking and Treasury activities, as borrowers and Treasury counterparties could
default on their contractual obligations, or the value of the Bank’s investments could become impaired.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held, other credit enhancements or impairment provisions

2007 2006

€ milllon € millien

Placements with an(_advances to credit institutions 4,514 3,135
Collateralised placemnents 1,818 2,573
Debt securities at {zir value through profit or loss 1,501 1.764
Available-for-sale debt securities 6,873 6,831
Derivative financial aissets 1,961 2.130
Other financiat asse's 825 994
Loan investments 8,985 8,311
Share investments it fair value through profit or loss 3,469 2.400
Banking available-for-sale share investments 3,124 2,653
Treasury available-fur-sale share investments 47 -
Paid-in capital receirable 100 192
Undrawn commitme its and guarantees 7,117 6,769
At 31 December 40,334 37752

The above table represents the worst-case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2006, without taking account of any collateral held, other credit enhancements or impairment provisions.

At 31 December 2007 there were no collateralised placements, debt securities at fair value through profit or loss, derivative
or other financial assets or Treasury share investments past due or impaired (2006: nil}. All trades within these categories
were risk rated . (excellent) to 3 (very good) on the Bank’s internal risk rating scale.
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Credit risk in the Banking portfolio: Management

For Banking exposures the Board of Directors approves a Credit Process document that defines the procedures for the approval,
management and review of Banking exposures by the Operations Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the Credit Process
annually and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.

Banking risks are reviewed by the Operations Committee which meets weekly. The Operations Committee is chaired by the First

Vice President, Banking and its membership comprises senior managers of the Bank. The Operations Committee is responsible for
reviewing all Banking projects prior to their submission for Board approval. Projects are reviewed to ensure that they meet the Bank's
criteria for sound banking, transition impact and additionality. The Operations Committee operates within authority delegated by the
Board, via the Executive Committee, to approve projects within Board-approved framework operations. The Operations Commitiee

is alsc responsible for overseeing Banking portfolio management, approving significant changes to existing operations and approving
Risk Management's recommendations for provisions for the impairment of Banking assets.

The Bank conducts regular reviews of all exposures within the Banking portfelio, typically on a semi-annual basis. Exposures

that are perceived to be more vulnerable to possible default are reviewed more frequently and those that are perceived to be less
vulnerable to possible default may be reviewed annually. At each review, Risk Management assesses whether there has been any
change in the risk profile of the exposure, recommends actions to mitigate risk and reconfirms or adjusts the risk rating, and, for
share investments, reviews the fair value. Where relevant, the level of impairment and specific provision is reviewed and reconfirmed
or adjusted. At the recommendation of Risk Management, investments considered to be in jeopardy may be transferred from Banking
teams to the Corporate Recovery Unit - which reports jeointly to Risk Management and Banking — in order to manage the restructuring
work-out and recovery process.

Disbursements are managed by the Operation Administration Unit (QAU) within the Office of the General Counsel, which is
responsible for checking compliance with the loan agreements and other project agreements and ensuring that correct procedures
are followed in line with approved policy. Waivers, consents and amendments of loan covenants and conditionality are prepared by
the OAU and are approved by Banking, Risk Management and, where required, by the Office of the General Counsel and the Office
of the Chief Economist.

For the non-sovereign loan portfolio, provisions and loan loss reserve amounts are calculated each month using the Bank’s
methodology, which is based on the Bank’s Risk Capital Modet. The model is updated annually with the most recent default and
operational assumptions. This is designed to estimate incurred losses calculated on the hasis of objective evidence of impairment,
the Bank's experience, and project, sector and country risks. In 2007, the extent to which the Bank's historic loss experience is
reflected within the Risk Capital Model has increased, given the greater period of loss experience now available. This has resulted
in a reduction in the loan portfolio provisioning levels and has contributed to the net credit of €201 million for provisions for
impairment of loan investments during the year.

Risk Management prepares a report on the development of the portfolio as a whole on a quarterly basis to present to the Audit
Committee. The report includes a summary of key factors affecting the portfolio and provides analysis and commentary on trends
within the portfolio. It also includes commentary on individual exposures in the classified portfolio and measures of exposure
against portfotio risk limits, with any breaches of limits reported and explained.

The Bank assigns project, country and overall risk ratings to each exposure on an internal scale from 1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest
risk). The project rating is determined on the basis of the financial strength of the risk counterparty and the risk mitigation built into
the project structure, including sponsor support or guarantee. The country rating is assessed internally, taking into consideration the
ratings assessed by external rating agencies. For non-sovereign operations, the overall rating is normally the numerically higher of
the project and country rating. The exception to this is where the Bank has recourse to unconditional sponsor support from outside
the country of operations, in which case the overall rating is the same as the project rating. For sovereign risk projects, the overall
rating is the same as the country rating.
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The table below ¢hows the Bank's internal rating scale and how this approximately maps to the external ratings
of Standard & Poor's (S&P).

EBRD intermnal rating scal 2 {Ixternal rating equivalent - S&P EBRD category

1 AAA Excellent

2 AA+, AA, AA- Strong

3 A+, A, A- Very good

4 SBB+, BBB, BBB- Good

5 BB+, BB, BB- Satisfactory
B B+ B Acceptable
BW B- Watch

7 CCC Special attention
8 CcC Substandard
9 C Doubtful

10 D Expected loss

Credit risk in the: Banking portfolio: 2007 results

in view of the markets in which it operates and its transition mandate, the EBRD expects the majority of its project ratings under
normal circumstances to be rated in risk categories 5 or 6 (approximately equivalent to S&P BB+ to B ratings) at the time of
approval, At 31 December 2007, 62.6 per cent of the loan and share investment portfolio was classed under risk ratings

5 to 6 (2006; 70.3 per cent).

The tota! Bankir g exposure (operating assets including fair value adjustments but before provisions) increased during the year from
€13.4 billion at 31 December 2006 to €15.5 billion at 31 Cecember 2007. The total signed Banking portfolio {operating assets,
excluding fair value adjustments and provisions but in¢luding undrawn commitments) increased from €17.7 billion at 31 December
2006 to €19.4 hillion at 31 December 2007. The overall risk rating of the portfolio deteriorated from 5.46 to 5.56. This was due
primarily to a higgher proportion of new signings at 6W or worse, which increased during the year from 17.2 per cent to 21.4 per cent,
rather than a deterioration in the existing portfolio, as upgrades exceeded downgrades during the year by 30 per cent. The higher risk
rating of new transactions reflects the decreasing proportion of operating assets in central Europe, which declined from 21 per cent
to 17 per cent curing the year.

Despite the detzrioration in risk, total non-sovereign classified operating assets (operating assets risk rated 7 to 10} declined,
both as a propcrtion of the portfolio and in real terms, from €515 million (5.81 per cent of total operating assets) to €509 million
{4.95 per cent of total operating assets). Impaired loan assets increased from €19 million to €37 million, largely due to the
deterioration of one exposure. There was no common factor underlying the deterioration of newly impaired assets over the

year. Market vo atility over the latter part of the year has increased credit risk, particularly in the banking sector in Russia and
Kazakhstan. This has resulted in a decline in the fair market value of some equity investments, in particular listed banking stocks.
The effect has reen to reduce the unrealised gain on these investments and has not resulted in the downgrading of individual
exposures or impairment,

Credit quality of the Banking portfolio

31 December 2¢ 07 31 December 2006

Risk class % - Rlsk class %
|23 48 /-‘ W 1,23 29
.4 8.8 \/l m 4 9.6
L] 274 L 371.9
LI 35.2 m6 324
0 &w7? 229 o 6w, 7 180
C 8910 0.¢ [ 89,10 1.2

Note: Risk ratings range from
1 (lowest risk) 10 10 {righest risk),

Note: Risk ralings range from
1 ({lowest risk} to 10 (highest risk).
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Loan investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Bank’s loan investments and the associated impairment provisions for each
of the Bank's internal risk rating categories.

Portfolio Specific

MNolther provisions for  provisions for
past dus nor unldentified Identified Total net of Impalrmant
Impalred Past dus Impalrad Total |l | t impai t impal t Total provislons
Risk rating € million € milllon € millien € million € million € million € milllon % %
1: Excellent 86 - - 86 - - 86 1.0 0.0
2: Strong 57 - -~ 57 - - 57 0.6 0.0
3: Very good 273 - - 273 - - 273 3.0 0.0
4: Goed 1,225 - - 1,225 (1) - 1,224 13.6 0.1
5: Satisfactory 3,215 9 - 3,224 {9} - 3,215 5.9 0.3
B: Acceptable 2,771 20 - 2,791 (31} - 2,760 31.1 1.1
6W: Watch 788 - - 788 (23) - 765 8.8 2.9
7: Special attention 485 19 - 504 (27} - 477 5.6 5.4
8: Substandard - - 22 22 - (18) 4 0.2 81.8
9: Doubtful - - 14 14 - (14) - 0.2 100.0
10: Expected loss - - 1 1 - (1} - 0.0 100.0
At 31 Daecembar 2007 8,900 48 a7 8,985 (91) (33) 8,861 100.0 -

Porttolic Spacific

Neithes provisions for pravisions for
past due nor unidentified identified Total net of Impalrment
impaired Pist due Impaired Total impairment impairment impairment Total provisions
Risk rating € million € millipn € miilion € miilion € million € million € million % %
1: Excellent 76 - - 76 - - 76 0.9 0.0
2: Strong 38 - - 38 - - 38 0.5 0.0
3! Very good 289 - - 289 - - 289 3.5 0.0
4: Good 1,209 - — 1.209 2} = 1,207 14.5 0.8
5: Satisfactory 3,372 - - 3,372 {22) - 3.350 40.6 0.7
G6: Acceptable 2,074 10 - 2,084 (43} - 2,041 25.1 2.1
6W: Watch 728 10 - 738 (178) - 560 8.9 24.1
7: Special attention 483 3 — 486 (78) - 408 5.8 16.1
8: Substandard — — 15 15 - (14) 1 0.2 93.3
9: Doubtful - - 3 3 - {3) - 0.0 100.0
10: Expected loss - - 1 1 -~ (1) - 0.0 100.0
At 31 December 2006 8,269 23 19 8,311 (323) {18) 7,970 100.0 -

There were no renegotiated loans during the year that would otherwise have been past due or impaired (2006: nil).

Of the past due loans, €31 million was outstanding for less than 30 days (2006: €22 million) and €17 million was outstanding
for greater than 20 days {2006:; €1 million).

The fair value of collateral held over impaired and past due loans at 31 December 2007 was €21 million (2006: €2 million).
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Share investments at fair value through profit or loss
Set out below is an analysis of the Bank’s share investments at fair value through profit or loss for each of the Bank's
relevant internal isk rating categories.

Cost Falr valus Cost Fair value

2007 2007 2006 2006

Risk rating € million <€ milllen € million € million
5: Satisfactory 493 1,677 533 1,395
6: Acceplable 450 588 388 559
6W: Watch 305 700 134 162
7: Special attention 130 357 115 250
8: Substandard 52 26 57 32
9: Doubtful 50 21 48 2
At 31 December 1,480 3,469 1,275 2,400

Available-for-salz share investments
Set out below is an analysis of the Bank's available-for-sale share investments for each of the Bank’s relevant
internal risk ratig categories.

Cost Falr value Cost Fair vafue

2007 2007 2006 2006

Risk rating € million € million € miTlion € milfion

4: Good 122 556 122 563
5: Satisfactory 365 1,198 516 1,532
6: Acceptable 559 80% 231 278
BW: Watch 498 503 168 166
7: Special attention 27 45 32 63
B: Substandard 24 12 66 46
9. Doubtful 10 1 13 5
At 31 Decomber 1,605 3,124 1,148 2,653

Available-for-szle share investments risk rated 8-10 are considered to be impaired because the fair value of these
investments is significantly below cost.

Undrawn comniitments and guarantees
Set out below is an analysis of the Bank's undrawn commitments and guarantees for each of the Bank’s relevant
internal risk raing categories.

2007 2006
Risk rating € mliion € million
2: Strong 4 16
3: Very good 185 85
4: Good 3587 3486
5: Satisfactory 1,803 2.213
6: Acceptable 3,082 2,974
BW: Watch 1,351 817
7: Special attention 327 303
| 8: Substandard B 8
| 9: Doubtful - 7
At 31 December 7,117 6,769
|
Paid-in capital receivable
| Set out below is an analysis of the Bank's paid-in capital receivable at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.
: 2007 2006
€ millon € million
Cash and promis.sory note encashments not yet due 79 163
Cash and promis:sory notes due but not yet received 18 19
Promissory note encashments due but not yet received 5 10

Paid-in capital receivable has been stated at its present value on the balance sheet to reflect future receipt by instalments.

Pald-In capltal 1ecelvable at 31 Decomber 100 192
At 31 December 2007 no paid-in capital receivable was considered impaired (2006: nil).
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Credit risk in the Banking portfolio: Concentration

The following table breaks down the main Banking credit risk exposures in their carrying amounts by geographic region.

Banking Banking
share share

Loans investments Total Leans investments Total

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

€ million € milllen € milllon € million € miflion € miltion

Albania 108 22 130 116 8 124
Armenia 54 13 67 39 8 47
Azerbaijan 161 19 180 82 6 88
Belarus 57 17 74 61 16 77
Bosnia and Herzegovina 185 2 187 156 8 164
Builgaria 343 18 361 304 13 317
Croatia 428 1,075 1,501 426 731 1.157
Czech Republic 79 46 125 110 85 195
Estonia 50 1 51 51 7 58
Former Yugosiav Republic of Macedonia 140 39 179 117 39 156
Georgia 140 29 169 98 17 115
Hungary 286 334 620 339 266 605
Kazakhstan 581 271 852 429 462 891
Wyrgyz Republic 29 2 31 35 4 39
Latvia 47 - 47 56 - 56
Lithuania 91 66 157 76 49 125
Moldova 47 9 56 45 4 49
Mongolia 3 4 7 2 - 2
Montenegro 19 - 19 20 - 20
Poland 618 424 1,042 621 490 1,111
Romania 770 200 1,670 696 750 1,446
Russian Federation 2,733 1,462 4,195 2,862 637 3,499
Serbia 406 334 740 340 242 582
Slovak Republic 106 95 201 117 121 238
Slovenia 156 54 210 180 34 214
Tajikistan 26 1 27 30 1 31
Turkmenistan 11 11 22 17 11 28
Ukraine 771 72 843 €80 49 729
Uzbekistan 73 2 75 B3 2 85
Regional 469 1,271 1,740 123 993 1,116
At 31 December 8,985 6,593 15,578 8.311 5,053 13,364

The following table breaks down the main Banking credit exposures in their carrying amounts by industry secter of the counterparty.

Banking Banking

share share
Loans investmants Total Loans investments Total
2007 2007 2007 2008 2006 2008
€ million € milllon € mililon € million € million € millipn
Commerce and tourism 399 2085 604 315 173 488
Community and social services 95 189 284 B4 180 264
Energy/power generation 909 240 1,149 910 142 1,052
Extractive industries 176 320 496 104 310 414
Finance 3,167 4,491 7,658 2,764 3,383 5,147
Local authority services 643 132 775 603 46 649
Manufacturing 1,230 597 1,827 1,223 525 1,748
Primary industries 356 89 445 316 48 364
Telecommunications 224 179 403 340 147 487
Transport and coenstruction 1,786 151 1,937 1,652 99 1,751
At 31 December 8,985 6,593 15,578 8,311 5,063 13,364
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Credit risk in the Treasury portfolio: Management

For Treasury e;:posures, the Board of Directors approves a Treasury and Treasury Risk Management Authority (T&TRMA), which
defines the ris < parameters for funding, cash management, asset and liability management and the investment activities of the
Bank. This document is updated annually by the Finance and Risk Management Vice Presidencies and approved by the Board.

it covers all aspects of Treasury where financial risks arise and also Risk Management’s identification, measurement, management
and mitigation of the financial risks in Treasury. In addition, Treasury and Treasury Risk Management guidelines have been issued
in respect of Treasury risk taking and the related Risk Management processes and procedures,

The T&TRMA iz the document by which the Board of Directors delegates authority to the Vice President, Finance, to manage and
the Vice Presicent, Risk Management, to identify, measure, monitor and mitigate the Bank's Treasury exposures. The two Vice
Presidents jointly interpret the T&TRMA and notify the Board of Directors of any material interpretation. The Financial and
Operations Policies Committee reviews the T&TRMA annually and its review is submitted to the Board for approval.

Treasury risks are reviewed by the Treasury Exposure Committee (TEC), which meets monthly. The TEC is chaired by the Vice
President, Risk Management and its membership comprises senior managers of the Bank. The TEC is responsible for reviewing
and monitoring the implementation of the T&TRMA and related guidelines. It assesses Treasury and Risk Management policy
proposals for ¢ pprovai by the Board, and monitors and reviews the asset/liability profile and risk/return trade off in aggregate
Treasury exposures. it also evaluates new oroduct proposals for Treasury. Impairment of Treasury available-for-sale assets is
identified by Risk Management, assessed by the TEC and approved by the Vice Presidents of Finance and Risk Management.

Each counterparty or issuer to which the Bank is exposed through its Treasury activities is approved and granted a maximum credit
limit by Risk Mianagement. Risk Management assigns internal credit ratings based on internal analysis of approved counterparties’
creditworthiness through the synthesis of externally provided credit research and market data and with reference to external rating
benchmarks from approved rating agencies. The internal credit rating scale ranges from 1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest risk), the
same as that used for Banking exposures (a table showing how the Bank’s internal rating scale maps to the external ratings

of S&P is shown in “Credit risk in the Banking portfolio; Management” on page 21).

Treasury-relate 1 exposures are normally rated between 1 and 3 (approximately equivalent to S&P AAA to A- ratings), with the
exception of counterparties approved for local currency activities. These transactions support the Bank's initiatives o provide local
currency financ ng to Banking clients and to develop local capital markets. These internal ratings determine the maximum allowable
exposures as set out per rating level and counterparty type in the Bank’s guidelines for Treasury operations. The internal rating
process is based on credit risk managers’ judgement, external rating benchmarks and senior management oversight and approval.
Risk Managem:nt assesses all available ciedit research to identify key counterparty credit risk considerations. That analysis is
then supplemeated with market-based credit indicators, such as credit default swap spreads and market-implied credit ratings,

to produce an iiternal rating for each approved counterparty. All internal ratings assigned without reference to an external rating
benchmark are approved by the Director, Risk Management.

The assigned irternal ratings are relative rankings of default risk. When analysing portfolio credit risk within Treasury activities,
the Bank maps internal ratings to external rating benchmarks to apply rating transition and default statistics sourced from
rating agencies.

The Beoard-approved T&TRMA states the minimum rating and maximum tenor by type of eligible counterparty. Operational

guidelines appraved and issued by the Vice President, Risk Management set the maximum exposure size limits per rating class and
counterparty type. The actual exposure size limit and/or tenor limit attributed to individual counterparties may be smaller or shorter,
respectively, based on the likely direction of its credit quality over the medium term, its internal cutlook, or on sector considerations.
Individual counierparty lines for banks, corporates and insurance companies are measured, monitored and reviewed by Risk
Management on a regular basis with a strong surveillance focus, including quarterly reports on the counterparties contributing

the most to the credit VaR® of the Treasury portfolio.

The Bank’s expnsure measurement methodeology for Treasury credit risk uses a Maonte Carlo simulation technigue that produces,
to a high degree of confidence, maximum exposure amounts at future points in time for each counterparty (in practice, 95 per cent
eVaR).? This inc udes all transaction types and is measured out to the maturity of the longest dated transaction with that
counterparty. Ex:posures are calculated and controlled against approved limits daily with exceptions escalated to the Director,

Risk Management for approval.

Risk mitigation echniques and risk transferring instruments reduce calculated credit exposure measures. For example, ¢redit
support annexe s for over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives trading reduce potential future exposures in line with collateral posting
expectations. Likewise, buying credit protection via a credit default swap usually decreases measured exposure on the
reference entity

® VaR js a statistical estimate of the maximum probable loss that can be incurred, due to adverse
movements in major tsk drivers, over a given time herizon and estimated at a given confidence
level. Expectad shortiall, or eVaR, is the average loss beyond the VaR level and is a more
accurate measure of arge potential losses,
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Credit risk in the Treasury portfolio: 2007 results

Treasury peak credit exposure increased during the year from €10.9 billion at 31 December 2006 to €12.9 billion at

31 December 2007. While exposure decreased slightly during the first half of the year, it increased markedly in the second half,

as Treasury shifted some of its pesitions from medium term collateralised instruments (where exposure is based on a replacement
cost, for example reverse repurchase agreements) to short term cash instruments (where exposure is based on the full nominal).

The credit quality of the Treasury portfolio deteriorated during 2007, with the average credit rating weighted by peak counterparty
exposure — excluding Treasury's new activities in the Bank's countries of operations — standing at 1.91 at 31 December 2007
(2006: 1.78).% The deterioration came mostly as a result of the downgrade of some US investment banks in the fourth quarter
of 2007, Including Treasury's new activities in the Bank's countries of operations {with counterparties typically rated 4.7 to

5.3 internally), the average credit rating for the overall Treasury portfolio was 1.97.

The percentage of Treasury transactions of investment grade quality” similarly decreased to 96.4 per cent at 31 December 2007
(2006: 97.9 per cent). Treasury's exposure to below investiment grade obligors is limited to counterparties from the countries of
operations and a few asset-backed securities (ABS) investments originally rated triple-A by leading external rating agencies and
downgraded below investment grade mostly prior to 2006.

Placements with and advances to credit institutions
Set out below is an analysis of the Bank’s placements with, and advances to, credit institutions for each of the Bank’s relevant
internal risk rating categories.

2007 2006

Risk rating € milllen € million
1-3: Excellent to very good 4,255 3,099
4; Good 206 36
5-6: Satisfactory to acceplable 53 -
At 31 December 4,514 3,135

At 31 December 2007 there were no placements with, and advances to, credit institutions past due or impaired (2008 nil},

Available-for-sale debt securities

Risk Management determines the eligibility of credit exposures based on the internal risk ratings applied and the parameters set
out in the T&TRMA and other relevant policies and guidelines. In cases where the creditworthiness of security issuers deteriorates
to levels below the standard of eligibility for new exposures, Risk Management and Treasury jointly recommend actions for the
approval of the Vice President, Risk Management and the Vice President, Finance. Any decision to retain no longer eligible
exposures is reported to the TEC and the Audit Committee.

¢ Using the Bank's internal rating scale, where 1.7 is equivalent to an external rating of AA+/Aal/
AA+ with S&P/Moody’s/Fitch ratings and 2.0 Is equivalent to an external rating of AA/ABZ/AA.

' BBB-/Baa3/BBB- level or abova.

Credit quality of the Treasury portfolio

31 December 2007 31 December 2006

Risk class % Risk ctass %
m 10 293 ® 10 114
B 1725 60.6 o 1725 54.3
| 27-33 6.7 N 27-33 2.2
W 47-53 21 = 47-53 -
0O 80 1.2 o 8o 1.9
180 0.1 90 6.2
Note: Risk ratings range frem Note: Risk ratings range from

1 {lowest risk) 1o 10 (highest risk). 1 (lowest risk) to 10 (highest risk),
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In cases where the Bank considers the exposure to be permanently reduced in value, impairment is recognised in the income
statement. The following factors apply in the determination of impairment, which is reviewed by the TEC and approved by the
Vice President, Risk Management and the Vice President, Finance:

B downgrading of the issuer below minimurn eligibility levels for Treasury exposures;
0 issuer failure to pay amounts contracted under the security;

1 covenant breaches, default events and trigger level failures;

1 deterioration of credit enhancement including diminution in collateral values; and
1 legal proceecings such as bankruptcy, regulatory action or similar.

Set out below is an analysis of the Bank's available-for-sale debt securities for each of the Bank's relevant internal risk rating
categories. No collateral is held over impair2d debt securities.

Naither Cumulative

past due Impalred Impatrment
ner Impalred gross losses Total
Risk rating € mittlon € milllon € million € miilion
1-3: Excellent to ve 'y good 6,776 - - 6,776
4: Good 3 - - 3
7-8: Special attentian to substandard - 138 44) 94
9: Doubtful - 17 (17) -
At 31 December 20107 5,779 155 (61) 6,873

Neithar Cumulative

past due Impaired impairment
nor impalred gross losses Total
Risk rating € million € million € million € millien
1-3: Excellent to ve 'y good 6,699 - - 6,689
4: Good 3 - - 3
7-8: Special attention to substandard - 175 (46) 129
9: Doubtful - 20 (20) -
At 31 December 2C06 6,702 195 (66) 6,831

Available-for-sale debt securities risk rated B-10 are considered to be impaired because the fair value of these investments
is significantly tetow cost.

Financial liabilit es at fair value through profit or loss
Changes in the 3ank’s credit rating do not have an impact on the carrying amount of externally managed fund liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives

The EBRD's use of exchange-traded and OTC derivatives is primarily focused on hedging interest rate and foreign exchange risks
arising from botn its Banking and Treasury activities. Market views expressed through derivatives are also undertaken as part
of Treasury's activities, while the transactions through which the Bank funds itself in capital markets are typically swapped into
floating-rate deht with derivatives. In addition, the Bank uses credit derivatives as an alternative to investments in specific
securities or to nedge certain exposures.

The risks arising; from derivative instruments are combined with those deriving from all other instruments dependent on the same
underiying risk factors, and are subject to overall market and credit risk limits, as well as to stress tests. Additionally, special care
is devoted to thiase risks that are specific to the use of derivatives, through, for example, the monitoring of volatility risk for options,
credit spread risik for swaps and basis risk for futures.
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The table below shows the fair value of the Bank's derivative financia! assets and liabilities at 31 December 2007
and 31 December 2006.

Asaets Liablliities Total Asseis Liabilities Totak

2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006
€ milllon € miltlon € million € miition € million € million
Derivatives held for trading
OTC forelgn currency products
Currency swaps 120 (19) 101 154 {11) 143
Spot and forward currency transactions 15 (53) (38} - (20) (20)
135 (72} 63 154 {31) 123
OTC Interest rate products
Interest rate swaps 82 (54) 28 63 (43) 20
Forward rate agreements 1 {1) - - - -
Caps/floors - (1) (1} - - -
83 (56) 27 63 (43) 20
OTC credit products
Credit default swaps 36 (23} 13 3 (B) {3)
Banking products
Equity derivatives 136 (148) (12} 85 — B85
Total derlvatives held for trading 390 (299) 91 305 (80) 225
Dearivatives held for hedging
Derlvatives designated as fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 358 {159) 199 515 (156) 359
Cross currency interest rate swaps 1,213 {173} 1,040 1,310 27Q) 1,040
Total derlvatives held for hadging 1,571 {332) 1,239 1,825 (426) 1,399
Total derlvatives at 31 December 1,961 (631} 1,330 2,130 {506) 1,624

In order to manage credit risk in OTC derivative transactions, the Bank's policy is to approve ex-ante each counterparty individually
and to review its creditworthiness and eligibility regularly. Qverall limits are allocated to each eligible counterparty in compliance with
guidelines that set a maximum for the size and tenor of exposure, based on the counterparty’s internal ¢redit rating and outlook.

For those counterparties, typically banks, that are deemed eligible for foreign exchange and OTC derivatives, a portion of the overall
counterparty limit is allocated to these instruments. Utilisation of limits, whether overall counterparty limits or dedicated foreign
exchange and OTC derivatives limits, is calculated using a potential future exposure methodology. This is based on a Monte Carlo
simulation-based model and is measured and monitored daily for all counterparties, independently from risk takers.

OTC derivative transactions are normally transacted only with the most creditworthy counterparties, rated at the internal equivalent
of single-A and above. Furthermore, the Bank pays great attention to mitigating the credit risk of OTC derivatives through the
negotiation of appropriate legal documentation with counterparties. OTC derivatives transactions are systematically documented
with a Master Agreement (MA) and a Credit Support Annex (CSA). These provide for close-out netting and the posting of collateral
by the counterparty once the Bank’s exposure exceeds a given threshold, which is a function of the counterparty’s

perceived creditworthiness.

The Bank has alsc expanded the scope for applying risk mitigation techniques by documenting the widest possible range of
instruments transacted with a given counterparty under a single MA and CSA, notably foreign exchange transactions. The Bank

also systematically resorts to unwinding-upon-credit-downgrading clauses and, for long-dated transactions, unilateral break clauses.
Similarly, the Bank emphasises risk mitigation for repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and related transaction types
through MA documentation.

At 31 December 2007, 78.0 per cent of the Bank’s gross exposure to derivatives counterparties was with counterparties with
which an MA and CSA had been completed (2006: 87.0 per cent). A further 20.7 per cent was with counterparties with which only
an MA had been completed (2006: 12.9 per cent). In addition, 99.98 per cent of the Bank's exposure to foreign exchange and OTC
derivatives was either with counterparties rated triple-A in their own right, or with counterparties with whom a collateral agreement
had been completed, allowing for receipt of collateral in the form of cash or liquid, triple-A-rated government securities

(2006: 100 per cent).
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Collateral
The Bank mitige tes credit risk by holding collateral against exposures to derivative counterparties.

At 31 Decembe - 2007, the total fair value of the Bank's derivative transactions amounted to €1.3 billion (2006: €1.6 hillicn).
Counterparty exposure, for the purposes of collateralising credit risk, is only concerned with counterparties with whom the Bank
has an overall net positive exposure. At 31 December 2007 this exposure stood at €1.5 billion (2006: 1.7 billion). Against this,
the Bank held collateral of €1.1 hillion (2006: €1.4 billion), reducing its net credit exposure to €0.4 billion (2006: €0.3 biilion).

Where the Bank borrows or purchases securities subject to a commitment to resell them (a reverse repurchase agreement) but
does not acquirz the risk and rewards of ownership, the transactions are treated as collateralised loans. The securities are not

included in the alance sheet and are held as collateral.

The table beiow illustrates the fair value of collateral held which is permitted to be sold or repledged in the absence of default.

Sold or repledged collateral includes collateral on-lent through bond lending activities. In all cases the Bank has an obligation

to return equivalent securities.

Held Sold or Held Sold or

collateral repledged collateral repledged

2007 2007 2006 2006

Collateral hatd as seci rity € million € milllen € million € million
Derivative financial instruments

Triple-A-rated govirnment securities 906 584 1,275 589

Cash 202 202 116 116

Reverse sale and repurchase transactions 1,033 - 1,336 -

At 31 December 2,141 186 2,727 705

The term “collateralised placements” in the Bank's balance sheet is used to describe the economic substance of the transactions
comprising that category. Such transactions involve the purchase of a financial asset together with entering into a total return
swap whereby t1e risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred back to the entity selling the asset. For accounting
purposes, therefore, the economic substance of such transactions is a form of collateralised lending. However as the assets are
legally owned b the Bank, they do not represent collateral for the purposes of the above disclosure. At 31 December 2007 the

Bank held €1.8 billion (2006: €2.6 billion) ¢f collateralised placements.

Credit risk in the Treasury portfolio: Concentration
Concentration by country and region

At 31 Decembe- 2007, Treasury credit risk exposure was allocated across 22 countries. The top six countries (by percentage of
the total exposure) were the United States of America (36.3 per cent), the United Kingdom (17.4 per cent), Ireland (7.4 per cent),
Spain (6.4 per cent), France (4.9 per cent) and Japan (4.2 per cent). The top six countries at 31 December 2006 were the
United States of America (40.7 per cent), the United Kingdom (12.2 per cent), Spain (7.4 per cent), Belgium (6.9 per cent),

France {4.4 per cent) and Japan (4.4 per cent).

Concentration of Treasury peak exposure by country/region

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
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Concentration by counterparty type

Banks represented 64.9 per cent of the overall exposure (2006; 54.3 per cent), following the build up in short term cash
placements described above. Exposure to ABS, although slightly reduced in relative terms (14.8 per cent, down from

17.4 per cent at 31 December 2006) remained almost unchanged in nominal terms, and was the second largest counterparty
type at 31 December 2007, Exposure to sovereigns (mostly the result of government securities placed to the Bank as part

of its collateral agreements with OTC derivatives counterparties) was significantly reduced (6.7 per cent, down from

14.2 per cent at 31 December 2006).

B. Market risk

Market risk is the potential loss that could result from adverse market movements. The drivers of market risk are: (i) interest rate
risk; (ii} foreign exchange risk; (iii} equity risk; and (iv} commodity price risk. Interest rate risks are further broken down into yield
curve risk, which measures the impact of changes in the position and shape of the yield curve for a given currency, and volatility risk,
which deals with risks specific to interest rate option transactions. Yield curve risk can in turn be divided into changes in the overail
level of interest rates (a parallel shift of an entire yield curve), and changes in the slope or the shape of the yield curve, Similarly,
foreign exchange rate risks are split into risk emanating from changes in the level of foreign exchange rates, and volatility risk,

which Is inherent within foreign exchange options.

Market risk in the Banking portfolio

The Banking loan portfolio is match-funded by Treasury in terms of currency so that for loan facilities extended in currencies other
than euro the foreign exchange risk is fully hedged via the Treasury portfolio. Likewise, interest rate risk to which the Banking loan
portfolio would normally be exposed is fully managed through the Treasury portfolio. As such there is no residual foreign exchange
or interest rate risk present in the Banking loan portfolio. The main exposure to market risk in the Banking portfolio arises from the
exposure of share investments to foreign exchange and equity price risk, neither of which is captured in the VaR figures discussed
under “Market risk in the Treasury portfolio” on page 32.

Exposure by counterparty type
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

. Risk class % | Risk class %
‘(& B Banks £4.9 W Barks 54.3
. ” W ABS 148 & ams 17.4
W Soversigns 6.7 W Sovereigns 142
M Insurance companies 62 #l Instrance companies 1.0
O Dervative product companies 2.6 O Derivative product companies 36
{I Countries of operations counterparties 21 £ Corporates 23
Comporates 14 Multitateral onganisations 1.2

O Muttilateral erganisations 0.8
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Foreign exchange risk
The table below summarises the potential impact on the Bank's net profit and available-for-sale reserves from an increase
or decrease in rzlevant foreign exchange rales.

S-year Falr value
rolling through Avaltable Impact on
avarage profit or for-sale Total available-
movemeant in loss share share share Impact on for-sale
exchange rate Investmeonts investmaents investments net profit resarves
% € miilion € miillon € million € milifen € milllen
Croatian kuna 14 8953 121 1,074 13 2
Euro - 1,014 726 1,740 - -
Russian rouble 5.7 674 429 1,103 39 24
Romanian leu B.2 10 687 697 1 57
United States dolla“ 13.0 281 582 863 36 76
Other non-eurg 6.7 537 579 1,116 a6 38
At 31 December 2007 - 3,469 3,124 6,593 125 187
Fair value
S-year rolling through Available Jmpact on
average profit or for-sale Total available-
movement in loss share share share Impact on for-sale
exchange rate investments investments investments net profit ressrves
% € million € million € millien € million € million
Croatian kuna 1.6 606 12 618 12 -
Euro - 950 700 1.650 - -
Russian rouble 5.7 125 121 246 13 12
Romanian leu 121 9 560 569 1 67
United States dolla“ 14.3 388 624 1,012 54 88
Other non-euro 10.1 322 636 958 33 64
At 31 December 2C 06 - 2,400 2,653 5,053 113 231

Net profit for the year would increase/decrease as a result of movements in the fair value of associate share investments and
high risk equity funds classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale reserves would increase/decrease as

a result of movements in the fair value of non-associate share investments classified as available-for-sale.
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Equity price risk

tn terms of equity price risk, the Bank expects the effect on net profit and available-for-sale reserves will bear a linear relationship
to the movement in equity indices. The table below summarises the potential impact on the Bank's net profit and available-for-sale
reserves from an increase or decrease in relevant benchmark indices.

5 yoar rolling Fair value
average through Avallable Impact on
movement In proflt or for-sale Total avaitable-
banchmark lo3s share share share Impact on for-sate
Index I in net profit reserves
% € milllon € mililen € million € million € million
Russian Federation RTS Index 47.9 791 671 1,462 379 322
Croatia CROBEX Index 36.9 954 121 1,075 352 45
Romania BET Index 454 160 740 900 73 336
Poland WIG Index 31.7 217 207 424 69 65
Serbia BELEX15 Index 48.2 318 16 334 153 8
Hungary CHTX Index 30.9 169 165 334 52 51
Kazakhstan KASE Index 107.5 14 257 271 15 276
Slovak Republic SAX Index 29.0 - 95 95 - 28
Regional and other Weighted average 45.4 846 852 1,698 384 386
At 31 Decomber 2007 - 3,469 3,124 6,593 1,477 1,517
S year rolling Fair value
average through Avallable Impact on
movement in profit or for-sale Total available-
benchmark loss share share shara impact on tor-sale
index investments investments investments net profit reserves
% € million € million € miltion € millien € millien
Russian Federation RTS Index 51.7 372 265 837 192 137
Croatia CROBEX Index 30.4 609 122 731 185 37
Romania BET Index 65.0 157 593 750 102 385
Poland WIG Index 30.3 226 264 490 68 79
Serbia BELEX15 Index 58.0 222 20 242 129 11
Hungary CHTX Index 359 94 172 266 34 62
Kazakhstan KASE Index 112.4 1 461 462 1 518
Slovak Republic SAX Index 30.8 34 87 121 11 27
Regional and other Weighted average 53.5 685 669 1,354 366 360
At 31 December 2006 - 2,400 2,683 5,053 1,088 1,616

Net profit for the year would increase/decrease as a result of movements in the fair value of associate share investments and high
risk equity funds classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale reserves would increase/decrease as a result
of movements in the fair value of nocn-associate share investments ctassified as available-for-sale.

Market risk in the Treasury portfolio

The EBRD's market risk exposure arises from the fact that the movement of interest rates and foreign exchange rates may

have an impact on positions taken by the Bank in its Treasury portfalio.

The Bank monitors its exposure to market risk in its Treasury portfolio through a combination of limits, based on Monte Carlo

simulation-based eVaR, also known as Expected Shortfall, and a variety of additional risk measures. The Bank’s overall evVaR limit
is faid down in the Board-approved T&TRMA. Foreign exchange exposures are further constrained by a dedicated evaR sub-limit.

Additional eVaR measures are monitored, in particular for drilling down from aggregate eVaR measures to individual market factors
(marginal eVaR and VaR sensitivities). For the options portfolio, dedicated options eVaR computations are performed in order to

factor in the non-linear behaviour of option instruments.

For internal monitoring purposes, eVaR is defined as the average {above a certain threshold) potential loss that could be incurred due

to adverse fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates over a one-day trading horizon and computed with a 95 per cent
confidence level. For enhanced comparability across institutions, numbers disclosed in this financial report are also VaR-based and
scaled up to a 99 per cent confidence level over a ten-trading-day horizan.
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Although eVaR is a more robust measure of market risk than VaR and is used to measure Treasury portfolio risk, it also remains
limited by its historical framework in so far as past market events are not necessarily a perfect predictor of future unfolding
scenarios. For tnese reasons a number of cther risk measures are employed to complement eVaR and VaR data, with numbers
produced using a different set of assumpticns and based on a set of risk factor sensitivities. This is also to ensure that material
risks are not ignored by focusing on one particular set of risk measures. Foreign exchange risk and the various types of interest rate
risks, whether far outright exposures or for options, are monitored with sensitivity-based measures independently for each currency
and type of option. A series of stress tests is also produced on a daily basis. These primarily encompass:

1 stress-testinjt the options portfolio for joint large changes in the level of the price of the underlying security and that of volatility;

1 analysing, for each currency separately, the profit and loss impact of large deformations in the level and shape
of the yield c arve; and

1 producing stress tests covering the entire Treasury portfolio based on historical scenarios.

The EBRD aims to limit and manage market risks as far as possible through active asset and liability management. Interest rate risks
are managed bv synthetically hedging the interest rate profiles of assets and liabilities, mainly through the use of exchange-traded
and OTC derivarives for hedging purposes. Zxposures to foreign exchange and interest rate risks are measured and monitored daily
by Risk Manage ment to ensure compliance with authorised limits.

Interest rate ani foreign exchange risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The length
of time for which the rate of interest is fixed on a financial instrument indicates the extent to which it is exposed to interest rate risk.

The Bank’s interest rate risk measurement is complemented by accepted market techniques including VaR, spread risk and volatility
risk, on which frequent management reporting takes place.

At 31 December 2007, the aggregate VaR of the Bank's Treasury portfolio, calculated by reference to a 99 per cent confidence
level and over & ten-trading-day horizon, stood at €5.1 million (2008: €1.7 million). Correlation effects in the portfolio reduce the
aggregate VaR below the sum of the individual VaR exposures.

The year-end VaR values denote a modest use throughout the year of the Board-approved total VaR limit for alf Treasury funds,
which amounts to €18.0 million (2006: €18.0 million). The average VaR over the year was €3.0 million {2006: €2.6 million),
while the lowest and highest values were €1.6 million and €5.1 million respectively (2006: €1.7 million and €3.5 million).

Total VaR - overall limit €18m
{10 trading days 99% confidence lavel, BIS compliant dataset)

VaR {€ million; mcnth-gnd figure)
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Market risk exposure incurred by Treasury derives from positions managed either internally by Treasury or by external asset
managers (EAM), participating in the euro-denominated interest rate trading programme or the US dollar-denominated mortgage
backed securities programme,

Within the overall market risk exposure, the VaR of the internally managed portfolios stood at €3.1 million at the end of 2007
(2006: €0.9 million). The range during the year was between €0.7 million and €3.1 million (2006: between €0.9 million and
€1.9 million). The size of the internally managed portfolio to which these figures relate was €14.5 billion at 31 December 2007
(2006: €13.7 billion).

Market risks incurred on the externally managed portfolics exhibited a year-end VaR of €0.6 million {2006: £€0.3 million) for the
euro-denominated programme and €2.0 million (2006: €0.7 million) for the US dollar-denominated programme. Following a review
of the rationale for these externally managed portfolios undertaken by Treasury during the second half of 2007, a decision was
taken to close down the euro-denominated interest rate programme with effect from 31 fanuary 2008.

The specific contribution from foreign exchange risk to the overall VaR stood at €0.5 million at year-end {(2006: €0.5 million).

As in previous years, this contribution was small throughout 2007 and never exceeded €0.5 million (2006: €1.2 million). Interest
rate positioning continued to represent the majority of the Bank’s market risk exposure. Interest rate option exposure remained
modest throughout the year especially at the end of the year, where, as in 2006, options VaR was negligible.

Equity price risk

The Bank has direct exposure to equity risk through one Treasury share investment for which the market risk is assessed on a
stand-alone basis within a VaR/eVaR framework and added 1o the overall Treasury risk. In general, for such direct equity exposures,
the risks would be monitored and reported on a regular basis. Indirect exposure to equity risk occurs in the form of linked structures
that are traded on a back-to-back basis and therefore result in no outright exposure.

Commodity price risk
At 31 December 2007 the Treasury portfolio was not exposed to any commaodity risk as all such transactions had been done
on a back-to-back basis.

C. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management process

The Bank's liquidity policy is set out in the Liguidity Policy Review. This document is updated annually and approved by the Board.
The overall liquidity policy within this document sets out the framework that ensures the Bank's ability to meet all its liquidity
cbligations in the medium term, with further details incorporated within the liquidity management guidelines as part of the Treasury
Guidelines. As part of this annual review process, there is an assessment of the Bank’s projected liquidity based on projected
operational and financial cash flows, together with the proposed Borrowing Programme for the following year. The Bank’s liquidity
position is also monitored on a monthly basis by the Vice President, Risk Management.

The Bank is committed to maintaining a strong liquidity position. To ensure this, the Bank requires a minimum target liquidity ratio,
based on a multi-year context, of 45 per cent of its next three years' net cash requirements, with full coverage of all committed
but undisbursed project financing plus one year's debt service. This policy is implemented by maintaining liquidity in an operating
target zone of 90 per cent of the next three years’ net cash requirements, and 100 per cent of committed but undisbursed project
financing, plus one year's debt service — above the required minimum level.

The table opposite provides an analysis of the cash flows payable on financial liabilities placed into relevant maturity groupings,
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It presents the earliest maturity dates
at which the Bank’s counterparties have the ability to demand repayment. The figures represent undiscounted cash flows and
therefore do not agree to the balance sheet.

Net settling interest rate derivatives typically include interest rate swaps and forward rate agreememnts. Gross settling interest rate
derivatives include cross currency interest rate swaps. While the pay legs of these derivatives must be disclosed, the inflows have
also been presented in the accompanying table for information purposes. Foreign exchange derivatives include currency forwards
and currency swaps. As exchange traded interest rate futures and options are cash settled daily, their undiscounted future cash
flows at the balance sheet date are negligible.
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Qver Over Over

1 menth 3 months 1 yaar
Upte and up to and up to and up to
and including  and including  and includb and Including Over
1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
Financiai llabitities at 31 December 2007 € milllon € million € million € million € miition € million
Non-derivative cash flows
Amounts owed to credit institutions 1,432 25 22 - - 1,479
Debts evidenced by ¢ertificates 1,181 1,770 2,791 6,281 11,893 23,916
Other financial liabilities 599 13 - - - 612
At 31 December 2007 3,212 1,808 2,813 6,281 11,893 26,007
Tradlng devvative cash flows
Net settling intere:it rate derivatives 1 1 3 14 29 48
Gross settling interest rate derivatives - outflow 16 2 287 1,149 70 1,524
Gross settling interest rate derivatives — inflow 12) {2) (287) (1,148) {66) {1,515}
Foreign exchange Jderivatives — putflow 708 1,528 3 - - 2,236
Foreign exchange «erivatives — inflow (692) {1,501} {3) - - {2,196)
Credit derivatives - {1} {1} {2) 2 (2)
At 31 December 2 007 18 27 2 13 35 95
Hedging derlvativis cash flows
Net settling intere 5t rate derivatives 3 12 9 79 {70} 33
Gross settling interest rate derivatives — outflow 64 462 779 1,209 501 3,015
Gross settling inté rest rate derivatives — inflow 66) (438) {838) {1,205) {420) (2,965)
At 31 December (1007 1 36 (48) 83 11 83
Total financlal llahilitles at 31 December 2007 3,231 1,871 2,767 6,377 11,939 26,185
Over Over Over
1 month 3 months 1 year
upto and up to and up 1o and up ¢
and including  and including  and including  and ingluding Over
1 month 3 months 1 year S years 5 years Total
Financial liabilities at 31 December 2006 € millien € million € million € milfion € millien € millien
Non-derivative cash flows
Amounts owed fo credit institutions 1,131 59 15 - - 1,205
Debts evidenced 2y certificates 908 1,443 2.873 5,180 13,592 23,996
Other financial liasilities 880 4 - - - 884
At 31 December 006 2,919 1,506 2,888 5,180 13,692 26,085
Trading derivative cash fiows
Net settling interi:st rate derivatives 4 1 4 13 35 57
Gross settling intarest rate derivatives — outflow 2 1 23 474 21 521
Gross settling int2rest rate derivatives — inflow {3) {1) (24) (464} (20) (512)
Foreign exchange derivatives — outflow 172 680 5 - - 857
Foreign exchange derivatives ~ inflow {169) {664) {4) - - {837)
Credit derivatives - 1 2 9 2 14
At 31 December 2006 6 18 6 32 38 100
Hedging derivative cash flows
Net settling inter :st rate derivatives 4 11 11 45 {15) 56
Gross settling interest rate derivatives — outflow 78 381 1,446 1,118 764 3,787
Gross settling inlerest rate derivatives ~ inflow {77} (341) {1,391) (1,063} (596) (3,468)
At 31 December 2006 5 51 66 100 153 375
Tota! financial liaailities at 31 December 2006 2,930 1.575 2,960 5,312 13,783 26,560
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Operatilonal risk’

Th
an

e EBRD defines operational risk as all aspects of risk-related exposure other than those falling within the scope of credit, market
d liquidity risk. This includes the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from

external events and reputational risk. Examples include:

Th

errors or failures in transaction support systems and inadequate disaster recovery planning, including errors
in the mathematical formulae of pricing or hedging models, or in the computation of the fair value of transactions;

external events;
damage to the EBRD's name and reputation, either directly by adverse comments or indirectly;

errors or omissions in the processing and settlement of transactions, whether in the areas of execution, booking
or settlement or due to inadequate legal documentation;

errors in the reporting of financial results or faitures in controls, such as unidentified limit excesses or unauthorised
trading/trading outside policies; and

dependency on a limited number of key personnel, inadequate or insufficient staff training or skill levels.

e EBRD has a low tolerance for material losses arising from operational risk exposures. Where material operational risks are

identified (that is, those that may lead to material loss if not mitigated), appropriate mitigation and control measures are put in
place after a careful weighing of the risk/return trade off. Maintaining the EBRD's reputation is of paramount importance and
reputational risk has therefore been included in the Bank's definition of operational risk. The EBRD will always try to take all
reasonable and practical steps to safeguard its reputation.

Wi
an
an

thin the EBRD, there are policies and procedures in place covering all significant aspects of operational risk. These include first
d foremost the EBRO’'s high standards of business ethics and its established system of internal controls, checks and balances
d segregation of duties. These are supplemented with:

the EBRD's Codes of Conduct;

disaster recovery/contingency planning;

the Public Information Policy:

client and project integrity due diligence procedures, including anti-money-laundering measures;
procedures for reporting and investigating suspected staff misconduct, including fraud;
information management policy; and

procurement and purchasing policies, including the detection of corrupt practices in procurement.

Responsibility for developing the operational risk framework and for monitoring its imptementation resides within the Risk
Management Vice Presidency. Risk Management is responsible for the overall framework and structure to support line managers
who control and manage operational risk as part of their day-to-day activities. Risk Management drafts proposals for discussion

an

d review to the Operational Risk Management Group {ORMG), which implements the operational risk management policies and

techniques throughout the Bank.

Th

e ORMG is chaired by the Vice President, Risk Management and its membership comprises senior managers across the EBRD

who have been identified as potentially facing the most operational risk within their day-to-day activities. The ORMG's task is to

de
all

velop and coordinate the EBRD's approach to managing operational risk, and to ensure that it is widely implemented across
areas of the EBRD.

* This has been provided for information purposes only and does not form part
of the financial statements. As such the informatian is unaudited.
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The EBRD's cur ent operational risk framework includes an agreed definition (see above), the categorisation of different loss type
events to capture the EBRD's exposure to cperational risk, a group of key risk indicators to measure such risks and the identification
of specific operational risks through an annual self assessment exercise. Departments within the EBRD identify their operational risk
exposures and svaluate the mitigating controls that help to reduce the inherent or pre-control risk. Each operational risk is assessed
for its impact, zaccording to a defined value scale and the likelihood of occurrence, based on a frequency-by-time range. Following the
conclusion of the self assessment exercise, a series of challenge meetings based on product or risk type lines and across
departments are held to validate the results and to increase consistency between departments.

Another element of the EBRD’s operational risk management framework is loss data — both internal and external. The EBRD collects
internal operational risk Incident data as reported by departments primarily to improve the control environment by taking into account
the cost of conirol strengthening and perceived potential future losses. The EBRD is a member of an external loss database where
members “poo " operational risk incident information over a monetary thresheld. This will provide the EBRD with access to a depth
of information wider than its own experience and supplements analysis undertaken on internal incidents reported.

Risk Management Systems Programme’

The Bark is in the process of implementing a Risk Management Systems Programme (“the Programme”). This Programme will
establish a Bank-wide credit exposure and portfolio risk measurement framework. This framework will support a scenario-consistent
approach to th2 measurement of exposures through scenario and time, a consistent methodology for the measurement of credit
portfolio risk azross Banking and Treasury products, and the calculation of VaR and eVaR across both portfolios.

The Programmz comprises several distincl but integrated systems projects. The core element is the implementation of a new single
risk platform encompassing both the Treasury and Banking portfolio, designed to model the Bank’s exposures on a consistent basis
across the portfolios as well as modeilling the overall portfolio credit and market risk. The ancillary projects include a replacement
system for lim t management and Treasury credit risk control workflows, and a new system to generate cash flows for the Banking
portfolio. Operational processes surrounding the new systems, methodologies and data maintenance are being put in place.
Furthermore, the Programme includes non-system elements, such as a change in the approach to the risk rating of Banking
portiolio exposiures to comply with Basel recommendations and to facilitate credit risk modelling. Some of the systems
implemented under the Programme will supersede models currently in use.

The Programmr e preparation started in early 2006. Implementation is phased and the last phase is expected to be completed by
the end of 2009, Phases completed during 2007 included the selection of the risk engine platform, the limit management and

workflow system and the implementation of the counterparty hierarchy system. Phases ongoing at the end of 2007 included the
implementaticn of the risk engine platform, initially for market risk on the Treasury portfolio; the limit management and workflow
module; the Banking asset cash flow generation system; and the revision of credit risk rating approach for the Banking portfolio.

Capital management

The Bank's original authorised share capital was €10.0 billion. Under Resoplution No. 59, adopted on 15 April 1996, the Board of
Governors approved a doubling of the Bank's authorised capital stock to €20.0 billion. This increase allowed the Bank to continue
to implement its operational strategy on & sustainable basis. The Bank does not have any other classes of capital.

The Bank's capital usage is guided by statutory and financial policy parameters. Article 12 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank
limits the total amount of cutstanding loans, equity investments and guarantees made by the Bank in its countries of operations to
the totat amount of the Bank’s unimpaired subscribed capital, reserves and surpluses, establishing a 1:1 gearing ratio. Articie 12
also limits the total amount of disbursed share investments to the total amount of the Bank's unimpaired paid-in subscribed capital,
surpluses and general reserve. At 31 December 2007 the Bank's gearing ratio was 80 per cent (2006: 76 per cent). No capital
utilisation limits were breached during the year (2006: nif).

In accordance with the requirements of Article 5.3 of the Agreement, the Board of Governors shall review the capital stock of the
Bank at intervals of not more than five years. In 2006 the Bank concluded a review of its capita!l stock as part of the Third Capital
Resources Review (CRR3). This included an analysis of the transition impact and operational activity of the Bank; an assessment
of the econornic outlook and transition challenges in the region; the formulation of the medium-term portfolio development
strategy and objectives; and a detailed analysis of the Bank's projected future financial performance and capital adequacy.
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The Bank's headroom measure of capital adequacy has traditionally been reviewed and supplemented with a risk-based analysis
using both (i} regulatory capital guidelines of the Basel Il Capital Accord and (ii) a proxy for economic capital based on the Bank's
Risk Capital Model. On this basis the CRR3 analysis showed that the Bank should have sufficient capital to implement its
operational strategy over the 2006-10 period within the stated risk and financial assumptions. The review underlined that

the Bank relies on a strong capital base and stressed the need for prudent financial policies that support conservative
provisioning, strong liquidity and long term profitability. This is intended to enable the Bank to sustain its operational activity,
taking account of significant medium-term risks arising from its projects, from uncertainty in some sectors and countries of
operations, and from the volatility of the financial markets.

The Bank is currently developing an improved economic capital framework based on an holistic approach to quantifying all the
risks the Bank is exposed to. In addition, a review of the current interpretation of the statutory gearing ratio is also underway
as part of the Bank’s 2007 net income allocation decision making process.

Classification and fair value of financial assets and liabllities

The table below sets out the Bank's financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 categories.

Designated Dorivatives Financlal
at falr valus hald for labliltiss at
Hald for through hedging Loans and Avaliable- amortised Carrylng
trading profit or loss purposas recalvables for-sale cost amount
At 21 Decembar 2007 . € mlillion € milllon € million € milllon € milllon € miltien € million
Financlal assets
Placements with and advances te ¢redit institutions - - - 4,514 - - 4,514
Collateralised placements - - - 1,818 - - 1,818
Debt securities 477 1,024 - - 6,873 - 8,374
Derivative financial instruments 390 - 1,571 - - - 1,961
Other financial assets - 510 - 315 - - 825
Loan investments - - - 8,985 - - 8,985
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - - - (124} - - {124)
Banking share investments - 3,469 - - 3,124 - 6,593
Treasury share investments - - - - 47 - 47
Paid in capital receivable - - - 100 - - 100
Total financial assets 867 5,003 1,571 15,608 10,044 - 33,093
Financlal liabilitles
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - - - - (1,462) (1,462)
Debis evidenced by certificates - - - - - (16,209) {16,209)
Derivative financial instruments {299) - (332) - - - (631)
Other financial liabilities - (616) - - — {383} {999}
Total financial liabllitles (299) (616) (332) - - (18,054) {19,301)
Des/gnated Derlvatives Financial
at fair valug held for liabilities at
Held for through hedging Loans and Available- amartised Carrying
trading profit or loss purposes receivables for-sale cgst amount
At 31 December 2006 € miillion € millicn € million € million € million € million € millien
Financial assets
Placements with and advances to credit institutions - - - 3,135 = - 3.13%
Collateralised placements - - - 2,573 - - 2,573
Debt securities 864 800 - - 6,831 - 8,695
Derivative financial instruments 305 - 1,825 - - - 2.130
Other financial assets - 731 - 263 - - 994
Loan investments - - - 8,311 ~ - 8,311
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - - - (341) - - (341)
Banking share investments -~ 2,400 - - 2,653 - 5,053
Paid in capital receivable - - - 192 - — 192
Total financial assets 1,169 4,031 1,825 14,133 9,484 - 30,642
Financial liabilities
Amounts gwed to credit institutions - - - - - (1,194) (1,194)
Debts evidenced by certificates - - - - - {15.622) (15.622)
Derivative financial instruments {80) - (428) - - - {5086)
Other financial liabilities - (889) — — — {308) {1,197)
Total financial liabilities (80) (889) {426) - - (17,124) (18,519)
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The Bank's baliance sheet approximates to fair value in all financial asset and liability categories, with the exception of
collateralised placements and Banking fixed rate loans where interest rate risk has been hedged on a portfolic basis. The fair
value of collateralised placements in 2007 was €66 million above the current balance sheet value (2006: €24 million above).
The Bank does not hedge account for fixed rate loans where the interest rate is hedged on a portfolic basis and therefore the
underlying charnges to the fair value of these assets are not recognised on the balance sheet. At 31 December 2007, the fair
value of these oans was €18 million above the current balance sheet value {2006: €12 million above).

“Debts evidenced by certificates” represents the Bank’s borrowing activities executed through the issuance of commercial paper
and bonds. Du: to the short-tenor nature of commercial paper, amortised cost approximates fair value. Bonds are measured under
hedge account ng rules due to their linkage with interest rate and currency swaps. The hedged values of the bonds are not traded
in an open market and are therefore valued through valuation technigues in which all observable market data that could influence
the required valuations, namely benchmark; interest rates (LIBOR or equivalent) and foreign currency exchange rates, has been
incorporated. S.ee Note 21 on “Debts evidenced by certificates” for information on the hedged fair value adjustment, The Bank
considers that the fair value of its “debts evidenced by certificates” approximates to the reported hedged fair value as the

Bank's credit riating has remained unchanged from the date of issuance of its bonds and therefore its borrowing credit spread

has remained stable.
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FINANUIAL SIATENVIENTO

1. Establishment of the Bank

i Agreement Establishing the Bank

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”), whose principal office is located in London, is an international
organisation formed under the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990 (“the Agreement”). At 31 December 2007,

the Bank’s shareholders comprised 81 countries, together with the European Community and the European Investment Bank.

ii Headquarters Agreement

The status, privileges and immunities of the Bank and persons connected with the Bank in the United Kingdom are defined in
the Headquarters Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the
Bank (“Headguarters Agreement”). The Headquarters Agreement was signed in London at the start of the Bank’s operations
on 15 April 1991,

2. Segment information

Business segments

For management purposes, the business of the Bank comprises primarily Banking and Treasury operations. Banking activities
represent investments in projects which, in accordance with the Agreement, are made for the purpose of assisting the countries
of operations in their transition to a market economy, while applying sound banking principles. The main investment products are
loans, share investments and guarantees. Treasury activities include raising debt finance, investing surplus liguidity, managing
the Bank’s foreigh exchange and interest rate risks and assisting clients in asset and liability management matters.

Primary reporting format - business segment

Banking Treasury Aggregated Banking Treasury Aggregated
2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006
€ milllen € million € mliilon € million € millicn € million

Interest income 594 694 1,288 515 545 1,060

Qther income 1,438 (8) 1,430 2,195 24 2,219

Fair value movement on paid-in capital receivable and associated hedges? 4 i 5 5 = 5

Total segment revenue 2,036 687 2,723 2,715 569 3.284

Less interest expenses and similar charges? (497) (643) {1,140} (3700 (485) (855)
Allocation of the return on capital*? 381 42 423 226 26 252

Fair value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges - (72) {72) - {14) (14)
Less general administrative expenses (221) (19) (240} {195} (17} {212)
Less depreciation and amortisation {10) (1) {11} (12) (1) 13)
Segmant result before provisions 1,689 (6) 1,683 2,364 78 2,442

Provisions for impairment of loan investments 201 - 201 (53) - (53)
Net profit/{loss) for the year 1,890 (6) 1,884 2,311 78 2,389

Segment assets? 15,838 17,237 33,075 13,309 17,190 30,499

Paid-in capital receivable 100 192

Total assets 33,175 30,691

Segment liahilltles

Total (labilities 125 19,176 19,301 135 18,384 18,519

Capital expenditure 41 3 44 32 2 34

Fair value movement on paid-in capital receivable and asseciated hedges together with the allocation of the return on capital totatled €428 millien (2006: €257 million).
which represented the Bank's raturn on net paid-in ¢apital used in segmental results.

Interest expenses and similar charges together with the allocation of the return on capital totalled €717 million (2006: €603 millien).
This represented the Bank's “Interest expenses and similar charges” as reparted in the income statemant.

¥ Treasury assets include €14.7 billion of assets under Treasury management and €2.5 billion of Treasury related derivative finangial instruments and other financial assets.
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Secondary reporting format - geographical segment

The Bank's activities are divided into four regions for internal management purposes.

Segment Segment Segment Segment
ravenuo revenue assets assets
2007 2006 2007 2006
€ mitiion € million € milllen € million
Advanced countrie s* 554 837 4,670 4,359
Early/Intermediate: countries? 537 1,468 6,494 5,405
Russian Federation 945 410 4,674 3.545
QECD (Treasusy operations) 687 569 17,237 17,290
Total 2,723 3,284 33,075 30,489
' Advanced countries are Croatia, Czech Republic, Estonia. Hunjfary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Slovak Republic and Slovenia,
2 Early/Intermediate ountries are Albania, Armenia, Azerbaljan, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Former Yugaslav Republic of Macedonia,
Georgia, Kazakhsta 1, Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Mengolia, Mentenegro, Romania, Serbia, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine and Uzbekistan,
3. Net inter2st income
2007 2006
€ miitlon € mitlion
Interest and similar income:
Loans to customers 594 515
Debt securities 339 307
Collateralised plazements 100 B9
Reverse repurchase agreements a3 59
Cash and short te rm funds 100 67
Other 67 28
Interest and sim| ar Income 1,293 1,065
Interest expense; and similar charges:
Debts evidenced 2y certificates (687T) (602)
Other (30) {1)
Interest expenses and similar charges (71T) {603)
Net Interest income 576 462

interest incorr e accrued on impaired available-for-sale debt securities at 31 December 2007 was €0.4 million (2006: €1.6 million).

Interest incomr e accrued on impaired loan investments at 31 December 2007 was €0.2 million (2006: €36,000).

4. Net fee and commission income

The main components of net fee and commission income are as follows:

2007 2006

€ miillon £ miilion

Appraisal fees 4 3
Trade finance fees 4 7
Repayment fees 3 3
Syndication fees 3 3
Other 2 1
Equity fund fee expenses N (2) (2}
Net fee and commisslon Income 14 15

Front-end anc commitment fees of €51 million (2006: €43 million) received in 2007, together with related direct costs of

€7 million (2C06: €6 million), have been deferred on the balance sheet. They will be recognised in interest income over the

period from d shursement to repayment of the related loan, in accordance with |1AS 18. In 2007, €18 million (2006: €10 million)
of previously Jeferred fees and direct costs were recognised in interest income.
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5. Net galns from share investments at falr value through profit or loss

2007 2006
€ milllon € million
Net unrealised gains from associate share investments and high-risk equity funds 870 731
Net realised gains from associate share investments and high-risk equity funds 298 143
Net unrealised {losses)/gains from equity related derivatives (87) 23
Net realised gains from equity related derivatives - 1
Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,071 898
6. Net gains from available-for-sale share investments
2007 2006
€ millien € million
Net realised gains from available-for-sale share investments 255 1,194
Recoveries of previously recognised impairment losses 22 7
Impairment Ipsses from available-for-sale share investments (11) ()]
Not galns from avallable-for-sale share fnvestments 266 1.195
7. Net (losses)/gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets
2007 2006
€ mllilon € millicn
Realised gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets 1 6
Recoveries of previously recognised impairment losses on debt securities 1 14
Impairment losses from available-for-sale Treasury assets (3) (4)
Net (losses)/gains from available-for-sale Treasury assets (1) 16
8. Net (losses)/gains from dealing activities at fair value through profit or loss
2007 2006
€ milllon € million
Debt buy-backs 1 -]
Internally managed dealing portfolio held for trading 12 2
Internally managed dealing portfolio designated at fair value through profit or loss A7) (1)
Externally managed dealing portfolio designated at fair value through profit or loss (4} -
Net (losses)/galns from dealing actlvitles at falr value through profit or loss {B) 7

Net losses on the dealing portfolio include both realised and unrealised gains or losses, together with associated
interest income and expense.

9. Fair value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges

The hedging practices and accounting treatment are disclosed under “Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting”
in the Accounting policies on page 15.

Fair value movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges

The fair vaiue movement on non-qualifying and ineffective hedges represents an accounting adjustment in respect of hedging
relationships undertaken by the Bank that either do not qualify for hedge accounting or do not fully offset when measured in
accordance with IFRS. This unrealised adjustment does not reflect the economic substance as the reported losses would not be
realised in cash flow terms were the hedging relationships to be terminated. The adjustment will reverse over time as the underlying
deals approach their maturities. Under IFRS, the instruments within these hedging relationships are subject to different valuation
methodologies. In particular, & pricing component of currency swaps (known as the cross-currency basis spread) is not applied

to the related hedged bond. This component is a feature of supply and demand requirements for other currencies relative to the

US dollar. Such differences can create hedge ineffectiveness or hedge failures under IFRS, the combined effect of which is

reported within this line of the income statement,
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In 2007 a loss of €72 million was incurred (2006: loss of €14 million). These losses were sustained mostly in quarter two, when
one large hedge failure created a loss of €31 million, and in quarter four when the turbulent market conditions caused a widening
of cross-currer ¢y basis spreads in a number of the funding currencies in which the Bank issues bonds. In particular, this affected
the South African rand and New Zealand dollar currencies, where the spread widening caused combined negative hedge
ineffectiveness of €22 million.

The gains on the hedged items in 2007 were €337 million (2006: €269 million) while the losses on the associated hedging
instruments wore €403 million (2006: €287 million), creating a net loss of €66 million on one-to-one hedge relationships for which
the Bank applizs hedge accounting. A further loss of €6 million (2006: gain of €4 million) was attributable to derivatives employed
to hedge intere:st rate risk on the Bank's loan portfolio and for which the Bank does not apply hedge accounting.

Cash flow hedges

The Bank hedges on an annual basis to minimise the exchange rate risk associated with incurring administrative expenses In
sterling. At 31 December 2007 no cash flow hedges were in place. In 2007 and 2006 there was no ineffectiveness recognised
in the income statement arising from cash flow hedges.

10. General administrative expenses

2007 2006

€ miitlon € million

Personnel costs 156 141
Overhead expenses net of government grants 91 77
General administrative expenses 247 218
Deferral of direct casts related to loan origination and commitment mainienance (7} (B)
Net general adm nistrative expenses 240 212

The average rumber of staff inciuded in personnel costs during the year were: 1,035 headquarters staff (2006: 995}, 278 locally
hired staff in Resident Offices (2006: 247), 85 contract staff, comprising special contract staff, interns/short-term staff and locally
hired general service contract staff (200€: 96), and 76 Board of Directors personnel (2006: 76). Some 61 staff members were
externally funded (2006: 75).

Staff number; at 31 December 2007 consisted of: 1,052 headquarters staff (comprising regular and analyst staff in Bank
departments and Board support staff) (2006: 1,018), 295 locally hired staff in Resident Offices (2006: 261), 83 contract staff
{2006: 81}, comprising 12 special contrast staff (2006: 16), 53 interns/short-term staff (2006: 41) and 23 locally hired general
service contract staff (2006: 24), and 76 Board of Directors personnel (2006: 75). Some 58 staff members were externally
funded (200€: 64). In addition, the Russia Small Business Fund engaged 45 Project Bureau staff (2006 74) on projects in

the Russian Federation.

The following fees for work performed by the Bank's external auditors were included in overhead expenses:

2007 2008
Audlt and assurance sarvices € 000 €000
Services as aud teors of the Bank 253 260
Retirement plan audit 22 23
Internal controls framework assurance 131 134
Tax recovery auilit B 8
Audit and assurance services 414 425

Sterling general administrative expenses totalled £167 million (2006: £150 million}.

Direct costs af €7 million {20086: €6 million) relating to lean erigination and commitment maintenance in 2007, together with
received front-end and commitment fees of €51 million (2006: €43 million), have been deferred on the balance sheet in accordance
with |AS 18. These figures will be recognised in interest income over the period from disbursement to repayment of the related loan.
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11. Provisions for impairment of loan investments

2007 2006
{Reteasa}/charge for the year € miillon € mition
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments:
Non-sovereign Joan investments {207) 52
Sovereign loan investments (9) -
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of lban investments? 15 1
Provislons for impairment of loan Investments (201) 53
' During the year, new specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments of €21 miflion (2006: €13 million) were made and €86 million (2006: €12 mlllion) were released,
This resulted in a net charge to the income statement of £15 million (2006: €1 million),
2007 2006
Movement in provislons € milllon € millien
At 1 January 341 323
{Release)/charge for the year {201) 53
Foreign exchange adjustments (18) {20)
Release against amounts written off 2 15}
At 31 December 124 341
Analysed between
Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments:
Non-sovereign loan investments 86 309
Sovereign loan investments 5 14
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments 33 18
At 31 Decomber 124 341
12. Placements with and advances to credit institutions
2007 2006
Analysed balween € mitilon € million
Current 4,508 3,129
Non-current 6 6
At 31 December 4,514 3,135
13. Collateralised placements
2007 2006
Anatysed between € mitllen € millien
Current 679 1,403
Non-current 1,139 1,170
At 31 December 1,818 2,673
14. Debt securities
2007 2008
Dealing portiollo at fair vatue through profit or loss € milllen € million
Debt securities held for trading a77 864
Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 487 295
Externally managed funds at fair value through profit or loss 537 605
At 31 December 1,501 1,764
Avallable-for-sale
Available-for-sale portfolio 6,934 6,897
fess cumulative impairment losses (61) (66)
At 31 December 6,873 6,831
Debt securities at 31 December 8,374 8,595
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2007 2006
Analysed between < million € mitfion
Current 1,125 1,057
Non-current 7,249 7.538
Debt securitles at 31 December 8,374 8,585
2007 2006
Movement in cumuiz tive Impairment losses € million € milion
At 1 January 66 a0
Charge for the year 3 4
Amounts recovera:d during the year {1) (14)
Foreign exchange adjustments (] 9
Amounts written off during the year - {5)
At 31 December 61 66
15. Other financial assets
2007 2006
€ mlillon € millien
Fair value of derivatives held for hedging 1,571 1,825
Fair value of deri+atives held for trading 390 305
Externally managed funds at fair value through profit or loss 510 731
interest receivable 235 187
Other 80 76
At 31 December 2,786 3,124
Analysed between
Current 1,676 1,464
Non-current 1,110 1,660
At 31 Dacember 2,786 3,124
16. Loan investments
2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006
Soverelgn  Non-sovereign Total Sovereign  Non-sovereign Total
loans loans loans loans icans loans
Oparating assets € mifllon € millien € miliken € million € million € millicn
Al 1 tanuary 1,977 6,334 8,311 2,037 5,782 7,819
Movement in fai- value revaluation? - 4) (4} - (6) (6)
Disbursements 446 3,486 3,932 434 3,770 4,204
Repayments anil prepayments (370) (2,442} (2,812} (358) (2,887) (3,245)
Foreign exchange movements {119) (295) (414) {129) {284) {413)
Movement in net deferral of front end fees and related direct costs (6) (20} (26) {7) (20) (27)
Written off - {2) {2) - (21) (21)
At 31 December 1,928 7,057 8,985 1,977 6,334 8,311
Impairment at 31 December 15) (119} (124} (14) {327) {341)
Total operating assets net of Impairment at 31 December 1,923 6,938 8,861 1,963 6,007 7.970
Analysed between
Current 2,165 1,660
Non-current 6,696 6,310
Total operating asasets net of Impairment at 31 December 8,861 7,970
t The movement hi fair value revaluaticn relates to those fixed rate lgans that form part of a guaiifying hedge relationship with a derivative positien and as such
are re-measurec 1o fair value in respect of interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2007, the Bank categorised 12 loans as impaired, with operating assets totalling €37 million
{2006: 2 loans totalling €19 million). Speacific provisions on these assets amounted to €33 million (2006: €18 million).
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17. Share investments

Fair value Fair value Falr value
through profit through through Avattabl Availabl
or loss profit or loss proflt or ioss for-sale for-saie for-sale Total
unlisted share listed share total share  unlisted share listed shara total share share
investments investrments Invostments investments investments I

€ million € million € million € miflion € million € milllen € milllen

Cutstanding dishursements
At 31 December 2005 1,030 126 1,156 593 423 1,016 2,172
Transfer between classes! 2 - 2 (14) 12 {2) -
Disbursements 228 123 351 327 128 455 806
Disposals (197) 9) (206) (247) (74) {321) (527)
Written off (2B) - {28} - - - (28)
At 31 December 2006 1,035 240 1,275 659 489 1,148 2,423
Transfer between classes! {:5] 15 7 (69) 62 [k} -
Disbursements 391 5 396 479 158 837 1,033
Disposals (193) - {193} (98) (72) {170} {363)
Written off {5) - (5) (2) (1) {3) (8)
At 31 December 2007 1,220 260 1,480 969 636 1,605 3,085

Fair value adjustment

At 31 December 2005 242 152 384 704 909 1,613 2,007
Transfer between classes? {8) 8 - - - - -
Movement in fair vatue revaluation 324 407 731 (602) 493 {109) 622
Impairment of available-for-sale share investments - - - 1 - 1 1
At 31 December 2006 558 567 1,125 103 1,402 1,505 2,630
Transfer between classes! (6) - (6) 7 (1) [:] -
Movement in fair value revaluation 438 432 870 143 {146) (3) 867
Impairment of available-for-sale share investments - - - 4 7 11 11
At 31 December 2007 990 999 1,989 257 1,262 1,519 3,508
Fair value at 31 December 2007 2,210 1,259 3,469 1,226 1,898 3,124 6,593
Fair value at 31 December 2006 1.593 807 2,400 762 1,891 2,653 5,053

' Transfer between classes includes the reclassification of available-for-sale share investments upon an increase in the Bank's hokling 10 betwean 20 and 50 per cent.

The Bank gasignates these associate share investments at fair value through profit or 19ss under the venture capital exemption within IAS 28, Investments In Assaciates.

At 31 December 2007, the Bank categorised 10 available-for-sale share investments as impaired, with outstanding disbursements

totalling €34 million {2006 13 available-for-sale share investments totalling €79 million).

Listed below are all share investments where the Bank owned greater than or equal to 20 per cent of the investee share capital

at 31 December 2007 and where the fair value of the Bank’s total investment exceeded €40 million.

% Ownership
Lafarge Slovenia 44
MPF Lafarge: Romcim 38
Connex 35
Dalkia Lodz Cogeneration Privatisation 35
Winterthur MPF 35
Baring Vostok Private Equity Fund 32
Center — Invest Bank 27
Accession Fund 25
Komercijalna Banka 25
Privredna Banka Zagreb 21
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18. Intangible assets

Computer software Computer software
development costs development costs
2007 2006
€ mililon € million

Cost

At 1 January 76 63
Additions 26 13
At 31 December 102 76
Amartisation
At 1 January 55 a7
Charge B 8
At 31 December 63 55
Net book value at 3:. December 39 21
19. Property, technology and office equipment

Property Tachnology Property Technology
under and office under and office
Property construction squipment Total Property construction equipment Total
2007 2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006 2006
€ milllen € million € milllon € miliion € million € milllon € million € million

Cost

At 1 January 8 23 26 57 64 4 35 103
Additions 13 1 4 18 - 19 2 21
Transfers 18 {22) 4 - - - - -
Disposals - - (1) (1) (56) ~ {11) {67)
At 31 Decomber as 2 33 T4 8 23 26 57
Depreciation
At 1 January 6 - 23 29 59 — 32 91
Charge 1 - 2 3 3 - 2 5
Disposals - - (1) (1) {58) — (11) (67)
At 31 December 7 - 24 31 [+] - 23 29
Net book value at 31 December 32 2 9 43 2 23 3 28
Property includes fixtures and fittings.

20. Borrowin;gs

2007 2006

Amounts owed to cred|: institutions € mlition € million
Current 1,462 1,194
Debts svidenced by cetificates 2007 2008
Analysed between € mitllon € million
Current 6,101 4,778
Non-current 10,108 10,844

Debts evidenced by certificates at 31 December

16,209 15,622

Borrowings at 31 Cecember

17,671 16,816

There were no defaults or breaches on financial liabilities during 2007 {2006 nil).
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21. Debts evidenced by certificates

The Bank's outstanding debts evidenced by certificates and related fair value hedging swaps are further summarised below:

Currency
Princlpal at Hedge Adjusted swaps Net cumrency Net currency
inal Ing principal ble/ bligatl obligations
value adjustmant value (recelvable) 2007 2006
€ million € mllllon € million € mililon € milllen € million
Australian dollars 572 200 172 (T72) - -
Canadian dellars 35 ] 43 (43) - -
Czech koruna 151 (49) 102 {102) - -
Euro 1,305 15 1,320 636 1,956 1,976
Hungarian forints 74 {3) 71 (T0) 1 2
Icelandic krona 100 (1) 99 (99) - -
Japanese yen 2,028 (79) 1,949 {1,856) 93 278
Mexican peso 200 - 200 (200) - -
New Taiwan dollars 218 (2) 216 {216) - -
New Turkish lira 179 (19) 160 (160) - -
New Zealand dollars 1,422 (17) 1,408 (1,405) - -
Pglish zloty 181 {2) 179 (179) - -
Russian roubles 644 (4) 640 64 704 484
Slovak koruna 18 7 25 {25) - -
South African rands 2,155 {331) 1,824 {1,824) - -
Sterling 2,653 331 2,884 {1,033) 1,851 2,084
United States dollars 4,224 96 4,320 7,284 11,604 10,798
At 31 December 16,059 150 16,209 - 16,209 15,622
Where the swap counterparty exercises a right to terminate the hedging swap prior to legal maturity, the Bank is committed
to exercise the same right with its issued bond.
During the year the Bank redeemed €40 million of bonds and medium-term notes prior to maturity (2006: €89 million),
generating a net gain of €1 million (2006: €6 million).
22, Other financial liabilities
2007 2006
€ mitlion € million
Fair value of derivatives held for hedging purposes 332 426
Falr value of derivatives held for trading 299 80
Externally managed funds at fair value through profit or loss 616 889
Interest payable 172 1652
Other 211 156
At 31 December 1,630 1,703
Analysed between
Current 1,332 1.486
Non-current 298 217
At 31 December 1,630 1,703

A change in the Bank’s credit rating does not have an impact on the carrying amount of externally managed fund liabilities

designated at fair value through profit or loss.
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23. Subscribe capital

2007 2007 2006 2006

Numbaer of Total Number of Total

shares € million shares € million

Authorised share capital 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
of which

Subscriptions by menbers - initial capital 992,175 9,922 992,175 9,922

Subscriptions by menibers — capital increase 987,175 9,872 987,175 9,872

Subscribed capital 1,979,350 19,794 1,979,350 19,794

Unsubscribed capital 20,650 206 20,650 208

At 31 December 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000

The Bank’s capital stock is divided into paid-in shares and callable shares. Each share has a par value of €10,000. Payment for the
paid-in shares subscribed to by members is made over a period of years determined in advance. Article 6.4 of the Agreement states
that payment of the amount subscribed to the callable capital is subject to call by the Bank, taking account of Articles 17 and 42 of
the Agreement, anly as and when required by the Bank to meet its liabilities. Article 42.1 states that in the event of the termination
of the Bank's operations, the liability of all mambers for all uncalled subscriptions to the capital stock will continue until all claims
of creditors, including all contingent claims, have been discharged.

The Agreement allows for a member to withdraw from the Bank, in which case the Bank is required to repurchase the former
member's shares.. No member has ever withdrawn its membership, nor has any indicated to the Bank that it is intending to do s0.
The stability in tF e membership reflects the fact that the members are 61 countries and two inter-governmental organisations, and
that the purpose of the Bank is to foster the transition process in politically qualifying countries from central Europe to central Asia.
Meoreover, there is a financial disincentive to withdrawing membership. The upper limit of the amount of the repurchase price of the
former member’s shares is the amount of its paid-in capital, yet a former member remains liable for its direct obligations and its
contingent liabililies to the Bank for as long as any part of the loans, equity investments or guarantees contracted before it ceased
to be a member are outstanding. Were a member to withdraw from the Bank, the Bank would be able to impose conditions and set
dates in respect of payments for shares repurchased. !f, for example, paying a former member would have adverse consequences
for the Bank’s fir ancial position, the Bank could defer payment until the risk had passed, and indefinitely if appropriate. If a payment
was then made 1o a former member, the member would be required to repay, on demand, the amount by which the repurchase price
would have been reduced if the losses for which the former member remained liable had been taken into account at the time

of payment,

Under the Agree nent, payment for the paid-in shares of the original capital stock subscribed to by members was made in five equal
annual instalments. Of each instalment, up o 50 per cent was payable in non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing promissory notes

or other obligations issued by the subscribing member and payable to the Bank at par value upon demand. Under Resolution

No. 59, paymeni, for the paid-in shares subscribed to by members under the capital increase is to be made in eight equal annual
instalments. A member may pay up to 60 per cent of each instalment in non-negotiable, non-interest-bearing promissory notes or
other obligations issued by the member and payable to the Bank at par value upon demand. The Board of Directors agreed a policy
of encashment in three equal annual instalments for promissory notes relating to initial capital, and five equal annual instalments
for promissory rotes relating to the capital increase.

A statement of capital subscriptions showing the amount of paid-in and callable shares subscribed to by each member, together with
the amount of unallocated shares and votes, is set out in the following table. Under Article 29 of the Agreement, the voting rights of
members that have failed to pay any part of the amounts due in respect of their capital subscription are proportionately reduced until
payment is made.
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23. Subscribed capital (continued)

Stat t of capital subscrip Total Resulting Total Callable Paid-in
shargs votes? capital capital capital
At 31 Dacembar 2007 {number) (number) € million € millicn € million
Members
Albania 2.000 1,557 20 15 5
Armenia 1,000 200 10 7 3
Australia 20,000 20,000 200 148 52
Austria 45,600 45,600 456 336 120
Azerbaijan 2,000 1,857 20 15 5
Belarus 4,000 4,000 40 30 10
Belgium 45,600 45,600 456 336 120
Bosnia and Herzegovina 3,380 3,380 33 25 8
Bulgaria 15,800 15,800 158 116 42
Canada 68,000 68,000 680 501 179
Croatia 7,292 7.292 72 54 18
Cyprus 2,000 2,000 20 15 5
Czech Republic 17,066 17,066 170 125 45
Denmark 24,000 24,000 240 177 63
Egypt 2,000 1,750 20 15 5
Estonia 2.000 2,000 20 15 5
Eurgpean Community 60,000 60,000 600 442 158
Eurapean Investment Bank 60,000 63,000 600 442 158
Finland 25,000 25,000 250 184 66
Former Yugostav Republic of Macedonia 1,382 1,382 14 10 4
France 170,350 170,350 1.704 1,257 447
Georgia 2,000 367 20 15 5
Germany 170,350 170,350 1,704 1,257 447
Greece 13,000 13,000 130 96 34
Hungary 15,800 15,800 158 116 42
Iceland 2,000 2,000 20 15 5
Ireland 5,000 6,000 80 44 16
Israel 13,000 13,000 130 a6 34
Italy 170.350 170,350 1.704 1,257 447
Japan 170,350 170,350 1,704 1,257 447
Kazakhsian 4,600 4,600 46 34 12
Korea, Republic of 20,000 20,000 200 147 53
Kyrgyz Republic 2,000 667 20 15 5
Latvia 2,000 2,000 20 15 5
Liechtenstein 400 400 4 3 1
Lithuania 2,000 2,000 20 15 5
Luxembourg 4,000 3.910 40 29 11
Malta 200 200 2 1 1
Mexico 3,600 3,000 30 21 9
Moldova 2,000 1,096 20 15 5
Mongolia 200 200 2 1 1
Montenegro 400 400 4 3 1
Morocco 1.000 1,000 10 7 3
Netherlands 49,600 49,600 496 366 130
New Zealand 1,000 1,000 10 7 3
Norway 25,000 25,000 250 184 66
Poland 25,600 25,800 256 189 67
Portugal 8,400 8,400 84 62 22
Romania 9,600 9,600 96 71 25
Russian Federation 80,000 78,200 800 550 210
Serbia 9,350 8,508 94 69 25
Slovak Republic 8,534 8,534 85 83 22
Slovenia 4,196 4,196 42 31 11
Spain 68,000 68,000 680 501 179
Sweden 45,600 45,600 456 336 120
Switzerland 45,600 45,600 456 338 120
Tajikistan 2,000 261 20 15 5
Turkey 23,000 23,000 230 170 60
TJurkmenistan 200 139 2 1 1
Ukraine 16,000 15,600 160 118 42
United Kingdom 170,350 170,350 1,704 1,257 447
United States of America 200,000 199,996 2,000 1,475 525
Uzbekistan 4,200 3,863 42 31 11
Capital subscribed by members 1,979,350 1,969,271 19,794 14,596 5,198

1 Voting fights are restricted for non-payment of amounts due in respect of the member's obligations In relation to paid-in shares,

Total votes before restrictions amount to 1,979,350 (2006: 1,979.350).
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24. Reserves znd retained earnings

2007 2006
€ millon € million

Special reserve
At 1 January 215 188
Qualifying fees and ccmmissions 17 27
At 31 Decomber 232 215
Loan loss reserve
At 1 January 293 292
Transferred from retained earnings * 11 1
At 31 December 304 293
General reserve - other reserve
Revaluatlon reserve
At 1 January 2,042 2,145
Net (losses)/gains frcm changes in fair value (73) 589
Net losses transferre 3 to net profit due to impairment 7 6
Net gains transferred to net profit on disposal (121) (698)
At 31 December 1,855 2,042
HedgIng reserve - czsh flow hodges
At 1 January - -
{Losses)/gains from izhanges in fair value recognised in equity (4} 1
Losses/{gains) remored from equity and included in general and administrative expenses 4 (1)
At 31 December - -
QOther
At 1 January 162 151
Internal tax for the yoar 5 4
Transferred from relzined earnings 5 7
At 31 December 172 162
General reserve — other reserve at 31 December 2,027 2,204
General reserve - retained eamings
At 1 January 4,262 1,908
Qualifying fees and commissions an 27)
Transferred to genersl reserve {5} M
Transferred to loan 13ss reserve {11) {1)
Net profit for the yeer 1,884 2,389
General reserve — re tained earnings at 31 December 6,113 4,262
Total resarves and 1etained earnings at 31 Decembe 8,676 6,974

The general resorve includes the retention of internal tax paid in accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.
This requires that all Directors, Alternate Directors, officers and employees of the Bank be subject to an internal tax imposed by the
Bank on salaries and emoluments paid by the Bank and which is retained for its benefit. The balance at the end of the year relating
to internal tax was €66 million (2006: €61 million). The general reserve includes the effect of restating the Bank’s paid-in capital
receivable to a present value basis. Capital recelvable and reserves will be accreted back to their future value by 2009 when the final
capital instalment is due. The unwinding of the balance sheet reduction will be recognised in the income statement during this period
and a transfer fiom retained earnings to gereral reserves processed to reflect this.

The special reserve is maintained, in accordance with the Agreement, for meeting certain defined losses of the Bank. The special
reserve has been established, in accordance with the Bank’s financial policies, by setting aside 100 per cent of qualifying fees and
commissions received by the Bank associated with loans, guarantees and underwriting the sale of securities, until such time as
the Board of Directors decides that the size of the special reserve is adequate. In accordance with the Agreement, €17 million
(2006: €27 million) of qualifying fees and commissions recognised in the income statement was appropriated in 2007 from the
profit for the yeir and set aside to the special reserve.

In 2005, the Bz nk created a loan loss reserve within members' equity, to set aside an amount of retained earnings equal to the
difference between the impairment losses expected over the life of the loan portfolio and the amount recognised through the
Bank's income statement on an incurred loss basis.
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2007 2006

Resarvas and retalned samings € million € million
Special reserve 232 215
Loan loss reserve 304 293
Unrealised gains 3,686 3,092
Total restricted reserves 4,222 3,600
Unrestricted general reserves 4,454 3,374
At 31 December B,676 6,974

The Bank’s reserves are used in a number of prudential ratio calculations as well as in determining, in accordance with the
Agreement Establishing the Bank, when distributions shall be made to its members. For the purposes of these calculations,
the Bank uses unrestricted general reserves to reflect the conservative and prudent financial management practices of the Bank.

Article 36 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank relates to the allocation and distribution of the Bank's net income and
states: “No such allocation, and no distribution, shall be made until the general reserve amounts to at least ten (10) per cent of
the authorised capital stock”. This threshold is currently €2.0 billion and was exceeded for the first time during 2006. A decision
in relation to the allocation of the Bank’s net income will be taken by the Governors at the Bank’s annual meeting in May 2008.

25. Undrawn commitments and guarantees

2007 2006
Analysis by instrument £ milllon € million
Undrawn commitments
Loans 5,193 5,287
Share investments 1,570 1,044
At 31 December 6,763 6,331
Guarantees
Trade finance guarantees! 238 293
Other guarantees? 116 145
At 31 December 354 438
Undrawn commitments and guarantees at 31 December 7,117 6,769

! Trade finance guarantees represent standby letters of credit Issued in favour of sonfirming banks that have undertaken the payment risk of issulng banks In the Bank's countries of operations.

7 Other guarantees include unfundad full or partial risk participations.

26. Operating lease commitments

The Bank leases its headquarters building in London and certain of its Resident Office buildings in countries of operations. These
are standard operating leases and include renewal options, periodic escalation clauses and are mostly non-cancellable in the normal
course of business without the Bank incurring substantial penalties. The most significant lease is that for the Bank's headquarters
building. Rent payable under the terms of this lease is reviewed every five years and is based on market rates. The last review was
conducted in January 2007.

Minimum future lease payments under long-term non-cancellable operating leases and payments made under such leases
during the year are shown below.

2007 2008

Payable € milllon € million
Not later than one year 28 30
Later than one year and not later than five years 108 115
Later than five years 256 306
At 31 December 392 451
Expenditure 26 26
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27. Staff retirement schemes

Defined benefit s:heme

A qualified actuary performs a full actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme at least every three years using the
projected unit method. For IAS 19 purposes this Is relled forward annually to 31 December. The most recent valuation date
was 30 June 200%. The present value of the defined benefit obligation and current service cost was calculated using the
projected unit credit method.

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2007 2006
€ million € million
Fair vatue of plan ass:ts 154 153
Present valug of the ¢ efined benefit obligation (126} (136}
28 17
Unrecoghised actuarial losses! 7 19
Prepaymeont at 31 De cember 35 36
Movement in the prejprayment {included in “Other assets”):
At 1 January 36 25
Exchange differences 3 1
Contributions paid 16 24
Total expense as below (14) (14
At 31 December 3s 38
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Current service cost 17) (16)
Interest cost (7) &
Expected return on assets? 10 g
Amortisation of actunrial loss - (1)
Total Included In staff costs {14} (14)
' These unrecognised actuarial iosses represent the cumulative effect of the historical differences between the actuarial assumptions used in the production of these disclosures and the actual
experience of the plan. The primary historical causes of the Iosses are an overall lower-than-expecied investmant return on plan assets, and a hislorical decline in the discount rate used to valve
the plan’s liabilities.
7 The actual return on assets during the year was €16 million {2006: €11 million).
Principal actuarial assumptions used:
2007 2008
Discount rate 5.80% 5.10%
Expected return on Han assets 7.00% 6.75%
Future salary increases 4.75% 4.25%
Average remaining working life of employees 15 years 15 years
Actuarial gains znd losses in excess of a corridor (10 per cent of the greater of assets or liabilities) are amortised
over the remaining working life of employees.
Expacted Expected
2007 rotum 2006 return
Actual assat allocation € milllon per annum € million per annum
Equities 79 B8.80% BB 8.70%
Index-linked bonds 54 4.60% 52 4.30%
Commedities 8 4.60% 7 4,30%
Derivatives 7 4.60% 7 4.30%
Cash 6 4.60% 1 5.00%
Total 154 7.00% 153 B.75%
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2007 2006
Changas in the presant valus of the defined banefit obligation € mlilion € million
Present value of defined banefit obligation at 1 January 136 122
Service cost 17 16
Interest cost 7 6
Effect of exchange rate movement {13) 3
Actuarial loss arising due to changes in assumptions and experience {4) 3
Benefits/disbursements paid {17) (14)
Present value of defined beneflt obligation at 31 December 126 136
2007 2006
Changes In tha falr value of plan asssts are as follows: € milllon € millien
Opening falr value of plan assets 153 128
Expected return 10 9
Asset gain arising during the year 6 3
Effect of exchange rate movement {14) 3
Contributions paid 16 24
Benefits/disbursements paid 17) (14}
Total 154 153
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
History of sxperlence gains and losses € million € milfion € million € million € million
Defined benefit obligation 126 136 122 90 75
Plan assets 154 153 128 101 84
Surplus 28 17 5] 11 9
Experience {losses)/gains on plan liabilities:
Amount (4) 3 7 3 1
Percentage of the present value of the plan liabilities (3.6%) 1.4% 6.9% 3.2% 1.0%
Actual return 1ess expected eturn On plan assets:
Amount 6 3 14 4 11
Percentage of the present value of the plan assets 3.9% 1.3% 11.0% 3.6% 12.4%

Defined contribution scheme
The charge recognised under the defined contribution scheme was €3 million (2006: €9 million) and is included in “General
administrative expenses”.

28. Related parties

The Bank has the following related parties:

Key management personne)

In sterling terms, salaries and other short-term benefits paid to key management personnel in 2007 amounted to £6 million
{2006: £6 million). Key management personnel do not receive post-employment benefits, other long-term benefits, termination
benefits or share-based payments.

Key management personnel comprise: the President and Vice Presidents; members of the Bank's Executive Committee;
Business Group Directors; Corparate Directors; the Treasurer; the Director, Risk Management; the Controller; the Directer
of Human Resources; the Head of Interna! Audit and the CCO.
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Venture capital associates

The Bank has a number of venture capital associates that it accounts for at fair value through profit or loss. At 31 December 2007,
according to unaudited management information or the most recently audited financial statements from the investee companies,
these venture capital associates had total assets of approximately €22.6 billion {2006: €29.1 billion} and total liabilities of
approximately €12.1 billion (2006: €17.9 billion). For the year ended 31 December 2007, these associates had revenue of

€3.2 billion {20045: €7.3 billion) and made a net profit of approximately €624 million (2006: €563 millicn).

In addition, the E3RD has provided €114 million (2006: €48 million) of financing to these companies on which it received
€1 million (2006: €3 million} of interest income in the year.

Special funds

Special funds are established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement establishing the Bank and are administered under the
terms of rules and regulations approved by the Bank's Board of Directors. At 31 December 2007 the Bank administered 14 Special
Funds: 11 Investment Special Funds and three Technical Cooperation Special Funds. Extracts from the audited financial statements
of the Special Fuds, together with a summary of contributions pledged by donor country, are included under the “Summary of
Special Funds” 01 page 57.

29. Other funl agreements

In addition to the Bank's ordinary operations and the Special Funds programme, the Bank administers numerous bilateral and
multilateral grant agreements to provide technical assistance and investment support in its countries of operations. These
agreements focus primarily on project preparation, project implementation (including goods and works), advisory services and
training. The resources provided by these fund agreements are held separately from the ordinary capital resources of the Bank and
are subject to ex ernal audit.

At 31 December 2007, the Bank administered 149 technical cooperation fund agreements (2006: 133) amounting to an aggregate
of €961 million (2006: £919 million). Of this pledged amount, funds received at 31 December 2007 totalled €311 million. The total
uncommitted balance of the funds at 31 December 2007 was €82 million. In addition, the Bank administered 87 project-specific
technical cooperation agreements totalling €55 million.

For the specific [ urpose of co-financing EBRI? projects, the Bank also administered 21 investment cooperation fund agreements
totalling €119 m llion, and two EU Pre-accession Preparation Funds totalling €35 million.

Following a propusal by the G-7 countries for a multilateral programme of action to improve safety in nuclear power plants in the
countries of opelations, the Nuclear Safety Account (NSA) was established by the Bank in March 1993. The NSA funds are in the
form of grants and are used for funding immediate safety improvement measures. At 31 December 2007, 16 contributors had made
pledges totalling €274 million, using the fixed exchange rates defined in the rules of the NSA.

At their Denver Summit in June 1997, the G-7 countries and the EU endorsed the setting up of the Chernaby! Shelter Fund (CSF).
The CSF was established on 7 November 1997, when the rules of the CSF were approved by the Board. It became operational on
8 December 19¢€ 7, when the required eight contributors had entered inte contribution agreements with the Bank. The objective

of the CSF is to assist Ukraine in transforming the existing Chernobyl sarcophagus into a safe and environmentally stable system.
At 31 December 2007, 24 contributors had made pledges totalling €713 million using the fixed exchange rates defined in the
rules of the CSF.
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In 1989, in pursuit of their policy to accede to the EU, Lithuania, Bulgaria and the Slovak Republic gave firm commitments to close
and decommission their nuclear power plant units with RBMK and VVER 440/230 reactors by certain dates. In response to this,
the European Commission announced its intention to support the decommissioning of these reactors with substantial grants over
a period of eight to ten years, and invited the Bank to administer three International Decommissioning Support Funds (IDSFs).

On 12 June 2000, the Bank's Board of Directors approved the rules of the ignalina, Kozioduy and Bohunice IDSFs and the role

of the Bank as their administrator. The funds will finance selective projects to help carry out the first phase of decommissioning
the designated reactors. They will also finance measures to facilitate the necessary restructuring, upgrading and modernisation
of the energy production, transmission and distribution sectors and improvements in energy efficiency that are a consequence

of the closure decisions. At 31 December 2007, 16 contributors had made pledges to the Ignalina IDSF totalling €589 million;

11 contributors had made pledges to the Kozloduy IDSF totalling €429 million; and nine contributors had made pledges to the
Bohunice IDSF totalling €258 million, using the fixed exchange rates defined in the rules of the funds.

in 2001, the Nordic Investment Bank hosted a meeting with participants from Belgium, Finland, Sweden, the European Commission
and international financial institutions with activities in the Northern Dimension Area (NDA). At this meeting, participants agreed

to establish the Northern Dimension Environmental Partnership (NDEP) to strengthen and coordinate financing of important
environmental projects with cross-border effects in the NDA. On 11 December 2001, the Bank's Board of Directors approved

the rules of the NDEP Support Fund and the role of the Bank as fund manager. At 31 December 2007, 11 contributors had made
pledges totalling €243 million.

Audit fees payable to the Bank's auditors for the 2007 audits of the technical cooperation and nuclear safety funds

totalled €335,000 (2006: €320,000). In addition, during 2007 the Bank's auditors, on a global basis, earned €0.4 million

(2006: €0.2 million) in respect of due diligence and general business consultancy services funded by the technical cooperation
funds. This represented 0.1 per cent of the total spend in 2007 (2006: 0.3 per cent) by the technical cooperation funds on services
from consultancy providers in support of the Bank’s investments in the countries of operations. These consultancy contracts are
awarded in accordance with the Bank's standard procurement rules. Payments to the auditors for consulting and advisory services
during the period of audit appointment are recorded on a cash basis and reflect payments to the firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

30. Post-balance sheet events

Significant turbulence in the financial markets in 2008 has resulted in a decline in the fair value of the Bank’s listed share
investments. At 29 February 2008 the fair value of the listed share investment portfolio, net of associated derivatives, was

€366 million lower than at 31 December 2007, of which €36 million has been recognised in the income statement and €330 million
has been recognised in available-for-sale reserves. On 5 March 2008, the Board of Directors reviewed the financial statements and
authorised them for issue. These financial statements will be submitted for approval to the Annual Meeting of Governors to be held
an 18 May 2008.
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Special Funds are established in accordance with Article 18
of the Agreement Establishing the Bank and are administered
under the terms of rules and regulations approved by the
Bank's Board of Cirectors. At 31 December 2007, the Bank
administered 14 &pecial Funds: 11 Investment Special Funds
and three Technical Cooperation Special Funds. Extracts from
the audited financial statements of the Special Funds are
summarised in the following tables, together with a summary
of contributions p edged by donor country.

Audit fees payabl: to the Bank's auditors for the 2007 audit
of 14 of the Spec al Funds totalled €89,000 (2006: €78,000).

The objectives of the Special Funds are as follows:

The Baltic investiment Special Fund and The Baltic Technical
Assistance Speclal Fund

To promote private sector development through support for small
and medium-size1 enterprises in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania.

The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund and The
Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund
To assist the devzlopment of small businesses in the private
sector in the Russian Federation.

The Financial Intermediary Investment Specia!l Fund
To support financial intermediaries in the countries of
operations of the Bank.

The Italian Investment Special Fund

To assist the modernisation, restructuring, expansion and
development of small and medium-sized enterprises in certain
countries of operations of the Bank.

The SME Financ:: Facility Special Fund

To alleviate the financing problems of small and medium-sized
enterprises in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia,
Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovak Republic and Slovenia.

The Balkan Region Special Fund

To assist the reconstruction of Albania, Bosnia and Herzegavina,
Bulgaria, Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia,
Montenegro, Rornania and Serbia.

The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund
To serve as a facility for financing technical cooperation
projects in couniries of operations of the Bank.

The EBRD SME Special Fund

To assist the development of small and medium-sized
enterprises in Albania, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Bosnia and
Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of
Macedonia, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova,
Montenegro, Romania, Serbia, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan,
Ukraine and Uzbekistan.

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund

To provide a risk-sharing facility for SME credit lines, micro
finance programmes, the Direct Investment Facility and the
Trade Facilitation Programme in the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan,
Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan.

The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund

To alleviate the financing problems of municipalities and their
utility companies for small infrastructure investments in Bulgaria,
Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland,
Romania, Stovak Republic and Slovenia.

The Regional Development Initiative Special Fund
To provide a long-term contribution to sustainable socio-
economic development across Azerbaijan and Georgia.

The Romania Micro Credit Facility Special Fund
To improve access to finance for micro and small enterprises
in Romania.

Accounting convention - Investment Special Funds

The financial statements for the Investment Special Funds have
been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the overall principles
of the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual
Accounts and Consclidated Accounts of Banks and Other
Financial Institutions. The financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified for
the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets held at fair value through profit or loss.

Accounting convention - Technical Cooperation Special Funds
The financial statements for the Technical Cooperation Special
Funds have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
Contributions and disbursements are accounted for on a cash
basis. Interest income and operating expenses are accounted
for on an accruals basis.
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Investment Special Funds

Russla Financial
Baltic Small Business Intarmediary Itallan
Investmant Investment Investment Investment
Extract irom the Income statsment lor the year Spacial Fund Speclal Fund Spacial Fund Speclal Fynd
or period ended 31 December 2007 €000 € 000 € 000 € 000
Operating profit/(loss) before provisions 114 3,191 64 {920}
Release/f{charge) for provisions for impairment of loans and guarantees - 1,489 643 (64)
Profit/{loss) for the year 114 4,680 707 (984)
Extract from the balance sheet at 31 December 2007
Loans - 43,008 7797 3,476
Provisions for impairment - {1,703) {358) {116)
- 41,305 7.439 3,360
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss - - - 268
Available-for-sale share investments 9,234 2,925 214 1.370
9,234 2,925 214 1.638
Placements and other financial assets 4,911 11,169 23,650 18,698
Cantributions receivahle - - - -
Total assets 14,145 55,399 31,203 23,696
Other financial liabilities and provisions for impairment
and payments under guarantees [ 3,736 138 2.742
Contributions 7.050 59,351 31,318 21,515
Reserves and retained earnings 7,089 (7.688) (253) (561}
Total llabiflties and contributors' resources 14,145 55,399 31,203 23,696
Undrawn commitments and guarantees 2,478 51,663 14,953 4,349

Technical Cooperation Specilal Funds

Baltic Tachnical

Russia Small Business Tachnlcal

Extract from the stat t of mo t in fund bal; Assistance Speclal Fund Cooperatlon Speclal Fund
and balance sheet for the year ended 31 Dacembar 2007 € 000 €000
Balance of fund brought forward 506 5116
Interest and other income 19 187
Disbursements (32) {1,661)
Other operating expenses (6) {575}
Balance of fund avallable 487 3,067
Cumulative commitments approved 23,385 73,242
Cumulative disbhursements (23.042) (71,208}
Allocated fund balance 343 2.034
Unallocated fund balance 144 1,033
Balance of fund available 487 3,067
Speclal Fund contributions pledged by donor
Russla Financia! SME

Baltic Small Business Intermedlary ttallan Financa Balkan EBRD

Investmant Investmant I t 1 Facllity Reglon SME

Special Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Speclal Fund Special Fund Special Fund

€ 000 £ 000 €000 € 000 € 000 €000 £ 000

Austria - - - - - 276 -
British Petroleum (BP) - - - - - - -
Canada - 2,707 - - - 1.472 -
Denmark 1,519 - - - - 750 -
European Community (EC) - - - - 187,000 - -
Finland 1.466 - - - - - -
France - 7.686 - - - - -
Germany - 9,843 - - - - -
Iceland 72 - - - - - -
Italy - 8,401 - 21,515 - - -
Japan - 21,162 - - - - -
Netherlands - - 9,600 - - - -
Norway 1.314 - - - - 1,568 -
Romania/EC — — — - - - -
Sweden 2,679 - - - - - -
Switzerland - 2,360 - - - 4,218 -
Taipei China - - 20,971 - - 1,495 -
United Kingdom - - - _ _ _ _
United States of America - 7,192 847 - - - 37,280
Total at 31 December 2007 7,050 59,351 31,318 21,515 197,000 9,779 37,280
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Reglonal

SME Finance Balkan Ceontral Asla Munlclpal P R la Micro Aggregatad
Facllity Roglon EBRD SME Risk Sharing Finance Facllity Inltlative Credit Facility Investmant
Special Fund Special Fund Specinl Fund Special Fund Speclal Fund Special Fund Speclal Fund Specinl Funds
€ 000 €000 €000 € 000 €000 € 000 € 000 € 000
(14,521) 117 (884) 294 (188) 81 42) {12,694)
- - 405 - - (89} (25} 2,359
(14,521) 117 (4T9) 294 {188) {8} (67} (10,335)
- - 3,451 - - 1.506 1,080 60,368
- - (52) - — (89} {25} (2,343)
- — 3,439 - - 1,417 1,065 58,025
1,755 - - - — - - 2,023
1,097 - - - — - - 14,840
2,852 - - - — - - 16,863
32,510 7.379 6,068 9,816 14,800 1,873 10.368 141,243
59,327 = 288 - 18,000 272 6.561 84,448
94,689 7,379 9,795 9,816 32,900 3,562 17,995 300,579
4,577 58 569 63 512 6 42 12,449
197,000 9,778 37,280 9,443 33.000 3,866 18,020 427,622
{106,888 {2,458} (28,054) 310 (612) (310) (67) {139,492)
94,689 7,379 9,795 2,516 32,900 3,562 17,995 300,579
52,912 5,535 2,120 5,553 8,649 833 5,119 154,164
EBRD Technical Aggrogated Tachnical
sooperation Special Fund Cooperation Spacial Funds
€000 €000
21 5.643
1 207
- {1693
(1) (582}
21 3,576
1,072 97,699
(1.066) {95,316}
<] 2,383
15 1,192
21 3,675
Regional Romanls Baltic Russia Small EBRD
Central As n Municipal Devalopment Micro Technlcal Business Technical Technical
Risk Sharir g Flnance Facllity Initintive Credlt Facillty Assistance Cooperation Cooperation Aggregated
Speclal Fui d Special Fund Spacial Fund Speclal Fund Spaclal Fund Speclal Fund Special Fund Spaclal Funds
toto £ 000 € 000 ¢ 000 €000 €000 € 000 €eoo
= - - - - - - 276
- - 3,866 - - - - 3.866
= - - - - 4,309 - 8,488
- - - - 1.271 - - 3.540
- 33,000 - - - - - 230.000
- - - - 1,238 - - 2,704
- - - - - 4,980 - 12,666
2,369 - - - - 3,025 - 15,257
- - - - 61 - - 133
- - - - - 1,360 - 31,276
~ - - - - 3,295 - 24,457
- - - - - - - 9,500
= - - - 1.101 - - 3.983
- - - 18,020 - - - 18,020
- - — — 2,249 - - 4,928
7,054 - - - = 1,244 - 14,876
- - = - - = - 23,466
- - - - - 12,824 247 13,071
- - - - - 29,695 - 75,014
9,413 33,000 3,866 18,020 5,920 60,732 247 494,521
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EATERNAL FINANVIAL REFURITING

Management’s responsibility

Management’s report regarding the effectiveness of internal controls over external financial reporting

The management of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank") is responsible for the preparation,
integrity, and fair presentation of its published financial statements and ail other information presented in this report. The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and in accordance with the overall principles of the European Community's Council Directive on
Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

The financial statements have been audited by an independent accounting firm, which has been given unrestricted access

to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors and committees of the
Board. Management believes that all representations made to the external auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.
The external auditors’ report accompanies the audited financial statements.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over external financial reporting for financial
presentations in conformity with IFRS. The system of internal control contains monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to
correct deficiencies identified. Management believes that internal controls for external financial repeorting, which are subject to
scrutiny and testing by management and internal audit, and are revised as considered necessary, support the integrity and reliability
of the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention of overriding controls. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statements. Furthermore, the effectiveness of an internal control system can change with circumstances.

The Bank's Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, which assists the Board in its responsibility to ensure the
soundness of the Bank's accounting practices and the effective implementation of the internal controls that management has
established relating to finance and accounting matters. The Audit Committee is comprised entirely of members of the Board of
Directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management in order to review and monitor the financial, accounting and
auditing procedures of the Bank and related financial reports. The external auditors and the internal auditors regularly meet with
the Audit Committee, with and without other members of management being present, to discuss the adequacy of internal controls
over financial reporting and any other matters which they believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee.

The Bank has assessed its internal controls over external financial reporting for 2007. Management’s assessment includes the
Special Funds and other fund agreements referred to in pages 57-59 of the Financial Statements, and the retirement plans.
However, the nature of the assessment is restricted to the controls over the reporting and disclosure of these funds, rather than
the operational, accounting and administration controls in place for each fund.

The Bank’s assessment was based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in the “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COS0).
Based upon this assessment, management asserts that, at 31 December 2007, the Bank maintained effective internal controls
over its financial reporting as contained in the Financial Statements for 2007.

The Bank's external auditors have provided an audit opinion on the fairness of the financial statements presented within this

report. In addition, they have issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the Bank’s internal control over
financial reporting, as set out on page 61.

b

L (ot
Jean Lemlerre Manfred Schepers
President Vice President, Finance

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development
London

5 March 2008
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Report of the independent auditors

To the Governor.; of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

We have audited management’s assessment that the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”)
maintained effective internal controls over financial reporting as contained in the Bank's Financial Statements, based on the
criteria for effeciive internal controls over financial reporting described in the “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued

by the Committee of Sponscring Organisations of the Treadway Commission. Management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal controls over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal contrel over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assertion over the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control over
financial reporting, based on our review.

We conducted our review in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (revised).
Our review included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating the management'’s
assessment and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary inithe circumstances. We believe that
our work provide:s a reasonable basis for cur opinion.

A bank's internz| controls over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the refiability of financial
reporting and tr e preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, A bak’s internal controls over financial reporting include those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets

of the bank; (2) provide reasonable assurarce that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in ¢ ccordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the bank are being
made only in accordance with the autherisation of the bank's management; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or ti nely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the bank’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of ainy evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of chznges in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assertion that the Bank maintained effective internal control over financial reporting, as contained

in the Bank's Financial Statements, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria for effective internal controls over
financial reporting described in the “Internal Control — Integrated Framework”™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with international Standards on Auditing, the financial statements of the Bank and,
in our report dited 5 March 2008, we have expressed an unqualified opinion.

Becount Inmmse Coopos LLP

PricewaterholiseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
London

5 March 2008
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To the Governors of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) for the year ended
31 December 2007 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in members’ equity, the
statement of cash flows, the accounting policles, risk management (excluding the Operational risk and Risk Management Systems
Programme sections on pages 36 and 37) and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”).

President's responsibility for the financial statements

The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the International
Financial Reperting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overal! principles
of the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial
Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and pian and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant
to the Bank's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reascnableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the gverall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank at 31 December
2007 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European Community’s Council
Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

Other matters

We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial resuits section of the Annual Report: Financial Statements is not consistent
with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting records, or if we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report: Financial Statements and consider whether it is consistent with the
financial statements. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. The other information comprises only the highlights, financial results, additional
reporting and disclosures and Summary of Special Funds. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Board of Governors as a body in accordance with Article
24 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpese or to any other persen to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come,
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
London

5 March 2008
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